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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K CONTAINS FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS THAT INVOLVE RISKS,
UNCERTAINTIES AND ASSUMPTIONS THAT, IF THEY NEVER MATERIALIZE OR IF THEY
PROVE INCORRECT, COULD CAUSE OUR RESULTS TO DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE
EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. ALL STATEMENTS
OTHER THAN STATEMENTS OF HISTORICAL FACT ARE STATEMENTS THAT COULD BE
DEEMED FORWARD-LOOKING, INCLUDING STATEMENTS PERTAINING TO: OUR REVE-
NUE, EARNINGS, CASH FLOW AND LIQUIDITY; OUR STRATEGY RELATING TO SPEECH AND
DIGITAL CAPTURE TECHNOLOGIES; THE POTENTIAL OF FUTURE PRODUCT RELEASES;
OUR PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT PLANS AND INVESTMENTS IN RESEARCH AND DEVELOP-
MENT; FUTURE ACQUISITIONS; INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS AND LOCALIZED VER-
SIONS OF OUR PRODUCTS; OUR CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS; COST SAVINGS ARISING
FROM OUR 2003 RESTRUCTURING; OUR 2004 REVENUE EXPECTATIONS AND LEGAL PRO-
CEEDINGS AND LITIGATION MATTERS. YOU CAN IDENTIFY THESE AND OTHER FOR-
WARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS BY THE USE OF WORDS SUCH AS “MAY,” “WILL>
“SHOULD,” “EXPECTS,” “PLANS,” “ANTICIPATES,” ¢“BELIEVES,” ¢“ESTIMATES,”
“PREDICTS,” “INTENDS,” “POTENTIAL,” “CONTINUE” OR THE NEGATIVE OF SUCH TERMS,
OR OTHER COMPARABLE TERMINOLOGY. FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS ALSO IN-
CLUDE THE ASSUMPTIONS UNDERLYING OR RELATING TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING
STATEMENTS. OUR ACTUAL RESULTS COULD DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE ANTIC-
IPATED IN THESE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AS A RESULT OF VARIOUS FAC-
TORS, INCLUDING THOSE SET FORTH IN THIS ANNUAL REPORT UNDER THE HEADING
“RISK FACTORS.” ALL FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS INCLUDED IN THIS DOCUMENT
ARE BASED ON INFORMATION AVAILABLE TO US ON THE DATE HEREOF. WE WILL NOT
UNDERTAKE AND SPECIFICALLY DECLINE ANY OBLIGATION TO UPDATE ANY FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS.

PART 1

Ttem 1. - Business

Our Business

We are a leading provider of software that allows users to incorporate speech, images and documents in
digital applications, systems and devices. Our products and technologies automate manual processes and help
enterprises, professionals and consumers increase productivity, reduce costs and save time. Our products are
built upon speech and digital capture technologies, and are sold as solutions into the financial, legal,
healthcare, government, telecommunications and automotive industries. Our speech technologies enable
voice-activated services over a telephone, transform speech into text and text into speech, and permit voice
control of devices and applications. Our digital capture technologies transform text, images and files into
various digital formats. We focus on markets where we can exercise market leadership, where significant
barriers to entry exist and where we possess competitive advantages, because of the strength of our
technologies, products, services, channels and business processes.

Our software is delivered as independent applications or as part of larger integrated systems, such as
systems for customer service call centers, navigation systems in automobiles or digital copiers on a network.
Our speech solutions enable seamless interaction with hardware and software systems simply by speaking,
automatically create documents from speech, and transform text into synthesized speech. Our digital capture
solutions eliminate the need to manually reproduce documents, automate the integration of documents into
business systems, and enable the use of electronic documents and forms within XML, Internet, mobile and
other business applications. Our products and technologies deliver a measurable return on investment to our
customers.




Our extensive technology assets, intellectual property and industry expertise in speech and digital capture
create high barriers to entry in markets where we compete. Our technologies are based on complex
mathematical formulas, which require extensive amounts of linguistic and image data, acoustic models and
recognition techniques. A significant investment in capital and time would be necessary to replicate our
current capabilities, and we continue to build upon our leadership position. Our speech technology has
industry-leading recognition accuracy, provides recognition for 48 languages and natural sounding synthesized
speech in 22 languages, and supports a broad range of hardware platforms and operating systems. Our digital
capture technology is recognized as the most accurate in the industry, with rates as high as 99.8%, and
supports more than 100 languages. Our technologies are covered by more than 700 patents or patent
apphcatlons

We have established relationships with more than 2,000 resellers, including leading system vendors,
independent software vendors, value-added resellers and distributors, through which we market and distribute
our products and solutions. In speech, companies such as IBM, Agere, Nortel, Intervoice and Aspect embed
our technologies into telecommunications systems, as well as automotive, PC or multimedia applications. In
digital capture, companies such as Brother, Canon, Hewlett-Packard, Konica and Xerox include our
technology in digital copiers, printers and scanners, as well as multifunction devices that combine these
capabilities. In addition, companies such as Kofax, Autodesk, Microsoft, Freedom Scientific and WestBrook
embed our digital capture technology into their commercial software applications. Each of these listed
companies-is one of our five largest revenue producing OEM customers, in their respective category, for the
year ended December 31, 2003. We also maintain an extensive network of value-added resellers to address the
needs of specific markets, such as financial, legal, healthcare and government. We sell our applications to
enterprises, professionals and consumers through major independent. distributors that deliver-our products to
computer superstores consumer clectronic stores, mail order houses, office superstores and eCommerce Web
sites.

. We incorporated as Visioneer, Inc. in March 1992 and through December 1998 developed and sold
scanner hardware and software products. On January 6, 1999, Visioneer sold the hardware business and the
Visioneer brand name to Primax Electronics, Ltd., and on March 2, 1999, Visioneer acquired us, in a cash
election merger, from Xerox Corporation. The corporate entity “Visioneer” survived the merger, but changed
its name to “ScanSoft, Inc.” In addition, Visioneer changed the ticker symbol for its common stock that
trades on the Nasdaq National Market to “SSFT.” On March 13, 2000, we merged with Caere Corporation, a
California-based digital imaging software company. In December 2001, we acquired certain assets and
intellectual property relating to the former Lernout & Hauspie (“L&H”) entities that were in bankruptcy
under the jurisdiction of both the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware and the
Belgium- Court of Ieper-and hired certain employees-from-those- entities. From- 1997 through- December 31,
2002; we made four s1gn1ﬁcant business acquisitions and acquired several key technologies for aggregate
consideration totaling approximately $233.6 million. During the year ended December 31, 2003, we completed
three significant business acquisitions and acquired additional key technologies for aggregate consideration
totaling approximately $235.9 million. On January 30, 2003, we acquired Royal Philips Electronics Speech
Processing Telephony and Voice Control business units (“Philips™), and related intellectual property, for
aggregate consideration of approximately $35.3 million. On March 31, 2003, we entered into an agreement
that grants us an exclusive license to resell, for a period of seven years, certain productivity applications in
certain geographies worldwide. Total consideration was approximately $11.8 million. On August 11, 2003, we
acquired SpeechWorks International, Inc. (“SpeechWorks”), for aggregate consideration of approximately
$175.5 million. On December 19, 2003, we acquired Loculealog, Inc. (“LocusDialog™), for aggregate
congsideration of approx1mately $13.1 million,

~ Our focus on providing solutions that enable the capture and conversion of information and the
automation of systems requires a broad set of technologies and channel capabilities. We have made and expect
to-continue to make acquisitions of other companies, businesses and technologies to complement our internal
investments in these areas. We have a team that focuses on evaluating market needs and potential acquisitions
to fulfill them. In addition, we have a disciplined methodology for integrating acquired companies and
businesses after the transaction is complete.




Our Markets and Products
Speech Mavket

Network Speech. Organizations look for ways to improve the quality of the customer service that they
deliver, while reducing the operational costs associated with their business and in serving their customers.
They also seek solutions that more effectively connect a mobile workforce with real-time enterprise
information, including customer data, email and schedules, while at the same time reducing operating costs.
Automatic speech recognition and text-to-speech technologies can be used to implement applications to
achieve these goals.

We have the market-leading speech recognition and text-to-speech solutions. We are a leading provider
of software products and professional services that enable enterprises, telecommunications companies and
government organizations to offer automated, speech-activated services over a telephone. Our network-based
speech recognition solutions allow users to direct their own calls, obtain information and conduct transactions
by simply speaking naturally over any telephone. Our network-based text-to-speech solutions deliver natural
sounding results by using segments of real human speech, thereby increasing listener satisfaction especially in
the delivery of multiple phrases and sentences. Our solutions provide a standards-based interface that supports
the creation of speech-enabled applications in more languages than any other vendor.

Our solutions are used within a wide range of applications in customer-service intensive industries
including financial services, telecommunications, utilities, government, travel and entertainment. Qur net-
work-based speech software is used in applications such as call centers, unified messaging systems, and voice
portals that deliver enhanced information services, such as sports scores, news and stock quotes. In addition,
we offer packaged solutions for applications that are common across a large set of customers and vertical
markets. Currently, we offer packaged applications for directory assistance and corporate voice dialing and
spec1a1 portfohos for the healthcare, utilities and insurance industries. ‘

We hcense our network speech products to businesses as well as systems integrators, technology providers
and telecommunications companies that in turn sell an integrated solution to businesses and end-users. We
license our text-to-speech solutions to developers of telephony applications, including Avaya, Cisco, Genesys
and Nortel, which integrate our solutions into hardware and software platforms.

‘We complement our technologies and products with a professional services organization that supports
customers and partners with business and systems consulting project management, user interface design and
application development assistance. Qur professional services are designed to shorten time-to-market, assist
clients, reduce implementation risks and improve clients’ competitive position. Our professional services staff
is located in Boston, New York and San Francisco and internationally in Canada, Mexico, the United
Kingdom, France, Germany, Australia, Japan, Korea and Singapore.

Embedded Speech. Automatic speech recognition is a speaker-independent technology that adds voice
control capabilities to applications and devices. This technology identifies specific words and phrases at any
-moement in time, -converting spoken..words..into. instructions._ that control functions_within applications.
Automobile, mobile communications, consumer electronics and computer game manufacturers and their
suppliers are accelerating the development of products that require enhanced voice control capabilities. In
addition, a growing number of independent software and hardware vendors are incorporating voice control into
multimedia applications.

Our embedded speech solutions are based upon automatic speech recognition technologies that allow
users to interact with devices simply by speaking. Our solutions for automotive and mobile applications
support a dynamic vocabulary of up to 50,000 words and have sophisticated noise management capabilities
that ensure accuracy, even at high vehicle speeds. Our products scale to meet the size and accuracy
requirements for automotive and navigation systems and offer rapid application development tools, extensive
compatibility with hardware and operating systems, and support for up to 18 languages. We include toolkits
with our engines that help developers add our technologies to applications such as navigation systems, hands-
free cell phone devices and voice-activated controls in an automobile.
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Our embedded speech solutions are used by tier-one automobile, cell phone, entertainment and
aftermarket system manufacturers, including Bosch-Blaupunkt, Delphi, Microsoft, Nokia, Sony and Visteon.
These technologies are included as part of a larger system, application or solution that is designed,
manufactured and sold by our partners. These partners include tier-one suppliers, companies whose size and
importance qualifies them to be direct suppliers to the major automotive manufacturers, and in-dash radio,
navigation system and other electronic device manufacturers, also known as aftermarket systems providers.

Dictation. Organizations demand solutions that increase productivity by automating repetitive business
processes, including the creation of documents, data entry and completing forms. They also look for ways to
maximize the productivity of their existing workers, including those with disabilities, and to comply with
government requirements relating to workplace safety and accessibility. Organizations also seek solutions that
can reduce the cost associated with manual transcription of professional documents. Since most people can
speak more quickly than they can type, speech is a natural and efficient way to interact with computers to
address these problems.

Our speech recognition and dictation solutions increase productivity in the workplace by using speech to
create documents, streamline repetitive and complex tasks, input data, complete forms and automate manual
transcription processes. Our solutions allow users to automatically convert speech into text at up to 160 words-
per-minute, much faster than most people can type. Our software supports a vocabulary of more than 250,000
words that can be expanded by users to include specialized words and phrases. Our software is designed to
adapt to individual voice patterns and accents and is highly accurate, able to achieve accuracy rates of
approximately 95%, with the ability to achieve still greater accuracy with frequent use. Our software supports
multiple languages, including Dutch, French, German, Italian, Japanese, Spanish, Swedish, and U.S./U.K.
English.

Our solutions are valuable within enterprises and workgroups for a number of reasons. Our software can
operate within a distributed network environment, where speaker profiles can be stored on a server and
accessed from any networked computer. Our solutions can also speech-enable existing business systems and
applications, including electronic records management systems and customer service and billing applications.
Our software allows a user to interact with a computer without a keyboard or mouse, increasing the
productivity of disabled workers and those suffering from repetitive stress injury. Our solutions can also help
government agencies address accessibility mandates, such as those described in Section 508 of the
U.S. Government Rehabilitation Act. We also deliver versions of our products that are specialized for the
medical, legal and public safety vertical markets.

We offer a range of implementations, each with features that match a specific customer target. Our
solutions are also used in enterprises and workgroups, particularly in the medical, legal, government, finance
and education sectors. Qur software is available in eight languages. We utilize a combination of our global
reseller network and direct sales to distribute our speech recognition and dictation products. We believe we
gain a competitive advantage through our established value-added reseller community, who provide local
sales, integration, training and support services to our professional end-user customers. We also license our
software to companies such as Corel and Panasonic, which bundle our solutions with some of their products.

_ The following table summarizes our speech-related products:
Product ‘ Highlights

Network Speech - - » Industry leading speech recognition solutions supporting up to 48
OpenSpeech Recognizer languages
SpeechPearl » Recognizes large vocabulary with low error rates

+ Allows users to speak naturally

 Provides high-level development and operations tools and modules

« Works with a wide variety of platforms from telecommunications
vendors

 Supports open standards including MRCP, SALT, VXML




Product ) - Highlights

RealSpeak o Industry-leading synthesized speech solution
Speechify » Converts text into speech in 22 languages
© e Supports Microsoft Windows 98/NT/2000/XP, Windows CE,
Windows CE for Automotive; Sun Solaris; and Linux opcratmg
systems .
+ Available on multiple hardware and softwarc systems

Embedded Speech « Adds sophisticated command and control applications into
* Vocon automotive, mobile, PC and multimedia applications
ASR-1600 : ~ + Rapid application development tools

« Accurate speech recognition in noisy environments, even at high
vehicle speeds

» Supports Microsoft Windows 98/NT/2000/XP, Windows CE,
Windows CE for Automotive; QNX; and Linux operating systems

» Available on multiple hardware and software systems

» Accurate speech recognition in noisy environments, even at high
vehicle speeds

RealSpeak . _ ¢ Industry-leading synthesized human speech solution

ETI- Eloquence « Converts text into speech in 22 languages
« Supports Microsoft Windows 98/ NT/2000/XP, Windows CE,
" Windows CE for Automotive
+ Available on multiple hardware and software systems

Dictation » Highly accurate automatic speech recognition available in 8

. Dragon NaturallySpeaking languages

IBM ViaVoice Converts speech into text at up to 160 words per minute
Recognizes more than 250,000 words
Speech-enables Microsoft Windows applications
Vertical implementations for medical, legal and public safety
markets
.+ Performs complex tasks simply by speaking

» Complements accessibility efforts for disabled workers

» Supports Microsoft Windows 98/NT/2000/XP

Digital Capture Market

Document and PDF Conversion. Despite the broad use of computing systems in enterprises, the
majority of business information is still maintained in paper form. The proliferation of PDF as a digital
document standard does not resolve the problem of accessing and utilizing information trapped in a static
form. In addition, manually reproducing static documents in digital form is time consuming, costly and subject
to error, taking valuable resources away from more productive activities. Enterprises and workgroups seek
solutions that integrate paper and static PDF documents into their business processes, allowing them to
automate the way they store, edit, use and share information.

Qur solutions help businesses save time and money by automatically converting paper documents and
PDF files into editable and usable business documents. Based on optical character recognition (“OCR™), our
software- delivers highly accurate document and PDF conversion, replacing the need to manually re-create
documents. Qur software preserves document formatting and provides editing capabilities that re-create the
complex components in a typical document, including formatted text, columns, graphics, tables and
spreadsheets. Qur products can be used with existing business applications and enable the distribution and
publishing of documents to email, Internet and mobile applications using standard file formats, including
XML, HTML, PDF and Open ¢Book.

The proliferation of multifunction devices and digital copiers connected over a network has increased the
number of documents that individuals within an enterprise are transforming into digital format. Our software
solutions create a more efficient method to process static documents in enterprise content management and
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database systems, thereby enhancing the value of their investments in these systems. All of these documents
can then be more easily archived, edited and combined within the enterprise.

Our solutions are used in professional office settings, particularly in the government, legal, finance and
education sectors. Our software is available in 11 languages. We utilize a combination of our global reseller
network and direct sales to distribute our document and PDF conversion products. We license our software to
companies such as Canon, Hewlett-Packard and Xerox, which bundle our solutions with multifunction
devices, digital copiers, printers and scanners. In October 2003, we introduced a new product that converts
PDF documents and files into editable Microsoft Word format. The product, developed by ScanSoft in
collaboration with Microsoft, is designed to help increase the productivity of workers by allowing them to edit
and use information contained in PDF files.

We also license software development toolkits to independent software vendors, integrators and in-house
developers to add document and PDF conversion capabilities to their applications. Our independent software
vendor customers include vendors, such as Microsoft and Symantec. Our technology is also used within high-
end enterprise systems from vendors such as Kofax and Lockheed Martin.

Digital Paper Management. As the volume and complexity of corporate data continues to multiply,
organizations are increasingly challenged in their efforts to manage all of their paper and digital documents.
The wide dispersion of documents makes finding information even more difficult, time-consuming and costly.
As a result, businesses need solutions that allow individuals, workgroups or the entire organization to more
efficiently organize, find and share business documents.

Our solutions convert paper into digital documents that can be easily archived, retrieved and shared. Qur
software can be used in conjunction with network scanning devices to preserve an image of a document exactly
as it appears on paper. Our software automatically indexes the scanned image, so that it can be stored together
with other digital documents on a desktop, over a network or within an enterprise content management
system. In a single search, users can quickly find scanned documents and existing digital files that match the
search criteria.

Within enterprises, workgroups and distributed teams, our solution can also facilitate the movement of
scanned paper and digital documents into email, print and other business applications. This streamlines the
flow of documents between workers, decreasing the time and costs associated with managing and using paper
documents. Qur solution integrates with established file systems to simplify the transfer of documents between
desktop and enterprise content management systems.

Our solutions are used in enterprises and workgroups, especially those within the legal, healthcare,
financial, government, real estate and education industries. Qur software is available in eight languages. We
utilize a combination of our global reseller network and direct sales to distribute our digital paper management
products. We also license our software to companies such as Brother, Hewlett-Packard, and Xerox, which
bundle our solutions with multifunction devices, digital copiers, printers and scanners.

Electronic Forms. Paper forms are expensive to print, store and distribute. They must be physically
circulated for approval and, when completed, paper forms must be collected, verified and archived. Processing
paper forms adds to this expense by requiring the manual transfer of data on completed forms into business
applications. As a result, organizations seek solutions that implement online alternatives to the use of paper
forms in order to reduce costs and increase operational efficiency.

Our products automatically convert paper forms into fillable electronic forms that can be easily used by
enterprises and other organizations. Qur products also convert static PDF and Microsoft Word forms into
fillable electronic forms using XML, HTML and PDF standards. Qur solutions simplify the design and
creation of new forms that can be delivered electronically with the same appearance as paper. Our products
enable the access and distribution of forms through the Web and email, and can be electronically routed,
approved and digitally signed. Our solution validates form information and automates data collection by
connecting electronic forms with standard database and back office applications.

6




Our solutions are used in enterprises and workgroups, especially those within the government, financial,
public safety, education, legal, healthcare and real estate industries. Our software is available in English,
French and German. We utilize a combination of our global reseller network and direct sales to distribute our
electronic forms products. Companies such as Hewlett-Packard bundle our solutions with multifunction
devices, digital copiers, printers and scanners.

The following table summarizes our digital capture products:

Product

. Docament and
PDF Conversion
OmniPage

PDF Converter

Capture
'Development System

Digital Paper
Management
PaperPort

Electronic
Forms
OmniForm

" Highlights

Converts paper and PDF into documents that can be edited,

-archived and shared

Most widely used optical character recognition product -
Accuracy of up to 99.8%, the highest in the industry

Converts into XML, HTML, Open eBook, Microsoft Word, Excel
and PowerPoint

Retains precise document layout and formatting

Integrates with enterprise content management systems

Recent Editors’ Choice Awards from PC Magazine and CNET

Converts PDF documents and files into editable Microsoft Word
documents

Developed and marketed through relationship with Microsoft
Reduces time required in reproducing documents

Retains precise document layout and formatting

Available in seven languages

» Toolkit of sophisticated imaging, PDF and capture capabilities

* 0 e @

Optical character recognition, handprint, checkbox and barcode
recognition

Supports PDF, JPEG, TIFF and other image formats

Recognizes more than 100 languages

Supports over 200 scanning devices

Available on Microsoft Windows 98/ME/NT4/2000/XP operating
systems '

Simplifies scanning, organizing and sharing paper documents
Index, search and retrieve scanned paper and digital documents
Adds document management and collaboration capabilities to
Microsoft Windows

Adds scanning and creation of searchable PDF files to Oracle 9
Integrates with network file systems and content management
applications

Speeds document set assembly and connectivity to workgroup
Localized in eight languages

Converts paper, static PDF and Microsoft Word forms into fillable
electronic forms

-Supports online filling, routing, electronic signing, and collection of

forms -
Connectivity with Microsoft InfoPath, Excel, SQL Server, Oracle
and other database applications

Supports XML, HTML and PDF standards

Localized in English, French and German




Our Competitive Strengths

Core Technology Assets. In recent years, we have developed and acquired extensive technology assets,
intellectual property and industry expertise in digital capture and speech. Our technologies are based on
complex mathematical formulas, which require extensive linguistic and image data, acoustic medels and
recognition techniques. A significant investment in capital and time would be necessary to replicate our
current capabilities. We continue to invest in the advancement of our technologies to maintain our market
leading position and to develop new applications. As of December 31, 2003 we had over 300 full-time
employees in research and development, and our technologies were covered by more than 700 patents or
patent applications. '

_ Broad. Distribution -Channels. - We ‘haVé“e»:stablished félétionshiﬁs with more than 2,000 resellers,
including leading-system vendors, independent software vendors and distributors. We maintain an extensive

network of value-added resellers to address the needs of specific markets; such as financial, legal, healthcare

"and government. We believe that our extensive channel relationships increase the difficulty for competitors to

develop a similar channel network and make it difficult for our products to be displaced. In addition, our far-
reaching channel network enables us to introduce new products quickly and effectively throughout the global
marketplace.

Leading Market Share. 'We have a strong market position in each of our product categories and are the
market leader in document and PDF conversion, network-based speech recognition and text-to-speech, and
dictation. Organizations tend to look to established market leading vendors when making product selections.
As the established brand in our markets, we believe we can target and win more partnership arrangements and
new customers than our competition. ‘

International Focus. The broad language coverage within our product offerings increases the likelihood
that we will be a selected technology provider to vendors selling globally. Our language coverage is difficult for
competitors to duplicate, and our presence in global markets limits the potential entry of new regional
competitors. With nearly one half of our employees located outside of North America, we are able to
cfficiently compete on a global basis.

Multiple End Markets. We sell to a range of end markets and maintain a tiered distribution model that
provides a diversified revenue stream and broad market exposure. We are not dependent on any single market
segment or set of end customers and earn revenue from both established and emerging markets.

Our Strategy

Pursue High Growth Markets In Speech. We intend to leverage our technologies and market leadership
in speech to expand our opportunities in the call center, automotive, healthcare, telecommunications and
mobile markets. We also intend to pursue emerging opportunities to use our speech technology within
consumer devices, games and other embedded applications. To expand our position, we have introduced new
versions of our products that are designed for specific markets; completed new license agreements with
customers and partners that will resell our technologies; and completed the acquisition of LocusDialog,
SpeechWorks and Philips that we believe complement our existing solutions and resources in the telecommu-
nications, automotive and electronics markets.

Expand PDF and Digital Capture Solutions. We intend to enhance the value of our digital capture
solutions for enterprises to address the proliferation of PDF, the expanded use of content management
systems, and the widespread adoption of networked multifunction and digital scanning devices. We have
introduced new products or new versions of existing products to take advantage of these growth opportunities.
We also plan to enhance our software development toolkits so our technologies can be integrated with more
third-party solutions. ' ’ '

Grow Market Share. We intend to increase our market share in each of our product categories. In
particular, we intend to expand and add features and functions to our products to make our solutions more
useful to and useable by a larger customer base. In addition, we intend to aggressively pursue sales and
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partnership opportunities to build on our leadmg positions in the text-to-speech and speech recognition
markets.

Expand Worldwide Channels. We intend to expand our global channel network and build upon our
existing distribution channels, especially in Europe, Asia and Latin America. In particular, we intend to
replicate our successful North American value-added reseller channel in Europe. Along these lines, we have
added sales employees in different geographic regions and launched programs and events to help recruit new
partners for our channel network.

. Pursue Strategic Acquisitions. We have selectively pursued strategic acquisitions. For example, during
the year ended December 31, 2003 we completed the LocusDialog, SpeechWorks and Philips acquisitions.
We intend to continue to pursue strategic acquisitions as a part of our growth strategy.

i

Sales, Distribution and Fulfillment

We have established relationships with more than 2,000 channel partners, including leading system
vendors, independent software vendors, value-added resellers and distributors, through which we market and
distribute our products and solutions. In speech, companies such as Cisco, Dictaphone, Lucent, GSL and
Microsoft embed our technologies into telecommunications systems, as well as automotive, PC or multimedia
applications. In digital capture, companies such as Brother, Canon, Hewlett-Packard, Visioneer and Xerox
include our technology in digital copiers, printers and scanners, as well as multifunction devices that combine
these capablhtles In addition, companies such-as Corel, Kofax, Lockheed Martin, Microsoft and Symantcc
embed our digital capture technology into their commercial software appl1cat1ons

We also maintain an extensive network of value-added resellers to address the needs of specific markets,
such as financial, legal, healthcare and government. We sell our applications to enterprises, professionals and
consumers through distribution and fulfillment partners, including 1450, Ingram Micro, Tech Data and Digital
River. These distribution and fulfillment partners provide our products to computer superstores, consumer
electronic stores, eCommerce Web sites, mail order houses and office superstores, such as Amazon.com, Best
Buy, CDW, MicroWarehouse, Circuit City, CompUSA, Fry’s Electronics, Office Depot, PC Connection and
Staples. We also maintain an extensive network of value added resellers to address the needs of specific
markets such as healthcare, legal and public safety. We also sell products through our Web site at
www.ScanSoft. com.

Until June 2()03, the majority of our software products were manufactured, packaged and shipped By
GlobalWare Solutions on a worldwide basis. During June 2003, we transitioned our manufacturing and
fulfillment activity to Hewlett-Packard.

As of December 31, 2003, we employed 195 full-time sales and marketing employees in offices
worldwide.

Proprietary Technology

We exploit our proprietary technology, trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovations and
licensing opportunities to maintain our competitive position. We rely on patent law, copyright law, trade secret
laws, secrecy, technical measures, licensee agreements and non-disclosure agreements to protect our
technology, trade secrets and other proprietary rights. Our policy is to file patent applications to protect
technology, inventions and improvements that are important to the development of our business, to maintain a
technological advantage over our competitors and to generate licensing revenue. In this regard, we have
obtained patents that directly relate to our products. Our digital capture and speech technologies are covered
by more than 700 patents or patent applications. These patents expire on various dates between 2005 and
20109.

In order to protect our ownership rights in our software products, we license our products to OEMs and
resellers on a non-exclusive basis with contractual restrictions on reproduction, distribution and transferability.
In addition, we generally license our software in object code form only. We license- certain.of our software
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products to end-users by use of a “shrink-wrap” or “click wrap” customer license that restricts the end-user to
personal use of the product.

We require our employees to execute confidentiality and invention assignment agreements in order to
protect our proprietary technology and other proprietary rights. We also rely on trade secrets and proprietary
know-how to protect our proprietary rights.

Customers

Qur products are sold through, and a substantial portion of our revenue is derived from, a network of over
2000 channel partners, including value-added reseilers, computer superstores, consumer €lectronic stores; mail
order houses, office superstores and eCommerce Web sites. We rely on a small number of distribution and
fulfillment partners, including 1450, Digital River, Ingram Micro and Tech. Data to-serve-this network-of -

_.channel partners. For the year ended December 31, 2003, two distribution and fulfillment partners, Ingram

Micro and Digital River, accounted for 16% and 13% of our consolidated revenue, respectively. During the
year ended December 31, 2002, Ingram Micro and D1g1ta1 RIVCI' accounted for 25% and 12% of our
consolidated revenue, respectively.

- Research and Development

The market for our products and services is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new
product introductions and enhancements, evolving industry standards, and rapidly changing client require-
ments. As a result, we believe that our future growth is highly dependent on the timely and efficient
introduction of new and updated products and technology. As of December 31, 2003, we employed over
300 people in research and development, slightly over half of whom are located in international locations. Our
employees based in overseas facilities extend our global focus while often lowering our overall cost of research
and development. To promote efficiency in our research and development efforts, we have organized the
effective use of global development teams and a comprehensively integrated development process. In addition,
we have developed and refined our time-to-market process, which contributes to cost-effective resource
management while promoting technology sharing across programs.

Our future success will depend in part on our ability to anticipate changes, enhance our current products,
develop and introduce new products that keep pace with technological advancements and address the
increasingly sophisticated needs of our clients. Our rescarch and development expenses for the years ending
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $33.9 million, $27.6 million and $14.0 million, respectively. We
expect that we will continue to commit significant resources to research and development in the future. All
research and development expenses have been expensed as incurred.

International Operations

We currently have offices in a number of international locations including: Australia, Belgium, Canada,
Denmark, England, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Hungary, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, Poland, Spain,
Sweden and Taiwan. The scope of our international operations includes research and development, customer
support and sales and marketing. Our international research and development is conducted in Budapest,
Hungary; Merelbeke, Belgium; and Aachen, Germany. Additionally sales and support offices are located
throughout the world to support our current international customers and to expand our international revenue
opportunities.

Geographic revenue classification is based on the country in which the sale is invoiced. Revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2003 was 72% North America and 28% international, versus 73% North America
and 27% international for the comparable period in 2002.

A number of our OEM partners distribute their products throughout the world and do not provide us with
the geographical dispersion of their products. We believe that if provided with this information, our
geographical revenue classification would indicate a higher international percentage. Based on an estimate that
factors our OEM partners’ geographical revenue mix to our revenues generated from these OEM partners,
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revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003, was approximately 65% North America and 35% international,
compared to 67% North America and 33% international for the comparable period in 2002.

Additional financial information relating to foreign and domestic sales and operations for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is
set forth in Note 19, “Segment & Geographic Information,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements attached hereto.

For a discussion of risks attendant to our foreign operations, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Risk Factors — 4 significant portion of our revenue is
derived from sales in Europe and Asia. Our results could be harmed by economic, political, regulatory and
other risks associated with these and other international regions.”

Competition

There are a number of companies that develop or may develop products that compete in our targeted
markets; however, currently there is no one company that competes with us in all of our product areas. The
individual markets in which we compete are highly competitive, and are subject to rapid technology changes.
Within digital capture, we compete directly with ABBYY, I.R.1.S. and NewSoft. Within speech, we compete
with AT&T, Fonix, IBM, Nuance Communications and Rhetorical. Vendors such as Adobe and Microsoft
offer solutions that can be considered alternatives to some of our solutions. In addition, a number of smaller
companies produce technologies or products that are in some markets competitive with our solutions. Current
and potential competitors have established, or may establish, cooperative relationships among themselves or
with third parties to increase the ability of their technologies to address the needs of our prospective
customers. :

Some of our competitors or potential competitors in our markets- have significantly greater financial,
technical and marketing resources than we do. These competitors may be able to respond more rapidly than
we can-to new or emerging technologies or changes in customer requirements. They may also devote greater
resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products than we do.

- Employeés

As of December 31, 2003 we employed 806 people on a full-time basis, 379 in the United States and 427
internationally. Of the total, 314 were in product research and development, 195 in sales and marketing, 210 in
operations and support, and 87 in finance and administration. Our employees may be subject to collective
bargaining agreements at a company or industry level in those countries where this is part of the local labor
law or practice. We have experienced no work stoppages and believe that our employee relations are good. We
have utilized the services of consultants, third-party developers, and other vendors in our sales, development,
manufacturmg activities and finance and administration functions.

Upon the closing of the Philips acquisition on January 30, 2003, we hired 116 employees. As of
December 31, 2003, 77 of these employees were still with the Company, 41 in product research and
development, 8 in sales and marketing and 28 in operations and support.

Upon closing the SpeechWorks acquisition on August 11, 2003, we hired 307 employees. As of
December 31, 2003, 243 of the employees were still with the Company, 52 in product research and
development, 53 in sales and marketing, 127 in operations and support and 11 in general and administrative.

Upon the closing of the LocusDialog acquisition on December 19, 2003, we hired 48 employees, 15 in
product research and development, 14 in sales and marketing, 14 in operations and support and 5 in general
and administrative.

Available Information

Our reports filed with Securities and Exchange Commission, including our Annual Reports on

Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed
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pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,-as amended, are available free
of charge on our website at www.scansoft.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are filed
electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Item 2. Propertielv

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing and support functions occupy 45,860 square feet of space
that we lease in Peabody, Massachusetts, We also lease 26,568 square feet of space in Waltham,
Massachusetts where our North American speech and language research and development is performed.
These leases expire in July 2006 and September 2006, respectively. Additionally, we lease approximately
21,180 square feet of research and development space located in Budapest, Hungary and 20,085 square feet in
Meretbeke, Belgium, which houses additional research and development space and our international
headquarters. These leases expire in December 2006 and April 2008, respectively. In connection with the
Philips acquisition, we assumed a lease for approximately 39,000 square feet of research and development
space located in Aachen, Germany. This lease expires.in March 2006. In connection with the acquisition of
SpeechWorks, we assumed a lease for approximately 54,000 square feet-of administrative, sales, marketing
and support office space in Boston, Massachusetts. This lease expires in September 2004. In. addition, we
assumed two leases for approximately 8,000 square feet and 15,000 square feet, respectively, of res¢arch and
development space located in Montreal, Canada. These leases expire in January 2010 and March 2013,
respectively. In connection with the -acquisition of LocusDialog, we- assumed a lease for approximately
12,000 square feet of research and development space located in Montreal, Canada. We also lease a number of
small sales and marketing offices in Asia and Europe, including offices located in Amsterdam, the
Netherlands; Hong Kong, China; Taipei, Taiwan; Milan, Italy; Munich, Germany; Goteborg, Sweden; Paris,
France; Reading, England; Budapest, Hungary; and Tokyo, Japan.

As of December 31, 2003, we were productively utilizing substantially all of the space in our facilities. We
believe that our existing facilities are adequate for our needs for at least the next twelve months. -

Item 3. Legal Proceedings : o o N

Like many companies in the software industry, the Company has from time to time been notified of
claims that the Company may be infringing certain intellectual property rights of others. These claims have
béen referred to counsel, and they are in various stages of evaluation and negotiation. If it appears necessary or
desirable, the Company may seek licenses for these intellectual property rights. There is no assurance that
licenses will be offered by all claimants, that the terms of any offered licenses will be. acceptable to the
Company or that in all cases the dispute will be resolved without litigation, which may be time consuming and
expensive, and may result in injunctive relief or the payment of damages by the Company.

From time to time, the Company receives information concerning possible infringement by third parties
of the Company’s intellectual property rights, whether developed, purchased or licensed by the Company. In
response to any such circumstance, the Company. has counsel investigate the matter thoroughly and the
Company takes all appropriate action to defend its rights in these matters.

On July 15, 2003, Elliott Davis (“Dav1s”) filed an action against SpeechWorks in the United States
District Court for the Western District for New York (Buffalo) claiming patent. infringément. Damages are
sought in an unspecified amount. In the lawsuit, Davis alleges that SpeechWorks is infringing United States
Patent No. 4,802,231 entitled “Pattern Recognition Error Reduction System” {the-“231 Patent”). The "231
Patent generally discloses techniques for a pattern recognition system.and method wherein errors are reduced
by creating independent error templates that correspond to patterns that tend to be erroneously matched and
linked error témplates that are linked to specified reference templates that are stored for comparison. Tn
addition, on November 26, 2003, Davis filed an action against the Company in the United States District
Court for the Western District for New York (Buffalo) claiming that the Company infringed the 231 Patent.
Damages are sought in an unspecified amount. Although the Company has, both prior to and as a result of the
SpeechWorks acquisition, several products in the speech recognition. technology. field, the Company believes
that the products do not infringe the '231 Patent because neither the Company nor SpeechWorks use the
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claimed techniques. SpeechWorks filed an Answer and Counterclaim to Davis’s Complaint in its case on
August 25, 2003 and the Company filed an Answer and Counterclaim -to Davis’s Complaint in its case on
December-22, 2003. The Company believes Davis’s claims have no merit and intends to defend the actions
vigorously.

On November 27, 2002, AllVoice Computing ple filed an action against the Company .in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of Texas claiming patent infringement. In the lawsuit, AllVoice
alleges that the Company is infringing United States Patent No. 5,799,273 entitled “Automated Proofreading
Using Interface Linking Recognized Words to Their Audio Data While Text Is Being Changed” (the “’273
Patent”). The "273 Patent generally discloses techniques for manipulating audio data associated with text
generated by a speech recognition engine. Although the Company has several products in the speech
recognition technology field, the Company believes that its products do not infringe the *273 Patent because, in
addition to other’defenses, they do not use the claimed techniques. Damages are sought in an unspecified
amount. The Company filed an Answer on December 23, 2002. The Company believes this claim has no merit
and intends to defend the action vigorously.

On-December 28, 2001, the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Electronics For Imaging, Inc.
sued the Company in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas for patent
infringement. The Company has settled that action for an immaterial amount and was dismissed from the
action on December 12, 2003.

On August 16, 2001, Horst Froessl sued the Company in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California for patent infringement. In his lawsuit, Froess] alleges that the Company is
infringing United States Patent No. 4,553,261 entitled “Document and Data Handling and Retrieval System”
(the ““261 Patent”). Froessl alleges that the 261 Patent discloses a system for receiving and optically
scanning documents, converting selected segments of the d1g1tahzed scan data into machine code, and storing
and retrieving the documents and the digitalized and converted segments. Although the Company has several
products in the scanning technology field, the Company has asserted that its products do not infringe the 261
Patent because its products do not contain all elements of the structure required by the claimed invention and
because: its products do not perform all of the steps required by the claimed method. Further, the Company
believes there may be prior art that would render the "261 Patent invalid. The *261 Patent expired on May 31,
2003. Damages are sought in an-unspecified amount. The Company- filed an' Answer and Counterclaim on
September 19,-2001. The Company believes this claim has no merit and intends to defend the action
vigorously. . : :

The Company believes that the final outcome of these matters will not have a significant adverse effect on
its financial position and results of operations. However, even if its defense is successful, the litigation could
require significant management time and could be costly. Should the Company not prevail in any such
litigation, its operating results, financial position and cash flows could be adversely impacted.

Item 4. . Submission Of Matters To A Vote Of Securzty Holders

None '

PART 11

Item 5. * Market for the Regtstrant s Common Eqmty, Related Stockholder Maztters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities
Market for Common Stock

Our common stock commenced trading on the Nasdaq Na‘uonal Market on December 11, 1995 under
the symbol “VSNR,” and traded under that symbol until March 3, 1999, Our common stock is now traded on
the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “SSFT.” As of December 31, 2003, there were outstanding
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102,592,019 shares of common stock. The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low
sale prices for our common stock as reported on the Nasdaq National Market.

High  Low

Fiscal 2003:
Frst QUaTter ... oo e $6.50 $3.81
Second qUarter . .. ..o e 6.55 4.45
Third qUaTter . ... o e e e 5.98 332
Fourth qUAarter ... ... e e e e e 6.50 4.15

Fiscal 2002:
FIrSt QUATTET ..\ oottt ettt e et e e e e $6.00  $2.88
Second quarter .. ... R, N 8.85 5.30
Third QUATIET . . ittt et et e e 7.94 3.15
Fourth quarter . ... .. e - 7.77 3.16

The equity compensation plan information incorporated by reference into Part III, Item 12 of this
Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference into this Part 11, Item 5.

As of March 1, 2004, there were 742 stockholders of record and the last reported sale price of our
common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was $5.38 per share.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently expect to retain
future earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development of our business and do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

Our loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, as amended on September 30, 2003, contains
a restrictive covenant which prohibits us from paying or declaring any dividends on our capital stock during the
term of the agreement (except for dividends payable solely in capital stock) without Silicon Valley Bank’s
prior written consent. In addition, the zero coupon convertible subordinated debenture due in 2006 that was
issued to Koninklijke Royal Philips Electronics N.V. (“Philips”) in connection with our acquisition of the
Speech Processing Telephony and Voice Control business units of Philips contains a restrictive covenant
which prohibits us from paying or declaring any dividend or distribution (other than distributions of our equity
securities) on our capital stock while the debenture is outstanding. This restriction terminates if one half or
more of the debenture is converted by Philips into common stock.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the last year and since December 31, 2002, we have issued unregistered securities to a limited
number of persons, as described below. None of these transactions involved any underwriters, underwriting
discounts or commissions, or any public offering, and we believe that each transaction was exempt from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) by virtue of
Section 4(2) thereof and/or Regulations S promulgated thereunder. The recipients of securities in each such
transaction represented their intention to acquire the securities for investment purposes only and not with a
view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were affixed to the
share certificates and instruments issued in such transactions. All recipients had adequate access, through
their relationships with us, to information about us.

(a) On January 30, 2003, we issued to Philips a $27.5 million three-year, zero-interest convertible
subordinated debenture. This debenture is convertible into shares of our common stock at any time at the
option of Philips at a conversion price of $6.00 per share. We relied upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act in
connection with the issuance of these securities, and appropriate legends were placed on such securities.
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Phillips represented its intention to acquire the securities for investment purposes only and not with a view to
or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof.

{b) On March 31, 2003, in connection with the acquisition of certain intellectual property assets related
to multimodal speech-technology for Lobby7, Inc. (“Lobby7”), we issued a warrant to Lobby7, expiring
October 31, 2005, for the purchase of 78,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $8.10 per
share. We relied upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act in connection with the issnance of the warrant, and
appropriate legends were affixed to the warrant issued in the transaction. Lobby7 represented its intention to
acquire the securities for investment purposes only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any
. distribution thereof. ’

{c) On August 11, 2003, in connection with the SpeechWorks acquisition, we issued a warrant to our
investment banker, expiring on August 11, 2009, for the purchase of 150,000 shares of our comimon stock at an
exercise price of $3.98 per share. We relied upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act in connection with the
issuance of the warrant, and appropriate legends were affixed to the warrant.

(d) On December 17, 2003, pursuant to a letter agreement, dated October 17, 2003, we issued a warrant
to a former employee of the SpeechWorks, expiring December 17, 2004, for the purchase of (i) 11,180 shares
of our common stock at an exercise price of $7.70 per share, and (ii) 2,552 shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $5.64 per share. We relied upon Section 4(2) of the Securitics Act in connection with the
issuance of the warrant, and appropriate legends were affixed to the warrant.

(e) On December 19, 2003, in connection with the acquisition of LocusDialog, certain sharcholders of
LocusDialog were issued 2,328,638 shares of our common stock. We relied upon Section 4(2) of the
Securities Act, and Regulation S promulgated thereunder, in connection with the issuance of these shares, and
appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates issued in the transaction.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data is not necessarily indicative of the results of future
operations and should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and the balance
sheet data as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 have been derived from our consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The statement of operations data for the years ended
December 31; 2000 and 1999 have been derived from our consolidated financial statements which are not
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. ’

On March 2, 1999, we acquired ScanSoft, Inc., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Xerox
Corporation. On June 30, 1999, we acquired certain assets and liabilities of MetaCreations Corporation. On
March 13, 2000, we acquired Caere. On December 12, 2001, we acquired substantially all of the speech and
language technology operations of L&H. On January 30, 2003, we completed the acquisition of the Philips
Speech. Processing Telephony and Voice Control business units. On August 11, 2003, we acquired all of the
outstanding stock of SpeechWorks International, Inc. On December 19, 2003, we acquired all of the
outstanding shares of LocusDialog. These acquisitions were each accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting. Accordingly, the results of operations from the ScanSoft, MetaCreations, Caere, L&H, Philips,
SpeechWorks and LocusDialog acquisitions are included in our resnlts of operations from the applicable
acquisition dates. ‘
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SCANSOFT, INC.
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Year Ended December 31,
2003(4) 2002 2001(3) 2000(2) 1999(1)
(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of
Operations Data:-

Total revenue............. R, $135,399 $106,619 $ 62,717  $ 47961 $31,629

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue

— stock-based compensation .. ... ... 11 — ‘ — — —
— all other expenses............... 26,123 16,419 12,849 12,692 7,602
Cost of revenue from amortization of :
intangible assets................... 10,516 9,470 14,192 11,569 1,405
Research and development
— stock-based compensation ....... 15 , — — — —
— all other expenses............... 33,938 27,633 13,968 14,967 6,920
Selling, general and administrative
— stock-based compensation ....... 304 103 15 — —
— all other expenses............... 64,964 43,668 25,296 27,111 14,509
Amortization of goodwill and other
intangible assets(5)........... S 2,297 1,682 13,328 11,017 516
Restructuring and other charges, net(6) 3,693 1,041 — 4,811 346
Acquired in-process research and
development............... ... . ... — — — 18,291 3,944
Total costs and expenses ........... 141,861 100,016 79,648 100,458 35,242
Income (loss) from operations .......... (6,462) - 6,603 (16,931) (52,497) (3,613)
Other income (expense), net............ 675 (16) (263) (282) 1,015
Income (loss) before income taxes....... (5,787) 6,587 (17,194) (52,779) (2,598)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes (269) - 254 (317) 472 150
Net income (1oss) .........coveinnnn. $ (5518) § 6,333 $(16,877)  $(53,251)  $(2,748)
Net income (loss) per share: basic and '
diluted .......... ... $ (0.07) § 0.9 $ (034) $§ (1.26) § (0.11)
Weighted average common shares
outstanding:
Basic........... .o i 78,398 67,010 49,693 42,107 25,630

Diluted ......... ... .ol 78,398 72,796 -~ 49,693 42,107 25,630

As of December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term

investments ...................... $ 42,584 $ 18,853 $ 14,324 $ 2,633 $ 5,224
Working capital (deficit) ............. 44,305 16,842 9,318 (6,434) 7,031
Total assets .. ...................... 401,940 143,690 142,070 109,480 29,982
Long-term liabilities ................. 48,340 725 6,143 . 2172 . .- —
Total stockholders’ equity ............ 303,226 119,378 114,534 87,461 21,924
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(1) On March 2, 1999, Visioneer acquired ScanSoft, in a cash election merger, from Xerox Corporation.

(2) On March 13, 2000, the Company merged with Caere Corporation (“Caere”}, a California-based digital
imaging software company. ,
(3) On December 12, 2001, the Company acquired the speech and language technologies operations of
’ Lernout & Hauspie Speech Products, N.V. (L&H).

(4) On January 30, 2003, the Company acquired Royal Philips Electronic Speech Processing Telephony and
Voice Control -business units, and related intellectual propcrty (“Phﬂips”). See Note 23 to Notes to
Consolidated-Einancial Statements.

On August 11, 2003, the Company acqulred SpeechWorks International, Inc. (“SpecchWorks”) See
Note 22 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

On December 19, 2003, the Company acquired LocusDialog, Inc. (“LocusDialog”). See Note 21 to
" Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(5) See Notes 5 and 6 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(6) See Note 9 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and rvesults of operations should be read in conjunction
with. our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties.
Our actual vesults could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements for many
reasons, including the visks described in “Risk Factors” starting on page 31 and elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

Overview of the Business

We are a leading provider of software that allows users to incorporate documents, images and speech into
digital applications. Qur products and technologies automate manual processes and help enterprises,
professionals and consumers increase productivity, reduce costs and save time. OQur products are built upon
digital capture and speech technologies, and are sold as solutions into the financial, legal, healthcare,
government, telecommunications and automotive industries. We focus on markets where we can exercise
market leadership, where significant barriers to entry exist and where we possess competitive advantages,
because of the strength of our technologies, products, services, channels and business processes.

On September 30, 2003, we amended our loan and security agreement with Silicon Vailey Bank for a
revolving loan in a principal amount not to exceed $10.0 million, collateralized by substantially all of our
personal property, but not our intellectual property. At the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, no
amounts have been drawn under the terms of this agreement.

On January 3, 2003, we paid $3.3 million in full settlement of all principal and accrued interest on the
promissory note issued in connection with the L&H acquisition on December 12, 2001.

On January 30, 2003, we completed the acquisition of the Speech Processing Telephony and Voice
Control business units of Royal Philips Electronics N.V. (“Philips”), and related intellectual property, on the
terms set forth in the purchase agreement dated October 7, 2002, as amended. The Telephony business unit
offers speech-enabled services including directory assistance, interactive voice response and voice portal
applications for enterprise customers, telephony vendors and carriers. The Voice Control business unit offers a
product portfolio including small footprint speech recognition engines for embedded applications such as
voice-controlled climate, navigation and entertainment features in automotive vehicles, as well as voice dialing
for mobile phones. As consideration for these business units and intellectual property, we paid 3.1 million
euros ($3.4 million) in cash at closing, subject to adjustment in accordance with the provisions of the purchase
agreement, as amended, and agreed to pay an additional 1.0 million euros in cash prior to December 31, 2003,
issued a 5.0 million euro note payable due December 31, 2003 and bearing 5.0% interest per annum and issued
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a $27.5 million three-year, zero-interest subordinated debenture, convertible at any time at Philips’ option into
shares of our common stock at $6.00 per share. Prior to December 31, 2003, we paid both the 5.0 million euro
promissory note and 1.0 million euro note payable in accordance with the provisions of the purchase
agreement. In addition, prior to December 31, 2003, in accordance with provisions of the purchase agreement,
the parties agreed upon a purchase price adjustment resulting in a decrease to the total purchase consideration,
and a payment to be made by Philips to ScanSoft of approximately $3.0 million. As of December 31, 2003, the
balance was classified as an other current asset. ScanSoft received this payment on January 5, 2004,

During the three months ended March 31, 2003, we completed an underwritten public offering of
8,256,906 shares of our common stock at $3.80 per share. Of the total shares sold, 6,184,406 shares were sold
on behalf of Lernout & Hauspie Speech Products N.V. and. L&H Holdings USA, Inc. We sold 2,072,500
common shares and received gross proceeds of $7.9 million. After consuienng offenng costs; the net proceeds
- amounted to approx1mately $5.5 million. .~ ._. ... - - - --

On August 11, 2003, we acquired all of the outstanding stock of SpeechWorks International, Inc.
(“SpeechWorks™), a leading provider of software preducts and professional services that enable enterprises,
telecommunications carriers and government organizations, to offer automated, speech-activated services over
any telephone, in exchange for 0.860 of a share of our common stock for each outstanding share of
SpeechWorks stock. This transaction resulted in the issuance of approximately 32.5 million shares of our
common stock, representing approximately 33% of our outstanding common stock after the completion of the
acquisition. The SpeechWorks purchase price of §175.5 million includes the value of the ScanSoft common
stock issued at a per share value of $5.26 (the average closing price of ScanSoft common stock for a total of
five days immediately prior to and subsequent to the announcement of the acquisition) and transaction costs
of $4.5 'million. Included in the transaction costs is a warrant, valued at $0.2 million, for the purchase of
150,000 shares of our common stock (Note 22). In addition, the purchase price includes the value of 184,850
shares of restricted common stock issued to replace previously outstanding SpeechWorks restricted common
stock, of $0.7 million, based on the closing price of our common stock on the date of acquisition. The value of
the unvested restricted common stock has been recorded as deferred compensation (Note 13).

On December 19, 2003, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of LocusDialog Inc. (“LocusDialog’), a
leader in speech-enabled, auto-attendant applications, based in Montreal, Canada. LocusDialog’s applications
are widely recognized as superior call routing and auto-attendant solutions in the market, with nearly 1,000
installations worldwide, handling approximately 500 million calls annually. Consideration for the transaction
comprised 2.3 million shares of our common stock at a per share value of $5.31 (the average closing price of
ScanSoft common stock for a total of five days immediately prior to and subsequent to the announcement of
the acquisition) having a value of $12.4 million and transaction costs of $0.7 million.
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OVERVIEW OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table presents, as a percentage of total revenue, certain selected financial data for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Total revenue. .. ... 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
— stock based compensation .. .......... .. i — — —
—all other eXpenses. ... ...ttt e 19.3 15.4 20.5
Cost of revenue from amortization of intangible assets ........... 7.8 8.9 22.6
Research and development
= stock based compensation ............ . ... i i, — — —_
— all other expenses........... e e 25.1 259 223
Selling, general and administrative
" — stock based compensation . ... .. .. il 0.2 0.1 —
— all other eXpenses. . ... ..ot i 48.0 41.0 40.4
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets(1) .......... 1.7 1.6 21.3
Restructuring and other charges, net(2) ....................... 2.7 0.9 —
Total costs and eXPenses .. ...........cooeueeninenaenn.. .. 104.8 93.8 127.1
Income (loss) from operations ..............iivivenernennnnn .. (4.8) 6.2 (27.1)
Other income (EXpense), Net. . ... ottt 0.5 — (0.4)
Income (loss) before income taxes. ..., (4.3) 6.2 (27.5)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes ...............c...oon. (0.2) 0.2 (0.5)
Net income (l0S8) ... ittt 4% 60% (27.0)%

(1) Sec Notes 5 and 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(2) See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

General

We derive our revenue from sales of our software products to customers through distribution partners and
value-added resellers, royalty revenues from OEM partners, license fees from sales of our products to
customers and from professional services, which include, but are not limited to, custom software applications
and other services considered essential to the functionality of the software, training, and maintenance
associated with software license transactions. OQur speech technologies enable voice-activated services over a
telephone, transform speech into text and text into speech, and permit voice control of devices and
applications. Our digital capture technologies transform text, images and files into various digital formats.
During 2003, Speech and Digital Capture represented approximately 58% and 42%, respectively, of our net
revenue.

‘Cost of revenue consists primarily of material and fulfiliment costs, third-party royalties, salaries for
product support personnel, and engineering costs associated with certain contracts which are accounted for
under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting.

Cost of revenue from amortization of intangible assets consists of the amortization of acquired patents
and core and completed technology.

Research and development expense consists primarily of salary and benefits costs of engineers. We
believe that the development of new products and the enhancement of existing products are essential to our
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success. Accordingly, we plan to continue to invest in research and development activities. To date, we have
not capitalized any internal development costs as the cost mcurrcd after technological feasibility but before
release of product has not been significant.

Selling expenses include salaries, commissions, advértising, direct mail, public relations, trade shows,
travel and other related sales and marketing expenses. General and administrative expenses include personnel
costs for administration, finance, human resources, information systems and general management, in addition
to legal and accounting expenses and other professional services. We attempt to control selling, general and
administrative expense; however, if revenue continues to grow, we expect selling, general and administrative
expense to increase to support our growing operations. In addition, we may increase selling, general and
administrative expenses in advance of revenue to support expected future revenue growth in specific product
lines or geographic regions.

Stock-based compensation expenses result from non-cash charges for common shares issued with
exercise or purchase prices that are less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant.

Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets excludes amortization of acquired patents and core
and completed technology which is included in cost of revenue from amortization of intangible assets.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity’ with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our
estimates and judgments, in particular those related to revenue recognition, including estimates of costs to
complete the development of custom software applications and estimates of valuation allowances (specifically
sales returns and other allowances); the valuation of goodwill and other intangible assets; estimates used in the
accounting for acquisitions; and valuation allowances for deferred tax assets. Actual amounts could differ
significantly from these estimates. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the amounts of revenue and
expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources.

We believe the following critical accounting policies most significantly affect the portrayal of our financial
condition and results of operations and require our most difficult and subjective judgments.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from sales of our software products to customers through distribution partners and
value-added resellers, royalty revenues from OEM partners, license fees from sales of our products to
customers in accordance with Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition (“SOP 97-2"), as
amended by Statement of Position 98-9, and the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements. Revenue from the sale of licenses to end
users, value-added resellers and system integrators to use our software products is recognized upon delivery,
provided that the arrangement does not require significant modification or customization of the software, any
services included in the arrangement are not considered essential to the functionality of the software, evidence
of the arrangement exists, the fees are fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Sales of our software products through certain distributors and value-added resellers provide rights of
return for as long as the distributors or resellers hold the inventory. As a result, we recognize revenues from
sales to these distributors and resellers only when the distributors or resellers have sold products to retailers
and end-users. Title and risk of loss pass to the distributor or reseller upon shipment, at which time the
transaction is invoiced and payment is due. Based on reports from distributors and resellers of their inventory
balances at the end of each period, we record an allowance against accounts receivable for the sales price of all
inventories subject to return. If we experience significant returns from distributors or resellers, our liquidity
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may be adversely impacted. We also make an estimate of sales returns by retailers or end users directly or
through our distributors or resellers based on historical returns experience. The provision for these estimated
returns is recorded as a reduction of revenue at the time that the related revenue is recorded. If actual returns
from retailers differ significantly from our estimates, such differences could have a material impact on our
results of operations for the period in which the actual returns become known. Qur accounts receivable
balance, including accounts receivable from a related party, was $42.4 million and $17.2 million at
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively. These balances are net of sales returns and other
allowances of $8.8 million and $5.4 million and allowances for doubtful accounts of $1.4 million and
$0.5 million as of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively.

Revenue from royalties on sales of our products by OEMs to third parties, where no services are included,
is typically recognized upon delivery to the third party when such information is available, or when we are
notified by the OEM that such royalties are due as a result of a sale, provided that all other revenue
recognition criteria are met.

When we provide professional services such as custom application development or other services
considered essential to the functionality of the software for a fixed fee, we recognize revenue from the fees for
such services and any related software licenses as we complete the project using the percentage-of-completion
method in accordance with Statement of Position 81-1 (SOP 81-1), Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Performance-Type Contracts. We generally determine the percentagé-of-
completion by comparing the labor hours we have incurred to date to the estimate of the total labor hours
required to complete the project based on regular discussions with our project managers. This method is used
because we consider expended labor hours to be the most reliable available measure of progress on these
projects. Adjustments to contract estimates are made in the periods in which facts resulting in a change
become known. When the estimate indicates a loss, such loss is recorded in the period identified. Significant
judgments and estimates are involved in determining total estimated costs, and therefore the percent complete
of each contract. If our estimates change, the adjustment could have a material effect on our results of
operations in the period of the change.

Other professional services not considered essential to the functionality of the software are limited and
primarily include training and feasibility studies. When we provide these services on a time and materials
basis, we recognize revenue as we perform the services based on actual time incurred.

When we provide software support and maintenance services, we recognize the revenue ratably over the
term of the related contracts, typically one year.

We may sell, under one contract or related contracts, software licenses, custom software applications and
other services considered essential to the functionality of the software and a maintenance and support
arrangement. The total contract value is attributed first to the maintenance and support arrangement based
vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) of its fair value, equal to its stated list price as a fixed percentage
of the related software product’s price. The remainder of the total contract value is then attributed to the
software license and related professional services, which are typically recognized as revenue using the
percentage-of-completion method. As a result, discounts inherent in the total contract value are attributed to
the software license and related professional services. We may sell, under one contract or related contracts,
software licenses, a maintenance and support arrangement and professional services not considered essential to
the functionality of the software. In those arrangements, the total contract value is attributed first to the
undelivered elements of maintenance and support and professional services based on their fair values, as
described above. The remainder of the contract value is attributed to the software licenses, which are typically -
recognized as revenue upon delivery, provided all other revenue recognition criteria are met. As a result,
discounts inherent in the total contract value are attributed to the software licenses.

We follow the guidance of Emerging Issues Task Force issue No. 01-09, Accounting for Consideration
Given by a Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products (“EITF 01-09”), in determining
whether consideration, given to a customer should be recorded as an operating expense or a reduction of
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revenue recognized from that same customer. Consideration given to a customer is recorded as a reduction of
revenue unless both of the following conditions are met:

» We receive an identifiable benefit in exchange for the consideration, and the identified benefit is
- sufficiently separable from the customer’s purchase of our products and services such that we could
have purchased the products from a third party, and

» We can reasonably estimate the fair value of the benefit received.

If both of the conditions are met, we record consideration paid to customers as an expense. Consideration,
including equity instruments, not meeting the above criteria, is recorded as a reduction of revenue, to the
extent we have recorded cumulative revenue from the customer or reseller. As a result of this policy, we
recorded a $0.2 million, $0.3 miilion and $1.1 million reduction in total revenue and a corresponding reduction
of selling, general and administrative expense for the years ended 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively.

We record reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses as revenue, with offsetting costs recorded
as cost of revenue. Out-of-pocket expenses generally include, but are not limited to, expenses related to
airfare, hotel stays and out-of-town meals.

Valuation of Long-lived and Intangible Assets and Goodwill

We have significant long-lived and intangible assets and goodwill, which are susceptible to valuation
adjustments as a result of changes in various factors or conditions. The most significant long-lived tangible and
intangible assets are fixed assets, patents and core technology, completed technology and trademarks which
are typically amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. The values of
intangible assets, with the exception of goodwill, were initially determined by a risk-adjusted, discounted cash
flow approach. We assess the potential impairment of identifiable intangible assets and fixed assets whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable and at least
annually. Factors we consider important, which could trigger an impairment of such assets, include the
following:

+ Significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;

» Significant changes in the manner of or use of the acqu1red assets or the strategy for our overall
business;

« Significant negative industry or economic trends;
+ Significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period; and
« A decline in our market capitalization below net book value.

Future adverse changes in these or other unforeseeable factors could result in an impairment charge that
would materially impact future results of operations and financial position in the reporting period identified.

Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets or SFAS 142. SFAS 142 requires, among other things, the discontinuance of
goodwill amortization, The standard also includes provisions for the assessment of the useful lives of existing
recognized intangible assets and the identification of reporting units for purposes of assessing potential future
impairments of goodwill. We have. assessed the useful lives of our existing intangible assets, other than
goodwill, and believe that estimated useful lives remain appropriate. In addition, we have determined that we
operate in one reporting unit. As a result, we use the stock price of our common stock to determine fair value
for our initial impairment test. Based on this, we performed the annual assessment during the fourth quarter of
2003 and determined that goodwill was not impaired; therefore no impairment charge was recorded. We
complete goodwill impairment analyses at least annually, or more frequently when events and circumstances
occur indicating that the recorded goodwill might be impaired.

Significant judgments and estimates are involved in determining the useful lives of our intangible assets,
determining what reporting units exist and assessing when events or circumstances would require an interim
impairment analysis of goodwill or other long-lived assets to be performed. Changes in events or circum-
stances, including but not limited to technological advances or competition which could result in shorter useful
lives, additional reporting units which may require alternative methods of estimating fair value, or economic or

22




market conditions which may affect previous assumptions and estimates, could have a significant impact on
our results of operations or financial position through accelerated amortization expense or impairment charges.

Accounting for Acquisitions

We have completed multiple significant business and other asset acquisitions over the proceeding five
years which have resulted in significant goodwﬂl and other intangible asset balances. Our future business
strategy contemplates that we may continue to pursue additional acquisitions in the future. Our accounting for
acquisitions involves significant judgments and estimates primarily, but not limited to: the fair value of certain
forms of consideration, the fair value of acquired intangible assets, which involve projections of future
revenues and cash flows, the fair value of other acquired assets and assumed liabilities, including potential
contingencies, and the useful lives and, as applicable, the reporting unit, of the assets. The impact of prior or
future acquisitions on our financial position or results of operations may be materially impacted by the change
in or initial selection of assumptions and estimates. Additionally, under SFAS 142, we determine the fair value
of the reporting unit, for purposes of.the first step in our annual goodwill impairment test, based on our stock
price. If prior or future acquisitions are not accretive fo our results of operations as expected, or our stock price
declines dramatically, we may be-required to complete the second step which requires significant judgments
and estimates and which may result in material impairment charges in the period in which they are
determined.

Accountmg for Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated ﬁnanc1a1 statements, we are requlred to calculate our
income tax expense based on taxable income by jurisdiction. There are many transactions and calculations
where the ultimate tax outcome is uncertain. Some of these uncertainties arise as a consequence of revenue-
sharing and cost-reimbursement arrangements among related entities and the differing tax treatment of
revenue and cost items across various jurisdictions.

The income tax accounting process also involves estimating our actual current tax liability, together with
assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes.
These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities. We must then assess the likelihood that our
deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe that it is more
likely than not that all or a portion of deferred tax assets will not be realized, we must establish a valuation
allowance. A portion of our deferred tax liabilities relate to taxable temporary differences for which the period
in which the differences will reverse is indefinite. Such deferred tax liabilities cannot offset our deferred tax
assets in determining the valuation allowance. As a result, our income tax provision includes a deferred tax
provision to increase the valuation allowance by a corresponding amount. Through December 31, 2003, we
have recorded a full valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets in the United States and certain
foreign jurisdictions due to the uncertainty of their realization as a result of cumulative historical losses. If the
realization of net deferred tax assets in the future is considered more likely than not, a reduction in the
valuation allowance would materially increase net income in the period such determination is made.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

December 31, 2003 Compared to December 31, 2002
~ Total Revenue

Total revenue for 2003 increased by $28.8 million or 27% compared to 2002. The growth in revenue is
attributed to a $33.8 million growth in our Speech revenues, offset by an overall decrease of $5.0 million in our
Digital Capture revenues from 2002. Revenue from our speech products was $77.9 million and $44.2 million
for 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in our Speech revenues are primarily related to a $24.7 million
increase in our networked speech technologies, a $4.9 million increase in our embedded speech technologies,
as well as a $4.2 million increase in our dictation product lines, from the vear 2002, The $5.0 million overall
decrease in our Digital Capture products can be attributed to a2 $10.0 million decrease in revenues recognized
from our OCR products. This overall decrease is due, in part, to the fact that OmniPage Pro 12 was launched
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earlier in 2002 than OmniPage Pro 14 was launched in 2003, as well as the recognition in 2002 of revenue
previously deferred. The decrease in the OCR revenues was offset to some extent by an overall strengthening
of our other Digital Capture product lines, in particular, PaperPort and the revenues derived from the launch
of our new product, PDF Converter, during the fourth quarter of 2003.

Related-party revenue increased $1.6 million or 32% compared to 2002. This increase was related to the
inclusion of our products in expanded product offerings of our related parties, primarily Xerox.

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 was 72% North America and 28% international versus——--—- -

73% North America and 27% infernational, respectively for 2002. Geographic revenue clasmﬁcatlon is bdsed
o the country in which the sale is invoiced.

A number of our OEM partners distribute their products throughout the world-and do notprovide-us with——""

‘the geographical dispersion of their products. We believe, if provided with this information, our geographical
revenue classification would indicate a higher international percentage. Based on an estimate that factors our
OEM partners’ geographical revenue mix to our revenues generated from these OEM partners, revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2003 is approximately 65% North America and 35% international, compared to 67%
North America and 33% international, for the comparable period in 2002. The increase in our international
revenue, as a percentage of total revenue, is driven primarily from Europe. The increase is the result of
increased sales and marketing resources, the addition of resellers, the release of Dragon Naturally Speaking
7.0, increased demand from OEMs for our RealSpeak product (TTS), the continued growth of PaperPort 9.0
in the international market space, as well as revenues achieved from our acquisitions of the Philips and
SpeechWorks technologies.

The following table presents the breakdown of our revenue by distribution channel:

Year Ended
- 2003 2002
VAR Retall . . e 31% 43%
DrECt . o e e e 25% 23%
OEM .............. R 4% 34%

100% 100%

The increase in our OEM revenues and the corresponding decrease in our other sales channels, as a
percentage of revenue, for the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared to the same period 2002, was
primarily due to the acquisitions of the Philips and SpeechWorks technologies as both businesses were more
focused in the OEM markets than in the retail or VAR channel.

For fiscal year 2004, we expect revenue growth of 35% to 45% from the fiscal year 2003 total. We believe
that growth will occur throughout all of our product lines.

Within the networked speech market, our anticipated growth is attributable to certain competitive
advantages, such as superior products, channel expertise, packaged applications and professional services. By
leveraging our advantages, we expect to gain additional share in the financial services, healthcare, utilities,
government, and travel and entertainment markets.

Within the embedded speech market, we anticipate continued growth, specifically in the automotive,
electronic games and handsets markets, resulting in a significant increase over 2003 revenues. Additionally, we
intend to extend our solutions further in the learning and accessibility markets.

Within our productivity applications, we expect to benefit from three important trends — IT spending in
healthcare, networked scanning, and PDF solutions. We expect to invest in and see growth from opportunities
in healthcare organizations looking for productivity solutions that can automate processes, cut costs, and offer
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an alternative to outsourcing with the use of our dictation applications. In digital capture, our OmniPage and
PaperPort products are positioned to take advantage of the growing networked scanning markets through our
major OEM partners. Within the PDF market, we have seen early success from our PDF Converter line, and
expect to see growth as we continue to invest in PDF solutions.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue for 2003 was $26.1 million or 19.3% of total revenue, compared to $16.4 million or 15.4%
of total revenue for 2002. The increase in cost of revenue in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue for
2003 is attributable to an increase in engineering costs related to professional services revenue resulting from
the Philips and SpeechWorks acquisitions and increased technical support costs primarily related to the
creation of a customer service department in Europe. The Company anticipates annualized cost savings in cost
of revenue of approximately $4.0 million, relating to restructuring actions taken in connection with the
SpeechWorks acquisition. These savings are partially offset by increased staffing of our professional services
organization in response to an increase in demand. As a result, we expect gross margins will decline in 2004
due to an increase in professional services revenue as a percentage of total revenue. Cost of revenue from
stock-based compensation is related to the issuance of common stock to certain Company executives with
exercise or purchase prices that were less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant.

Cost of Revenue from Amortization of Intangible Assets

Cost of revenue from amortization of intangible assets for 2003 was $10.5 million or 7.8% of total revenue
compared to $9.5 million or 8.9% of total revenue for 2002. The increase in cost of revenue from amortization
of intangible assets in absolute dollars is attributable to $1.7 million of amortization related to the exclusive
worldwide license of certain desktop dictation products and technologies, $0.7 million related to the Philips
acquisition which was completed on January 30, 2003 and $0.2 million related to the SpeechWorks acquisition
which was completed on August 11, 2003, partially offset by $1.6 million of intangible assets that became fully
amortized during fiscal year 2002. During 2004, we expect cost of revenue from amortization of intangible
assets to be approximately $10.8 million based on the related assets and estimated useful lives at Decem-
ber 31, 2003.

Research and Development Expense

Research and development costs for 2003 were $33.9 million or 25.1% of total revenue, compared to
$27.6 million or 25.9% of total revenue for 2002. The increase in research and development expenses in
absolute dollars is due to increased speech and language development efforts associated with increased
headcount and related costs of approximately $6.6 million resulting from both the Philips and SpeechWorks
acquisitions. This increase is partially offset by a reduction of headcount and related costs of approximately
$0.3 million resulting from the transfer of certain research and development activities from our corporate
headquarters to Budapest during the three month period ended June 30, 2003. The Company will continue to
invest significantly in research and development, but we expect research and development expenses as a
percentage of revenue to decline in 2004 due to an expected increase in revenue and the continued realization
of operational synergies. The Company anticipates annualized cost savings in research and development of
approximately $7.0 million related to restructuring actions in connection with the SpeechWorks acquisition,
completed in 2003. ' '

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

_ Selling, general and administrative expense for 2003 was $65.0 million or 48.0% of total revenue,
compared to $43.7 million or 41.0% for 2002. The increase in selling, general and administrative expense in
absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue for 2003 was the result of increased compensation costs of
approximately $12.0 million resulting from the addition of 72 sales and marketing employees and 25 general
and administrative employees primarily due to the Philips and SpeechWorks acquisitions. The remaining
increase in selling, general and administrative expenses for 2003 is due primarily to increased facilities charges
of $3.2 million resulting from increased rent and related insurance expenses, increased advertising expenses of
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$1.3 million, increased channel marketing expenses of $0.9 million, increased professional fees of approxi-
mately $2.6 million and increased bad debt expense of $0.6 million. The Company expects selling, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue to increase initially in 2004, as it maintains marketing
programs that proved successful towards the end of 2003, but to decline as a percentage of revenue over the
remainder of 2004 as revenue increases. In addition, during 2004, the Company expects to incur approxi-
mately $1.0 million related to compliance with recently issued regulatory requirements. Selling, general and
administrative expenses from stock based compensation of approximately $0.3 million is related to the
issuance of common stock to certain Company executives with exercise or purchase prices that are less than
the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The Company anticipates annualized cost
savings in selling, general and administrative of approximately $16.0 million related to restructuring actions in
connection with the SpeechWorks acquisition completed in 2003, ‘

Amortization of Other Intangible Assets

Amortization of other intangible assets for 2003 was $2.3 million or 1.7% of total revenue compared to
$1.7 million or 1.6%- of total revenue for 2002: The increase in amortization of other intangible assets is
attributable to $0.7 million related to the Philips acquisition, which was completed on January 30, 2003, and
$0.7 million related to the SpeechWorks acquisition, which was completed on August 11, 2003, partially offset
by $0.7 million of intangible assets that became fully amortized during fiscal year 2002. During 2004, we
expect amortization of other intangible assets to be approximately $2.8 million, based on the related assets and
estimated useful lives at December 31, 2003.

Restruczuring and Other Charges, Net

Restructuring and other charges for 2003 were $3.7 million compared to $1.0 million for 2002. These
charges in 2003 reflect $2.4 million related to the elimination of 106 employees as a result of the Philips and
SpeechWorks acquisitions. Also included are $0.8 million and $0.4 million of employee and facility related
costs, respectively, associated with the restructuring of various other corporate activities during the year. The
Company anticipates annualized cost savings of approximately $27.0 million related to restructuring actions in
connection with the SpeechWorks acquisition completed in 2003.

Income (Loss) from Operations

As a result of the above factors, loss from operations was ($6.5) million for 2003 compared with income
of $6.6 million for 2002.

Other Income (Expense}, Net

Interest income was $0.5 million and $0.4 million for 2003 and 2002, respectively. The increase in interest
income from 2002 to 2003 was a result of higher cash and cash equivalent balances, which grew from
$18.9 million at December 31, 2002 to $42.6 million at December 31, 2003. Interest expense was $0.8 million
and $0.4 million for 2003 and 2002, respectively. Interest expense consists primarily of interest related to the
5.0 million euro note related to the Philips acquisition and imputed interest expense related to the exclusive
license acquired to resell certain productivity applications. Other income in 2003 consists primarily of foreign
exchange gains of $1.2 million, partially offset by other expenses of $0.2 million. Foreign exchange losses were
insignificant in 2002.

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes

Loss before income taxes was ($5.8) million for 2003, compared with income of $6.6 million for 2002.

Income Taxes

The benefit for income taxes of ($0.3) million for 2003 primarily consisted of a benefit of $1.5 million
relating to a federal tax refund, relating to the carryback of net operating losses to a prior period offset by a
$1.2 million deferred tax provision associated with differences between the book and tax amortization of
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certain goodwill, of which $0.4 million relates to 2002. The provision for income taxes of $0.3 million for 2002
consisted of foreign and state tax provisions of $1.2 million offset by the federal tax benefit of $0.9 million,
related to a refund of taxes paid by Caere Corporation prior to its acquisition by ScanSoft.

In 2003, the Company’s effective tax rate was a benefit of 4.6% versus a provision of 3.9% in 2002. The
variance from the statutory rate for 2003 was due primarily to a federal refund received relating to Caere
Corporation for taxes paid prior to its acquisition by ScanSoft, offset by increases in the. valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2003, ScanSoft had net deferred tax assets of $97 million which were subject to
consideration of a valuation allowance. A full valuation allowance has been provided against the net deferred
tax assets in the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions due to the uncertainty of their realization as a
result of cumulative historical losses. In the future, a period of sustained profitability will cause us to reassess
the need for the valuation allowance. We may be required to recognize these deferred tax assets through the
reduction of the valuation allowance which would result in a material benefit to our results of operations in the
period in which the benefit is determined.

Net Income {Loss)

As a result of all these factors, net loss totaled ($5.5) million for 2003, compared with net income of
$6.3 million for 2002.

December 31, 2002 Compared to December 31, 2001

Total Revenue

Total revenue for 2002 increased by $43.9 million or 70% compared to 2001. The growth in revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2002 was primarily the result of revenue generated from our speech products.
Revenue from our speech products was $44.2 million and $1.8 million for 2002 and 2001, respectively. The
increase in speech revenue was due to the L&H acquisition, which occurred in December 2001. Revenue from
our digital capture products was $62.4 million and $60.9 million for 2002 and 2001, respectively. The net
increase of $1.5 million in revenue from our digital capture products from 2001 'was due primarily to an
increase of $3.6 million in sales of digital capture products through the channel network, partially offset by a
decrease in revenue of $2.1 million from Xerox, a related party, due to the cancellation of its retail muiti-
function product line in late 2001. '

Geographic revenue classification is based on the country in which the sale is invoiced. Revenue for 2002
was 73% North America and 27% international, versus 79% North America and 21% international for 2001.

A number of our OEM partners distribute their products throughout the world and do not provide us with
the geographical dispersion of their products. We believe that, if we were provided with this information; our
geographical revenue classification would indicate a higher international percentage. Based on an estimate that
factors"our OEM partners’ geographical revenue mix to our revenues generated from these OEM partners,
revenue for 2002 was approximately 67% North America and 33% international versus 70% North America
and 30% international for 2001. The increase in our international revenue percentage for 2002 was driven
primarily from Europe and Asia and was the result of increased sales and marketing efforts and additional
resellers. : o

The following table presents the breakdown of our total revenue by distribution channel:

Year Ended

December 31,

| 2002 2001
VAR/TEMAI . . .ttt e 43%  45%
Direct ............ e e A 23% 24%

" OEM ........ AR PP ST S S 34%  31%
' |  100% 100%
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" The increase in OEM, and the corresponding decrease in VAR /retail, as a percent of revenue, for 2002 as
compared to 2001 was due to the addition of speech products in 2002. OEMs represent a higher percentage of
revenue for our speech products than for our digital capture products. .

Effective January 1, 2002, we implemented EITF 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor
10 a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products). The implementation resulted in a $0.3 million
reduction to total revenue and a corresponding reduction of selling, general and administrative expense for
2002. Additionally, it resulted in the reclassification of $1.1 million from selling, general and administrative
expense to net revenue for 2001.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue for 2002 was $16.4 million or 15.4% of revenue, compared to $12.8 million or 20.5% for
2001. The increase in cost of revenue in absolute dollars for 2002 was directly attributable to the increase in
the volume of product sales to VAR /retail customers as well as increased embedded text-to-speech revenue
which bears a higher cost of revenue than our traditional software products. The decrease in cost of revenue as
a percentage of total revenue for 2002, as compared to 2001, was due to lower supply chain logrst1cs and
fulfillment costs, partially offset by the higher cost of embedded text-to-speech revenue.

Cost of Revenue from Amortization of Intangible Assets

Cost of revenue from amortization of intangible assets for 2002 was $9.5 million compared to
$14.2 million for 2001. The. decrease in cost of revenue from amortization of intangible assets of $4.7 million
was due to $6.6 million of intangible assets that became fully amortized in the first quarter of 2002. This
reduction was partially offset by $1.9 million of amortization recorded for the acquired L&H and Audiomining
assets.

Researeh and Develbpment Expense

Research and development costs for 2002 were $27.6 million or 25.9% of total revenue, compared to
$14.0 million or 22.3% of total revenue for 2001. The increase in research and development expenses of
$13.6 million for 2002 was primarily the result of increased headcount of 138 employees associated with the
L&H acquisition. Cost savings attributable to the restructurmg actions taken in 2002 for 2002 were
approximately $1.3 million. :

- Selling, General and Administrative Expense

. Selling, general and administrative expense for 2002 was $43. 8 million or 41.1% of total revenue,
compared to $25.3 million or 40.4% for 2001. The increase in selling, general and administrative expense in
absolute dollars for 2002 was primarily the result of increased headcount costs of $9.9 million resulting from
the addition of 74 employees, primarily in sales and marketing, as well as $3.1 million of increased marketing
programs in support of the higher revenue. These increases were largely attributable to the L&H acquisition
and our expanded focus on international sales and marketing.

Amortization of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets for 2002 was $1.7 million compared to $13.3 million
for 2001. The decrease in amortization expense is directly attributable to the adoption of SFAS 142, as a result
of which we ceased the amortization of goodwill and acquired workforce of approximately $2.6 million per
quarter. Additionally, amortization expense decreased $1.4 million in 2002, due to intangible assets that
became fully amortized in the first quarter of 2002. This reduction was partially offset by additional
amortization.of approximately $0.2 million for 2002 from the L&H and Audiomining acquisitions.
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Restructuring and Other Charges, Net

In January 2002, we announced, and in March 2002 completed, a restructuring plan to consolidate
facilities, worldwide sales organizations, research and development teams and other personnel following the
L&H acquisition on December 12, 2001. As a result, we exited certain facilities in both North America and
Europe, eliminating 21 employee positions, including 12 in research and development and 9 in selling, general
and administrative functions. In the first quarter of 2002, we recorded a restructuring charge in the amount of
$0.6 million for severance payments to these employees and a charge of $0.4 million for certain termination
fees to be incurred as a result of exiting the facilities, including the write-off of previously recorded assembled
workforce of $0.1 million.

During 2002, the Company paid a total of $0.8 million in severance payments, of which $0.6 million
related to the March 2002 restructuring and $0.2 million related to severance paid to the former Caere
President and CEO, pursuant to a 2000 restructuring.

At December 31, 2002, the remaining restructuring accrual from the current and prior restructiring
activities amounted to $0.7 million. This balance is comprised of $0.2 million of lease exit costs resulting from
the 2002 restructuring and $0.5 million of severance to the former Caere President and CEO. The lease exit
costs and severance due to the former Caere President and CEO will be paid through January 2004 and
March 2005, respectively.

Income (Loss) from Operations

As a result of the above factors, income from operatlons was $6.6 million for 2002 compared with a loss of
($16.9) million for 2001.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest income was $0.4 million and $0.2 million for 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in interest
income from 2001 to 2002 was a result of higher cash and cash equivalent balances, which grew from
$14.3 million at December 31, 2001 to $18.9 million at December 31, 2002. Interest expense consists primarily
of interest related to the $3.5 million note resulting from the acquisition of L&H. Interest expense was
$0.4 million and $0.2 million for 2002 and 2001, respectively. Other expense in 2002 consists primarily of
foreign exchange losses of $2,000, other expenses of $42,000, partially offset by a gain on the disposal of assets
of $41,000. Other expense in 2001 consists primarily of foreign exchange losses of $0.2 million and the write-
off of an investment .of $0.2 million recorded under the cost method, which was deemed to be impaired,
partially offset by other income of $0.1 million.

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes

Income before income taxes was $6.6 million for 2002, compared with a loss of ($17.2) million for 2001.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes of $0.3 million for 2002 consisted of foreign and state tax provisions of
$1.2 million, offset by a federal tax benefit of ($0.9) million, related to a refund of taxes paid by Caere
Corporation prior to its acquisition by us. The (benefit from) income taxes of ($0.3) million for 2001
consisted of provision for income taxes of $0.4 million, for foreign and state jurisdictions for which net
operating losses were limited or for which no net operating loss carryforwards were available, offset by the
benefit from income taxes of ($0.7) million related to the reversal of amounts previously accrued for state
income taxes upon favorable completion of a state tax audit of Caere for 1996 and 1997.

Net Income (Loss)

As a result of all these factors, net income totaled $6.3 million for 2002, compared with a net loss of
($16.9) million for 2001.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of December 31, 2003, we had cash and cash equivalents of $42.6 million and working capital of
$44.3 million as compared to $18.9 million in cash and cash equivalents and working capital of $16.8 million at
December 31, 2002.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 was $5.2 million as
compared to $12.3 million for the same period in 2002. Cash provided by operations in the 2003 period came
primarily from income from operations, after adjustments for non-cash amortization and depreciation, lower
inventory balances and increases in deferred revenue, partially offset by payments of accounts payable and
accrued expenses, an increase in accounts receivable balances and an increase in prepaid expenses and other
current assets,

The increase in accounts receivable of $25.2 million at December 31, 2003, as compared to December 31,
2002, was the result of receivables added in connection with acquisitions completed during the year as well as
a significant increase in overall revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003. Historically, we have not
incurred any significant losses on our accounts receivable balances.

Net cash provided by investing activities for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 was $24.1 million
compared to cash used in investing activities of $6.0 million for the comparable period in 2002. Net cash
provided by investing activities during the 2003 period consisted of $40.0 million acquired in the SpeechWorks
acquisition, $1.1 million received from Philips in accordance with provisions in the purchase agreement and
$0.6 million due to the maturity of marketable securities, partially offset by $2.9 million in capital
expenditures, $8.5 million of payments associated with acquisitions and $6.1 million of payments associated
with an exclusive licensing agreement. Net cash used in investing activities during the 2002 period consisted of
$2.4 million in capital expenditures, which included costs to build out facilities in both North America and
Europe and $3.6 million of payments associated with acquisitions. Net cash used in investing activities during
2001 included capital expenditures of $0.9 million and $10.1 million of payments associated with acquisitions,
offset by $0.3 million in proceeds from the sale of property and equipment.

Net cash used in financing activities for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 was $5.1 million compared
to net cash used in financing activities of $1.9 million for the comparable period in 2002. Net cash used in financing
activities during 2003 consisted of the payment of $6.9 million (6.0 million euros) related to the 5.0 million euro
note payable and 1.0 million euro deferred payment due in connection with the Philips acquisition, the payment of
the. $3.3 million note related to the acquisition of certain Lernout & Hauspie assets during 2001, a $1.6 million
payment to the former Caere President and CEO in connection with the settlement of a non-competition and
consulting agreement, $2.9 million of payments to repurchase outstanding common shares and the payment of
$0.3 million related to outstanding equipment lines of credit. This was partially offset by proceeds of $5.5 million
from an underwritten offering of our common stock in the first quarter of 2003 and proceeds of $4.4 million from
the issuance of common stock in connection with employee stock compensation plans. Net cash used in financing
activities during 2002 consisted of proceeds of $2.7 million from the issuance of common stock in connection with
employee stock compensation plans and net proceeds of $5.6 million from a private placement of our common
stock. This was offset by a $0.3 million payment on a capital lease obligation, a $7.0 million payment to repurchase
shares of our common stock held by L&H, $0.6 million in payments of notes payable related to prior acquisitions
and a $2.2 million payment to the former Caere President and CEO in connection with the settlement of a non-
competition and consulting agreement.

In addition, prior to December 31, 2003, in accordance with provisions of the purchase agreement, we
agreed with Philips upon a purchase price adjustment resulting in a decrease to the total purchase
consideration. Philips is to pay us approximately $3.0 million. As of December 31, 2003, the balance was
classified as an other current asset. We received this payment on January 5, 2004.

On October 31, 2002, we entered into a two vear Loan and Security Agreement (as amended, the “Loan
Agreement”) with Silicon Valley Bank (the “Bank”) that consisted of a $10.0 million revolving loan (the
“Credit Facility””). We amended this Loan and Security Agreement, as of September 30, 2003, for the period
September 30, 2003 through December 31, 2003, removing the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant and
replacing it with an adjusted quick ratio covenant. Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at the
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Bank’s prime rate plus 0.375% or 0.75%, (4.375% at December 31, 2003) which is determined by our adjusted
quick ratio, as defined in the Loan Agreement. The maximum aggregate amount of berrowings outstanding at
any one time is limited to the lesser of $10.0 million or a borrowing base equal to either 80% or 70% of eligible
accounts receivable, as defined in the Loan Agreément, based on our adjusted quick ratio. Borrowings under
the Loan Agreement cannot exceed the borrowing base and must be repaid in the event they exceed the
calculated borrowing base or upon expiration of the two-year loan term. Borrowings under the Loan
Agreement are collateralized by substantially all of our personal property, predominantly our accounts
receivable, but not our intellectual property. We are currently renegotiating the terms of our Loan and
Security Agreement. Until these negotiations are complete, we continue to have access to the existing
$10.0 million revolving loan. During this time the Credit Facility will be subject to the terms as amended on
September 30, 2003. As of December 31, 2003, based upon the calculated. borrowing base, available
borrowings totaled approximately $8.3 million, as we had approximately $1.7 million in outstanding Letters of
Credit. -

In connection with the SpéechWorks acquisition, we eliminated 54 former SpeechWorks employees. In
connection with this action, a liability of $1.3 million, representing severance and related benefits, has been
included in the purchase ‘price allocation. As of December 31, 2003, the remaining restructuring accrual
related to SpeechWorks acquisition amounted to $0.1 million.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2003, we paid a total of $2.2 million in severance payments,
of which $0.5 million relates to the March 2002 restructuring and $0.1 million relates to severance paid to the
former-Caere President and CEQO, pursuant to a 2000 restructuring charge.

At December 31, 2003, the remaining restructuring accrual from the current and prior restructuring
activities amounted to $1.9 million. The balance is comprised of $0.3 million of lease exit costs and
$1.6 million of employee-related severance costs, of which $0.3 million are for severance to the former Caere
President and CEO, $0.1 million are for severance costs related to the 2003 Philips related restructuring
actions and $1.2 million is for severance costs related to actions taken during 2003, respectively.

The lease exit costs and severance due to the former Caere President and CEO will be paid through
January 2004 and March 2005, respectively. Severance costs related to restructuring actions undertaken
during 2003 will be paid through March 2009.

In September of 2002, we repurchased 1,461,378 shares of common stock from L&H and certain other
parties at $4.79 per share for a total consideration of $7.0 million. We also agreed to register L&H’s remaining
holdings of our common stock in an underwritten public offering. .

Our agreement to register these shares for L&H contained provisions requiring us to issue additional
shares to L&H if the registration was not completed by certain deadlines. Because we did not meet one of
those deadlines, on December 18, 2002, we issued 81,900 shares to Lernout & Hauspie Speech Products N.V.
and 68,100 shares to L&H Holdings USA, Inc. Additionally, since we did not complete the underwritten
public offering by January 1, 2003, all of the outstanding principal and accrued interest under the $3.5 million
promissory note, dated December 12, 2001, that we issued in connection with the L&H acquisition became
immediately due and payable. To fulfill this obligation, on January 3, 2003, we paid $3.3 million in full
settlement of all of the outstanding principal and accrued interest under this note. The underwritten offering of
the L&H shares was completed on February 14, 2003 and no further payments or issuances are due to L&H.

As part of the underwritten offering completed for L&H, we sold 1,000,000 shares and raised
approximately $3.8 million in gross proceeds. After. considering offering costs, the estimated net proceeds
equaled approximately $2.1 million. On March 11, 2003, the Company received approximately $3.8 million of
net proceeds from the exercise of the over-allotment option of 1,072,500 shares granted to the underwriters as
part of the underwritten offering. '

Although we generated $5.2 million of cash from operations for 2003 and exited the year with a cash
balance of $42.6 million, there can be no assurance that we will be-able to continue to generate cash from
operations or secure additional equity or debt financing if required. The large increase in our cash balance has
come primarily from the SpeechWorks acquisition. In connection with the Philips Speech Processing
Telephony. and Voice Control Business Unit acquisition we issued a $27.5 million, zero interest convertible
debenture due January 2006. Additionally, in connection with the SpeechWorks acquisition we-acquired
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certain long-term lease obligations that begin to come due in the next 12-24 months. We have sustained
recurring losses from operations in each reporting period through December 31, 2001. We have reported a net
loss of $(5.5) million and net income of $6.3 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. We had an accumulated deficit of $152.4 million at December 31, 2003. We believe that the
actions taken in connection with our acquisitions, including restructuring actions and other cost reduction
initiatives, have reduced operating expenses to levels which, in combination with expected future revenues,
will continue to generate -positive cash flow. Therefore, we believe that cash flows from future operations in
addition to cash on hand and amounts available under our line of credit will be sufficient to meet the our
working capital, investing, financing and contractual obligations, including the debt obligation issued in
connection with the Philips acquisition, and the lease obligations assumed in the SpeechWorks acquisition, as
they become due for the foreseeable future.

Contractual Obligations

The following table outlines our contractual payment obligations as of December 31, 2003:
v Payments Due by Period

Contractual Less Than 2-3 4-5 More Than
Obligations . Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
. : _ . . . (In thousands)
Convertible debenture :.......... $27,524" — $27,524 = $ -
Deferred payments for technology : :
license ............ ... ...... 5,339 2,754 2,585 = —
Operating leases . ............... 37,417 5,853 - 9,098 - 5,338 17,128
Caere acquisition related costs . . .. 409 409 — — —
Equipment line of cre(_iit ......... 1,241 . 904 337 -— —
Standby letters of credit: . ... ... .. 1,717 622 46 46 1,003
Royalty commitments ........... 1,030 T 260 620 70 80
Purchase commitments .......... 583 583 L , — —
Imputed interest . ............... 261 46 215 — —

Total contractual cash obligations $75,521 $11,431 $40,425 $5,454 $18,211

At December 31, 2003, the Company has sub-leased certain office space to third parties. Total sub-lease
income under contractual terms. is $6.4 million, which has not been reflected in the above operating lease
contractual obligations, will be received through February 2016.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

- Through December 31,'2003, we have not entered into any off balance sheet arrangerents or transactions
with unconsolidated entities or other persons.

FOREIGN OPERATIONS

Because we have international subsidiaries and distributors that operate and sell our products outside the
United States, we are exposed to the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates or declining economic
conditions in these countries. In certain circumstances, we have entered into forward exchange contracts to
hedge against foreign currency fluctuations on intercompany balances with our foreign subsidiaries. We use
these contracts to reduce our risk associated with exchange rate movements, as the gains or losses on these
contracts are intended to offset any exchange rate losses or gains on the hedged transaction. We do not engage
in foreign currency speculation. Hedges are designated and documented at the inception of the hedge and are
evaluated for effectiveness monthly. Forward exchange contracts hiedging firm commitments qualify for hedge
accounting when they are designated as a hedge of the foreign currency exposure and they are effective in
minimizing such exposure. ' ' ‘
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In connection with the-Philips-acquisition on January 30, 2003, we entered into a forward hedge in the
* amount of $5.3 million to meet our obligation to pay the.5.0. million euro promissory note (Philips Note)
issued as part of the acquisition. On August 26, 2003, we entered into a forward exchange contract to hedge
the foreign currency exposure of the 1.0 million euro note payable to Philips. As both the 5.0 million euro
promissory note and 1.0 million euro note payable to Philips were paid prior to December 31, 2003, the related
forward exchange contracts have expired. As a result of hedge effectiveness no -significant gain or loss was
incurred upon expiration of the contracts.

On November 3, 2003, we entered into a forward exchange contract to hedge our foreign currency
exposure related to 3.5 million euros of intercompany receivables from -our Belgian subsidiary. The contract
has a one year term that expires on November 1, 2004. For the year ended 2003, we recorded a net exchange
rate gain of approximately $46,000 in other comprehensive income on the intercompany receivable and
associated forward exchange contract. On November 5, 2003, we entered into a forward exchange contract to
hedge our foreign currency exposure related to 7.5 million Singapore dollars of intercompany receivables from
our Singapore subsidiary. The contract expired on January 30, 2004. For the year ended 2003, we recorded a
net exchange rate loss of approximately $1,000 in other comprehenswe income on the 1ntercornpany receivable
and assomatcd forward exchange contract.

With our mcreased international presence in a number of geographic locations ‘and with international - - e
revenues projected to increase in 2004, we are exposed to changes in foreign currencies including the euro,
Canadian dollar, Japanese yen and the Hungarian forint. Changes in the value of the euro or other foreign
currencies relative to the value of the U.S. dollar could adversely affect future revenues and operating results.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 150 (“SFAS 1507), “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies
and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS 150 was
originally effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise
effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003, however certain elements of
- SFAS No. 150 have been deferred. The adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 150, not deferred, did not
" have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations and we do not expect the adoption of
the deferred elements of SFAS No. 150 to have a material impact on its financial position or results of
operations.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149 (““SFAS 149”),
“Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS 149 amends and
clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments
embedded in other contracts (collectively referred to as derivatives), and for hedging activities under FASB
Statement No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS 149 was effective
for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and for hedging relationships designated after
June 30, 2003. The adoption.of SFAS No. 149 did not have a material impact on our current financial position
and results.of operations.

On November 25, 2002, the FASB issued FASB- Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 457), Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASE Interpretation
No. 34. FIN 45 clarifies the requirements of FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies (SFAS 5),
relating to the guarantor’s accounting for, and disclosure of, the issuance of certain types of guarantees.

FIN 45 requires that upon issuance of a guarantee, the guarantor must recognize a liability for the fair
value of the obligation it assumes under that guarantee. FIN 45 covers guarantee contracts that have any of
" the following four characteristics: {(a) contracts that contingently require the guarantor to make payments to
the guaranteed party based on changes in an underlying that is related to an asset, a liability, or an equity
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security of the guaranteed party (e.g.,-financial and market value guarantees), (b) contracts that contingently
require the guarantor to make payments to the guaranteed party based on another entity’s failure to perform
under an obligating agreement (performance guarantees), (c) indemnification agreements that contingently
require the indemnifying party. (guarantor) to make.payments-to the indemnified party (guaranteed party) _
based on changes in an underlying that is related-to-an-asset; @ liability, oF &0 equity security of the indemnified .
party, such as an adverse judgment-in a lawsuit or the.imposition of additional taxes due to either a change in
the tax law or an adverse interpretation of the tax law, and (d) indirect guarantees of the indebtedness of
others.

- FIN 45 specifically excludes certain guarantee contracts from its scope. Additionally, certain guarantees
are not subject to FIN 45’s provisions for initial recognition- and measurement but are subject to its disclosure
requirements. The initial recognition and measurement provisions are effective for guarantees issued or
modified after December 31, 2002. We have evaluated the impact of FIN 45 on our financial statements and
determined that the recognition provision did-not have an 1mpact on our ﬁnancml posmon or results of
operatlons for 2003. ‘

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated wzth Exit’or Dzsposal
Activities, or SFAS 146. This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with
exit or disposal activities and nullifies EITF Issue 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certam Employee
Termination Benefits and Other Cosis to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructur-
ing), or EITF 94-3. SFAS 146 requires that a liabil ity for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be
recognized when the liability is incurred. EITF 94-3 allowed for an exit cost liability to be recognized at the
date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. SFAS 146 also requires that liabilities recorded in connection
with exit plans be initially measured at fair value. The provisions of SFAS 146 are effective for €xit or disposal
activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, with early adoption encouraged. The adoption of
SFAS 146 did not have a material impact on our financial position or results ‘of operations.

RISK FACTORS

We operate in an intensely competitive environment and our ‘operations are subject to risks and
uncertainties. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to (1) the loss of, or a significant
curtailment of, purchases by any one or more of our principal customers; (2) the cyclical nature of the retail
software industry; (3) the inability to protect our proprietary technology and intellectual property; (4) the
inability to attract or retain skilled employees; (5) technological obsolescence of current products and the
inability to develop new products; (6) the inability to respond to competitive technology and competitive
pricing pressures; and (7) the ability to sustain product revenues upon the introduction of new products. Our
quarterly operating results may fluctuate and d1ﬁer materially from one quarter to the next, which’ could have
an impact on our stock prlce

There can be no assurance that any cash generated by operations will be sufficient to satisfy our liquidity
requirements, and we may be required to sell additional equity or debt securities, or obtain-additional lines of
credit. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities may result in additional dilution to our
stockholders. It may be difficult to sell additional equity or obtain debt financing, and this could result in
significant constraints on our ability to grow revenue and develop new products.

You should also carefully consider the additional risks descnbed below when evaluatmg our. company
The risks described below are not the ~only ones facing us. Additional risks not presently known to us or. that we
currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operatlons and financial situation. Our. business,
financial condition and results of operations could be seriously harmed by any of thesc risks.

Our quarterly operatmg results are subject to fluctuations.- and seasonaltty; If we fatl to meet the
expectations of securities analysts or investors, our shave price may decrease significantly. -Our revenue and
operating results have fluctuated in the past and may not meet the expectations of securities analysts or
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investors-in the future. If this occurs, the price of our stock would likely decline. Factors that may cause
fluctuations in our operating results include the following:

» slowing sales by our distribution and fulfillment partners to their customers, which may place
pressure on these partners to reduce purchases of our products;

» volume, timing and fulfillment of customer orders;

 customers delaying their purchase decisions in anticipation of new versions of products;
« introduction of new products by us or our competitors;

. seasonality;

* reduction in the prices of our products in response to competition or market conditions;
* returns and allowance charges in excess of recorded amounts;

+ timing of signiﬁcant. marketing and sales promotions;

» increased expenditures incurred pursuing new product or market opportunities;

« inability to adjust our operating expenses to compensate for shortfalls in revenue against forecast;
. demand for products; and ‘

. geheral economic trends as they affect retail and corporate sales.

Due to the foregoing factors, among others, our revenue and operating results are difficult to forecast. Our
expense levels are based in significant part on our expectations of future revenue. Therefore, our failure to
meet revenue expectations would seriously harm our business, operating results, financial condition and cash
flows. Further, an unanticipated decline in revenue for a particular quarter may disproportionately affect our
profitability because a relatively small amount of dur expenses are intended to vary w1th our revenue in the
short term.

We have.a history of losses We may incur losses in the future. We-sustained recurring losses from
operatlons in each reporting perlod through December 31, 2001. We reported a net loss of $(5.5) million and
net income of $6.3 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We had an
accumulated deficit of $152.4 million at December 31, 2003. If we are unable to regain profitability, the
market price for our stock may decline, perhaps substantially.

Our business could be harmed if we do not successfully manage the integration of the businesses that we
acquire, including our vecently completed acquisition of LocusDialog. As part of our business strategy, we
have in the past acquired, and expect to continue to acquire, other businesses and technologies. Our
acquisition of the speech and language technology operations of Lernout & Hauspie Speech Products N.V.
and certain of its affiliates, including L&H Holdings USA, Inc. (collectively, L&H), our acquisition of the
Speech Processing Telephony and Voice Control business units from Philips and our acquisition of
SpeechWorks International, Inc., required substantial integration and management efforts. Our recently
completed acquisition of LocusDialog, Inc., may pose similar challenges. Acquisitions of this nature involve a
number of risks, including:

+ difficulty in transitioning and integrating the operations and personnel of the aéquired businesses,
including different and complex accounting and financial reporting systems;

+ potential disruption of our ongoing business and distraction of management;

« potential difficulty in successfully implementing, upgrading and deploying in a timely and effective
manner new operational information systems and upgrades of our finance, accounting and product
distribution systems;

« difficulty in incorporating acquired technology and rights into our products and technology;
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+ unanticipated expenses and delays in completing acqunred development projects and technology
integration;

+ management of geographically remote units both in the United States and internationally;
+ impairment of relationships with partners and customers; ]

« entering markets or types of businesses in which we have limited experience; aﬁd

« potential loss of key employees of the acquired company.

As a result of these and other risks, we may not realize anticipated benefits from our acqu1smons Any
failure to achieve these benefits or failure to successfully integrate acquired businesses and technologies could
seriously harm our business.

Our operating results could be adversely affected as a result of purchase accounting treatment, and the
corresponding impact of amortization of other intangibles relating to our acquisitions completed during 2003.
Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, we have accounted for these
acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting. Under purchase accounting, we have recorded the
market value of our common stock or other form of consideration issued in connection with the acquisition
and the amount of direct transaction costs as the cost of acquiring the company or business. We have allocated
that cost to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including various identifiable intangible
assets such as acquired technology, acquired trade names and acquired customer relationships based on their
respective fair values. Intangible assets generally will be amortized over a five to ten year period. Goodwill is
not subject to amortization but is subject to at least an annual impairment analysis, which may result in an
impairment charge if the carrying value exceeds its implied fair value. As a result, purchase accounting
treatment of these acquisitions could decrease our net income in the foreseeable future, which could have a
material and adverse effect on the market value of our common stock.

A large part of our revenue is dependent on continued demand for our products from OEM partners. A
significant reduction in OEM revenue would seriously harm our business, results of operations, financial
condition and stock price. Many of our technologies are licensed to partners that incorporate our technolo-
gies into solutions that they sell to their customers. The commercial success of these licensed products
depends to a substantial degree on the efforts of these licensees in developing and marketing products
incorporating our technologies. The integration of our technologies into their products takes significant time,

effort and investment, and products incorporating our technologles may not be aucuessfuny unplemented or
marketed by our licensees.

OEM revenue represented 44% and 34% of our consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31,
2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively. A select few of our OEM partners account for a majority of our
OEM revenues. Qur partners are not required to continue to bundle or embed our software, and they may
choose the software products of our competitors in addition to, or in place of, our products. A significant
reduction in OEM revenue would seriously harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and
our stock price.

Speech technologies may not achieve widespread acceptance by businesses, which could limit our ability to
grow our speech business. The market for speech technologies is relatively new and rapidly evolving. Our
ability to increase revenue in the future depends in large measure on acceptance of speech technologies in
general and our products in particular. The continued development of the market for our current and future
speech solutions will also depend on the following factors:

* widespread deployment and acceptance of speech technologies;
» consumer demand for speech-enabled applications;
* development by third-party vendors of applications using Speech Technologies; and

« continuous improvement in speech technology.
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-Sales of our speech products would be harmed if the market for speech software does not continue to
develop or develops more slowly than we expect, and, consequently, our business could be harmed.

We have grown and may continue to grow, through acquisitions, which may result in significant intangible
assets, dilution of our existing stockholders, use of cash and other risks. During 2003, we purchased certain
businesses and intellectual property from Philips and completed the acquisitions of ‘SpeechWorks and
LocusDialog, Inc. We may acquire additional complementary assets, technologies or businesses in the future.
Our past acquisitions have given rise to, and future acquisitions may result in, substantial levels of intangible
assets that will be amortized or subject to impairment analyses in future years, and our future results will be
adversely affected if we do not achieve benefits from these acquisitions commensurate with amortization and
potential impairment charges. For example, our acquisition of Caere Corporation included a substantial write-
off of acquired in-process research and development costs, and this also may occur as a result of other
acqu1smons

In connection with the Caere, L&H, SpeechWorks and LocusDialog acquisitions, we issued 19.0 million,
7.4 million, 32.5 million and 2.3 million shares of our common stock respectively. We may continue to issue
equity securities for future acquisitions and working capital purposes that could dilute our existing stockhold-
ers. In connection with the L&H acquisition, we issued a promissory note for $3.5 million. Under the terms of
the Philips acquisition, we paid 3.1 million euros in cash at closing, subject to adjustment in accordance with
the provisions of the purchase agreement, as amended, agreed to pay an additional 1.0 million euros in cash
prior to December 31, 2003, issued a 5.0 million euro note due December 31, 2003 and bearing 5.0% interest
per annum and issued a $27.5 million three-year, zero-interest subordinated debenture, convertible at any time
at Philips’ option into shares of our common stock at $6.00 per share. In accordance with the provisions of the
agreement, we agreed to a final purchase price adjustment with Philips of approximately $4.1 million, resulting
in a correspondmg reduction in goodwﬂl We received $1.1 million of the purchase price adjustment prior to
December 31, 2003. The remaining $3.0 miltion (2.5 million euros) was received on January 5, 2004. While
we satisfied our payment obligations related to the additional 1.0 million euros and 5.0 million euro note prior
to December 31, 2003, future acquisitions may also require us to.expend significant funds or incur debt. If we
expend funds or incur additional debt, our ability to obtain financing for working capital or other purposes
could decrease.

The failure to successfully implement, upgrade and deploy in a timely and effective manner new
information systems and upgrades of our finance and accounting systems to addvess certain issues identified in
connection with our fiscal 2003 year-end audit could harm our business. In connection with its audit of our
2003 consolidated financial statements, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”), our independent auditors,
advised in a management letter to our Audit Committee of four conditions that could adversely affect our
ability to initiate, record, process and report financial data consistent with management’s assertions. These
conditions include: (i) we may lack the necessary corporate accounting resources to meet the accelerated
filing deadline requirements in 2004 mandated by the SEC, while at the same time staffing the demands of our
worldwide Oracle implementation and Sarbanes-Oxley requirements; and (ii) we have a dependence on key
personnel in our finance and accountmg organization, the loss of whom could impair our ability to perform |
timely financial reporting, especially prior to the completion of our worldwide Oracle implementation and our
readiness efforts related to our obligations under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. In addition,
we discuss the other two conditions raised by PwC later in this document (see page 90).

‘From 1997 through December 31, 2003, we have made seven significant business acquisitions. As a
result, we continue to have several financial systems in use in the company. The incompatibility between these
systems requires significant manual efforts within finance and accounting to complete our financial reporting.
Therefore, substantial knowledge of our policies and procedures and the process for initiating, recording,
processing, summarizing and reporting financial information is resident in the knowledge of personnel involved
in the ﬁnanc1al reporting process.

To i 1rnprove the efficiency and quality of our accounting and financial reporting systems, we commenced,
in the third quarter of 2003, a worldwide implementation of the Oracle e-Business suite. In addition, we have
retained a third-party consulting firm that is assisting management and staff to formalize and document our
business and financial processes' and controls in preparation for our compliance with Section 404 of the
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Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. While we believe that these actions will address the conditions raised in PwC’s
letter, we have been and will continue to be required to devote substantial resources. to these ‘activities during
2004. Failure to successfully implement these systems or formalize and document these processes and controls
in a timely, effective and efficient manner could result in the drsruptron of our operations, our inability to
comply with our Sarbanes-Oxley obligations and the inability to report our financial results in a timely
manner.

Sales of our document and PDF conversion products and our digital paper management products
represented approximately 40% and 51%, of our revenuie for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Any reduction in revenue from these product areas could seriously harm our business. Histori-
cally, a few product areas have generated a substantial' portion of our revenues. For the year ended
December 31, 2003, our document and PDF conversion products represented approximately 26% of our
revenue and our digital paper management products represented approximately 14% of our revenue. For the
year ended December 31, 2002, our document and PDF conversion products represented approximately 39%
of our revenue and our digital paper management products represented approximately 12% of our revenue. A
significant reduction in the revenue contribution from these product areas could seriously harm our business,
results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and stock price.

The protection of our proprietary technology and ‘intéllectual property is key to our success. We rely
heavily on our proprietary technology, trade secrets and other intellectual property. Unauthorized parties may
attempt to copy aspects of our products or to obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. Policing
unauthorized use of our products is difficult and we may not be ablé to. protect our technology from
unauthorized use. Addmonally, our competitors may mdependently develop technologies that are substantially
the same or superior to ours. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary
rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Although the source code for our proprietary
software is protected both as a trade secret'and as a copyrighted work, litigation may be necessary to enforce
our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets, to determine the vahdrty and scope of the
proprietary rights of others, or to defend against claims of infringement or 1nvahd1ty Litigation, regardless of
the outcome, can be very expensive and can divert managément efforts.

Third parties have claimed and may claim in the future that we are infringing their intellectual property.
We could be exposed to significant litigation or licensing expenses or be prevented from selling our products if
such claims are successful. Like other technology companies, from time to time, we are subject to claims
that we or our customers may- be infringing or contributing to the infringement of the intellectual property
rights of others. We may be unaware of intellectual property rights of others that may cover some of our
technologies and products. If it appears necessary or desirable, we may seek licenses for these intellectual
property rights, However, we may not be able to obtain licenses from some or all claimants, the terms of any
offered licenses may not be acceptable to us, and we may not be able to resolve disputes without litigation.
Any litigation regarding intellectual property could be costly and time-consuming and could divert the

- attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations. In the event of a claim of

intellectual property infringement, we may be required to enter into costly royalty or license agreements. Third
parties claiming intellectual property infringement may be able to obtain injunctive or other equitable relief
that could effectively block our ability to develop and sell our products.

_On July 135, 2003, Elliott-Davis (“Davis™) filed an action against SpeechWorks_in the United States

) Dlstnct Court for the Western District for New York (Buffalo) claiming patent ififringément. Damages are

'sought in an unspecified amount. In addition, on November 26, 2003, Davis filed an action against ScanSoft in
the United States District Court for the Western- District for New York (Buffalo) also claiming patent
infringement. Damages are sought in an unspecified amount, SpeechWorks filed an Answer and Counterclaim
to Davis’s Complaint in its case on August 25, 2003 and ScanSoft filed an Answer and Counterclaim to
Davis’s Complaint in its case on December 22, 2003. We believe these clarms have no merlt and we intend to
defend the actlons vigorously.

On November 27, 2002, AllVoice Computing plc filed an action agamst us in the Umted Statcs District
Court for the Southern District of Texas claiming patent infringemient. Damages are sought in an unspecified
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amount. We filed an Answer on December’ 23 2002. We believe this claim has no merit and we intend to
defend the action vigorously.

On Aungust 16, 2001, we were sued by Horst Froessl for patent infringement. Damages are sought in an
unspecified amount. We filed an Answer and Counterclaim on September 19, 2001 We beheve this claim has
~no merit and we intend to ‘defend the action vigorously.

. We believe that thé final outcome of the current ht1gat10n matters described above will not. have a
sngnlﬁcant adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations. However, even if our defense is
successful, the litigation could require significant management time and could be costly. Should we not prevail
in these litigation matters, our operating results, financial position and cash flows could be adversely impacted.

" The markets in which we operate are highly competitive and rapidly changing. We may be unable to
compete successfully against new entrants and established companies with greater resources. There are a
number of companies that develop or may develop products that compete in our targeted markets; however,
there is no one company that competes with us in all of our product areas. The individual markets in which we
compete are highly competitive, and are rapidly changing. Within digital capture, we compete directly with
ABBYY, LLR.L.S! and NewSoft. Within speech, we compete with AT&T, Fonix, IBM, Nuance Communica-
tions and Rhetorical. Vendors such as Adobe and Microsoft offer solutions that can be considered alternatives
to some of our solutions. In addition, a number of smaller companies produce technologies or products that are
in some markets competitive with our solutions. Current and potential competitors have established, or may
establish, cooperative relationships among themselves or with third pdrties to increase the ability of their
technologles to address the needs of our prospectlve customers.

The competition in these markets could adversely affect our operating results by reducmg the volume of
the products we sell or the prices we can charge. Some of our current or potential competitors have
significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we do. These competitors may be able
to respond more rapidly than we can to new or emerging technologies or changes in customer requirements.
They may also devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products than we do.
The price and performance -of our products and technologies may not be superior relative to the products of
our competitors. As a result, we may lose competitive position that could result in lower prices, fewer customer
orders, reduced revenue, reduced gross margins and loss of market share. Our products and technologies may
not achieve market acceptance or sell at favorable prices, which could hurt our revenue, results of operations
and the price of our common stock. Some of our customers, such as Microsoft, have developed or acquired
products or technologies that compete with our products and technologies. These customers may give higher
priority to the sale of these competitive products or technologies. To the extent they do so, market acceptance
and penetration of our products, and therefore our revenue, may be adversely affected.

Our success will depend substantially upon our ability to enhance our products and technologies and to
develop and introduce, on a timely-and cost-effective basis, new products and features that .meet changing
customer requirements and incorporate technological advancements. If we are unable to develop new products
and enhance functionalities or technologies to adapt to these changes, or are unablie to realize synergies among
our acquired products and technologles our business will suffer.

Our software products may have bugs, which could result in delayed or lost vevenue, expensive correction,
liability to our clients and claims against us. Complex software products such as ours may contain errors,
defects or bugs. Defects in the solutions or products that we develop and sell to our customers could require
expensive corrections and result in delayed or lost revenue, adverse client reaction and negative publicity about
us or our products and services. Customers who are not satisfied with any of our products could bring claims
against- us for damages, which, even-if unsuccessful, would likely be time-consuming to defend, and could
result in costly litigation and payment of damages. Such claims could harm our financial results and
competitive position.

-We rely on a small number of dzstrtbutzon and fulﬁllment partners, including 1450, Digital River, Ingram
Micro and Tech Data, to-distribute many of our products. Any disruption in these channels could harm our
_results of operations. Our products are sold through, and a substantial portion of our revenue is derived from,
a network of over 2000 channe{ partners, including value-added resellers, computer superstores, consumer
electronic stores, mail order houses, office superstores and eCommerce Web sites. We rely on-a.small number
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of distribution and fuifillment partners, including 1450, Digital River, Ingram Micro and Tech Data to serve
this network of channel partners. For the year ended December 31, 2003, two distribution and. fulfillment
partners, Ingram Micro and Digital River, accounted for 16% and 13% of our consolidated revenue,
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2002, Ingram Micro and Digital River, accounted for 25%
and 12% of our consolidated revenue, respectively. A disruption in these distribution and fulfillment partner
relationships could negatively affect our results of operations in the short term. Any disruption for which we
are unable to compensate could have a more sustamcd impact on our rcsults of operations.

A significant portion of our accounts receivable is concentrated among our three largest distribution and

Sulfillment_partners, Ingram-Micro; Inc:; Tech Data Corporation, and.- -Digital River, Inc.  Our_products are
sold through, and- a-substantial portion of our accounts receivable is derived from, three distribution and

fulfillment partners. At December 31, 2003, Ingram Micro, Tech Data and Dlgltal River represented 20%, 5%
and 5%, of our net accounts receivable, respectively. At December 31, 2002, Ingram Micro, Tech Data and
Digital River represented 8%, 5% and 5%, of our net accounts receivable, respectively. In addition, although
we perform ongoing credit evaluations of our distribution and fulfillment partners’ financial condition and
maintain reserves for potential credit losses, we do not require collateral. While, to date, such losses have been
within our expectations, we cannot assure you that these actions will be sufficient to meet future contingencies.
If any of these distribution and fulfillment partners were unable to pay us in a timely fashion or if we were to
experience significant credit losses in excess of our reserves, our results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition would be seriously harmed.

A significant portion of our revenue is devived from sales in Europe and Asia. Our results could be harmed
by economic, political, regulatory and other risks associated with these and other international regions. Since
we sell our products worldwide, our business is subject to risks associated with doing business internationalty.
We anticipate that revenue from international operations will represent an increasing portion of our total
revenue. Reported international revenue for both the years ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002
represented 28% and 27% of our consolidated revenue for those periods, respectively. Most of these
international revenues are produced by sales in Europe and Asia. A number of our OEM partners distribute
their products throughout the world and do not provide us with the geographical dispersion of their products.
However, based on an estimate that factors our OEM partners’ geographical revenue mix to our revenue
generated from these OEM partners, international revenue would have represented approximately 35% and
33% of our consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively.

Thereforc in addmon to risks to our business based on a potential downturn in the world economy, a
region-specific downturn affecting countries in Western Europc and/or Asia could have a negative effect on
our future results of operations.

In addition, some of our products are developed and manufactured outside the United States. A
significant portion of the development and manufacturing of our speech.products are completed in Belgium,
and a significant portion of our digital capture research and development is conducted in Hungary. In
connection with the Philips acquisition, we have added an additional research and development location in
Germany. In connection with the acquisition of Locus Dialog, we have added an additional research and
development location in Montreal, Canada. Qur future results could be harmed by a variety of factors
associated with international sales and operations, including:

* changes in a spec1ﬁc country’s or region’s political or economic conditions;

+ trade protection measures and import or export licensing requlrements lmposed by the United States
or by other countries;

* negative consequences from changes in applicable tax laws;
+ difficulties in staffing and managing operations in multiple locations in many countries;
» difficulties in collecting trade accounts receivable in other countriés; and

o less effective protection of intellectual property.
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We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange vates. Because we have international
subsidiaries and distributors that operate and sell our products outside the United States, we are exposed to
“the risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rates or declining economic conditions in these countries. In
certain circumstances, we have entered into forward exchange contracts to hedge against foreign currency
fluctuations on intercompany balances with our foreign subsidiaries. We use these contracts to reduce our risk
associated with exchange rate movements, as the gains or losses on these contracts are intended to offset any
exchange rate losses or gains on the hedged transaction. We do not engage in foreign currency speculation.
Hedges are designated and documented at the inception of the hedge and are evaluated for effectiveness
monthly. Forward exchange contracts hedging firm commitments qualify for hedge accounting when they are
designated as a hedge of the foreign currency exposure and they are effective in minimizing such exposure.
With our increased international presence in a number of geographic locations and with international revenues
projected to increase in 2004, we are exposed to changes in foreign currencies including the euro, Canadian
dollar, Japanese yen and the Hungarian forint. Changes in the value of the euro or other foreign currencies
relative to the value of the U.S. dollar could adversely affect future revenues and operating results.

If we are unable vo attract and retain key personnel, our business could be harmed. 1f any of our key
employees were to leave us, we could face substantial difficulty in hiring qualified successors and could
experience a loss in productivity while any successor obtains the necessary training and experience. Our
employment relationships are generally at-will and we have had key employees leave us in the past. We cannot
assure you that one -or more key employees will not leave us in the future. We intend to continue to hire
additional highly qualified personnel, including software engineers and operational personnel, but we may not
be able to attract, assimilate or retain qualified personnel in the future. Any failure to attract, integrate,
motivate and retain these employees could harm our business.

The stockholdings of our two largest stockholders may enable them to influence matters requiring
stockholder approval. As of December 31, 2003, Xerox beneficially owned approximately 14.9% of our
outstanding common stock, including warrants exercisable for up to 525,732 shares of our common stock and
3,562,238 shares of our outstanding Series B Preferred Stock, each of which is convertible into one share of
our common stock. The number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the Xerox warrant may
increase in accordance with a formula defined in the warrant agreement. The State of Wisconsin Investment
Board (SWIB) is our second largest stockholder, owning approximately 11.1% of our common stock as of
December 31, 2003. Because of their large holdings of our capital stock relative to other stockholders, Xerox
and SWIB, acting individually or together, could have a strong influence over matters requiring approval by
our stockholders..

The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be subject to wide fluctuations.
Our stock price historically has been and may continue to be volatile. Various factors contribute to the
volatility of our stock price, including, for example, quarterly variations in our financial results, new product
introductions by us or our competitors and general economic and market conditions. While we cannot predict
the individual effect that these factors may have on the market price of our common stock, these factors,
either individually or in the aggregate, could result in significant volatility in our stock price during any given
period of time. Moreover, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock often
are subject to securities class action litigation. If we were the subject of such litigation, it could result in
substantial costs and divert management’s attention and resources.

. Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure may result in
additional expenses. Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public
disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, new regulations promulgated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission and Nasdaq National Market rules, are resulting in increased general and administra-
tive expenses for companies such as ours. These new or changed laws, regulations and standards are subject to
varying interpretations in many cases, and as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new
guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies, which could result in higher costs necessitated by
ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We are committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance and public disclosure. As a result, we intend to invest resources to comply with evolving
laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative
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expenses and a diversion of management time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance
activities. If our efforts to comply with new or changed laws, regulations and standards differ from the
activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies, our business may be harmed.

We have implemented anti-takeover provisions, which could discourage or prevent a takeover, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholders. Provisions of cur amended and restated certificate of
incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if
doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders. These provisions include:

+ a preferred shares rights agreement;

*» authorized “blank check” preferred stock;

+ prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;

* limiting the ability of stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

*+ requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at meetings of our stockholders; and

*

establishing advance notice requirements for nominations of directors and for stockholder proposals.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We face exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates, as a significant portion of our
revenues, expenses, asscts, and liabilities are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar, primarily
the euro, the Canadian dollar, the Japanese yen and the Hungarian forint. These exposures may change over
time as business practices evolve. We evaluate our foreign currency exposures on an ongoing basis and make
adjustments to our foreign currency risk management program as circumstances change.

In certain instances, we have entered into forward exchange contracts to hedge against foreign currency
fluctuations. These contracts are used to reduce our risk associated with exchange rate movements, as the
gains or losses on these contracts are intended to offset the exchange rate losses or gains on the underlying
exposures. We do not engage in foreign currency speculation. The success of our foreign currency risk
management program depends upon the ability of the forward exchange contracts to offset the foreign
currency risk associated with the hedged transaction. To the extent that the amount or duration of the forward
exchange contract and hedged transaction vary, we could experience unanticipated foreign currency gains or
losses that could have a material impact on our results of operations. In addition, the failure to identify new
exposures and hedge them in a timely manner may result in material foreign currency gains and losses.

In connection with the Philips acquisition on January 30, 2003, we entered into a forward hedge in the
amount of $5.3 million to cover our obligation to pay the 5.0 million euro promissory note {Philips Note)
issued as part of the acquisition. On August 26, 2003, we entered into a forward exchange contract to hedge
the foreign currency exposure of our 1.0 million euro note payable to Philips. As both the 5.0 million euro
promissory note and 1.0 million euro note payable to Philips were paid prior to December 31, 2003, the related
forward hedge and forward exchange contract have terminated.

On November 3, 2003, we entered into a forward exchange contract to hedge our foreign currency
exposure related to 3.5 million euros of inter-company receivables from our Belgian subsidiary to the United
States. The contract has a one-year term that expires en November 1, 2004. On November 5, 2003, we
entered into a forward exchange contract to hedge our foreign currency exposure related to 7.5 million
Singapore dollars of inter-company receivables from our Singapore subsidiary to the United States. The
contract expired on January 30, 2004. '

While the contract amounts of derivative instruments provide one measure of the volume of these
transactions, they do not represent the amount of our exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
Because the terms of the derivative instrument and underlying exposure are matched generally at inception,
changes in foreign currency exchange rates should not expose us to significant losses in earnings or net cash
outflows when exposures are properly hedged.

ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
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'REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

_To the Board of Directors and
Stockholders of ScanSoft, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
~ position of ScanSoft, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits prov1de a
. reasonable basis for our opinion. :

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company
changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets.

s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP -

Boston, ‘Massachusetts
February 26, 2004
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SCANSOFT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
{In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

. December 31, - -

. e 2003 _2002
~Assets T T
Current assets: : . S . _
Cash and cash equlvalcnts ............................................ $ 42,584 $ 18,853
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $10 200 and $5,903, respectively
(NOtE 3) o e e 40,271 © 15,650
Receivables from relatcd partles (Note 27) ... 2,133 1,518
Sdmventory . L. e 427 1,241
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . ....... . .. i i ciiiia oot 9,264 3,167
Total current assets . ............uiiiieiaiiiii .. e 94,679 40,429
Goodwill ............ ... . .o [ S 243,266 63,059
Other intangible assets, net............. R e e i 54,286 33,823
Property and equipment, net.................. F P Y 6,977 2,846
Other assets .........cciiiiiiiinnnn... e Ceeee 2,732 3,533
Total aSSEtS ..\t v it i $ 401,940 $ 143,690
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
. Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . ... .. ... .. $ 7,244 $§ 7,085
Accrued COMPENSAION . ..\ttt it ettt e et 7,871 2,122
Accrued expenses (Note 8) ................ FE 13,481 7,651
Deferred revenue ...... ... ... ... ... SR 13,672 1,790
Note payable (Note 10) . ... . i e 904 C3.273
Deferred payment obligation for technology license . 2,754 =
Other current liabilities . ... ... oot e 4,448 1,666
Total current labilities .. ....... .. .o i 50,374 23,587
Deferred revenue .. ... o e 450 244
Long-term notes payable, net of current portion ......... ... ... ... . ..., 27,859 —_
Deferred tax Hability .. ... ot e 1,264 —
Other liabilities (Notes 6 and 11) . ........ ... . i 18,727 431
Total Habilities . . . oot 98,714 24,312

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 10, 12, 16, 20 and 22)
Stockholders’ equity: )
Series B preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 40,000,000 shares authorized;
3,562,238 shares issued and outstanding (liquidation preference $4,631) ... 4,631 4,631
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 140,000,000 shares authorized; 105,327,485
and 65,540,154 shares issued and 102,592,019 and 63,422,776 shares

outstanding, respectively ... ... .. 105 - 66
Additional paid-in capital ..... ... ... ... 464,350 269,858
Treasury stock, at cost (2,735,466 and 2,117,378 shares, respectively) ....... (10,925) (8,031)
Deferred compensation ........... i (1,743) {(173)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss........... .o i i i (748) 47)
Accumulated deficit. .. ... ... . . (152,444) (146,926)

Total stockholders’ equity .. .. ... i i - 303,226 119,378

Total liabilities and stockholders” equity .. ...... ... oo .. $ 401,940 $ 143,690

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SCANSOFT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Revenue, third parties. . ....... ... it i $128,681  $101,524  $ 55,509
Revenue, related parties ... ... e 6,718 5,095 7,208
Total revenuUE . .. ... e 135,399 106,619 62,717
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
— stock based compensation ... ......... ... i 1! — —
— all OtheTr EXPENSES . . . .o ettt et e e et 26,123 16,419 12,849
Cost of revenue from amortization of intangible assets ............ 10,516 9,470 14,192
Research and development
— stock based compensation . ...... ... 15 — —
~—all other expenses. .. ........ .. i 33,938 27,633 13,968
Selling, general and administrative
—stock based compensation........... ... ... .. 304 103 15
~—all other expenses. .......... .t 64,964 43,668 25,296
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets .............. 2,297 1,682 13,328
Rcstructurmg and other charges, net ................ LT 3,693 1,041 . .. —
Total costs and expenses . ..........covitii i, 141,861 100,016 79,648
Income (loss) from operations .................... ... ..., (6,462) " 6,603 (16,931)
Other income (expense):
Interest income . ... .. e 465 354 209
INterest EXPENSE. - o vttt e e (793) (369) (166)
Other (expense) INCOME, MEt. .. ..ottt ie e eanns 1,003 (1) (306)
Income (loss) before income taxes........... e (5,787) 6,587 {17,194)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes......................... (269) 254 (317)
Net income (1088) ..o iiiiiiiiieeeeenann... e $ (5518) $ 6,333  $(16,877)
Net income (loss) per share: basic. . .........veveenienaenen... $ (0.07) $ 009 § (034
Net income (loss) per share: diluted ............................. $§ (007) $§ 009 § (0.34)
Weighted average common shares outstanding: basic......... R 78,398 67,010 49,693
Weighted average common shares outstanding: diluted .............. 78,398 72,796 49,693

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SCANSOFT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

} 2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities : : . .
Netincome (1088) . ..c.oiviiniini $ (5518) $:6,333 $(16,877)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities: )
DEPIECIZON .\ .\ttt ettt et e . 2,443 2,007 1,762
Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets .. .... e 12,813 11,152 27,520
Accounts receivable allowances .................. e . 898 370 (1,102)
Gain on disposal or sale of property and cqulpmcnt .................. © (30) —_
. Non-cash portion of restructuring charges. ................. e 89 . . 113 —
Stock-based compensation............ ... ... P 330 103 15
Foreign exchange gain ........... e e ; (959) — —
Non-cash intérest EXPEMSE . ...ttt P ‘ 146 — —
Deferred tax Provision ... ........c.ouireriree e, 1,264 - —_ —
Gain on settlement of ‘acquisition hablhty ......................... - — — {1,050)
Other ... ' — — (83)
Changes in operatmg assets and liabilities, net of effects from :
acquisitions:
Accounts receivable . ... .. e e .. - (10,193) (2,921) (252)
Inventory ..ot e e IR 1,503- (456) 418
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . .............. ..o veo... 737 (1,372) 18
(0715155 1111 - . 878 (2,738). 435
Accounts payable ......... . (1,799) 532 (542)
Accrued EXpenses .. ... .ot e SR (2,166) 1,166 "(543)
Other Habilities . .......... ... o i 168 — —
Deferred revenue ................. [P e 4,561 (1,916) 653
Net cash'provided by operating activities .............. 0ol 5,195 12,343 10,372
Cash flows from investing activities , ' ,
Capital expenditures for property and equipment . ......:............. (2,898) (2,410) (943)
* Proceeds from sale of property and-equipment .. .................. L N - 42 344
Cash received (paid) for acquisitions, including transaction costs ....... 32,568 '(3,606) (10,118)
Cash expenditures for licensing agreements ............0............. (6,113) - —
Maturity of marketable securities .. ... .. 553 — —
Net change in restricted cash . ....... .. ... ... ... ... ... — — 62
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ......... S 24,110 (5,974) {10,655)
Cash flows from financing activities ' : :
Short-term bank borrowings, net ........... ... .. ....... e — — (3,400)
Payments of capital lease obligation............... ... ... ... .. ... — (320) —
Payment of note payable and deferred acquisition payments ........... (10,514) (641) —_
Purchase of treasury stock. ... i i e (2,894) (7,000) (1,031)
Payments under deferred payment agreement................. P Lo (1,640) (2,233) —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of i issuance costs ........ 5,495 5,593 15,731
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock :
Ccompensation PlANS. ... ..ottt 4,434 2,683 1,131
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities. .............. (5,119) (1,918) 12,431
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . .......... (455) 78 (395)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents. ............0............... - 23,731 4,529 11,753
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ................. el 18,853 14,324 - 2,571
$18,853 $ 14,324

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year .................... S $ 42,584

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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SCANSOFT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Presentation

ScanSoft, Inc. was incorporated as Visioneer, Inc. in March 1992 and through December 1998,
developed and sold scanner hardware and software products. On January 6, 1999, Visioneer sold the hardware
business and the Visioneer brand name to Primax Electronics, Ltd., and on March 2, 1999, Visioneer acquired
ScanSoft, in a cash election merger, from Xerox Corporation. The corporate entity “Visioneer” survived the
merger, but changed its name to “ScanSoft, Inc.” In addition, Visioneer changed the ticker symbol for its
common stock that trades on the Nasdaq National Market, to “SSFT.” On March 13, 2000, the Company
merged with Caere Corporation (“Caere”), a California-based digital imaging software company. On
December 12, 2001, the Company acquired the speech and language technologies operations of Lernout &
Hauspie Speech Products, N.V. (L&H). On January 30, 2003, the Company acquired Royal Philips
Electronics Speech Processing Telephony and Voice Control business units, and related intellectual property
(“Philips”). On August 11, 2003, the Company acquired SpeechWorks International, Inc. {(“Speech-
Works™). On December 19, 2003, the Company acquired LocusDialog, Inc. (“LocusDialog”). The acquisi-
tions of Caere, L&H, Philips, SpeechWorks and LocusDialog were accounted for under the purchase method
of accounting and, accordingly, the results of operations from the acquired businesses have been mcluded in
the Company’s financial statcments as of the acquisition dates.

When we refer to “we” or “ScanSoft” or “the Company” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we mean
the current Delaware corporatlon ScanSoft Inc including all of its consolidated sub31dlancs

2 Summary'of Si‘gniﬁcdnt‘AccOunting Policies

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted acéounting principles

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, ScanSoft
evaluates its estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition, including estimates of
costs to complete the development of custom software. applications and estimates of valuation allowances
(specifically sales returns and other allowances); the recoverability of intangible assets, inciuding goodwill;

and valuation allowances for deferred tax assets. Actual amounts could differ significantly from these.

estimates. ScanSoft bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the amounts of revenue and expenses that.are
not readily apparent from other sources. S

‘Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include -the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency, with the exception of
the Company’s subsidiary in Budapest, Hungary for which the functional currency is the U.S. dollar. Assets
and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars
at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expense items are translated using -the
average exchange rates for the period. Net unrealized gains and losses resulting from foreign currency
translation are included in other compréhensive income (loss), which is a separate component of stockholders’
equity, except for Budapest for which foreign currency translation adjustments are recorded in other income
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SCANSOFT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(expense). Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in results of operations. The Company
reported in other income, net foreign currency transaction gains and other translation gains of $1.2 million, and
$0.2 million for the years ended 2003 and 2001, respectively. Forelgn currency transaction and other
transaction gains and losses were insignificant in 2002.

Foreign Currency Risk Management

In'certain circumstances, the Company enters into forward exchange contracts to hedge against foreign
currency fluctuations. These contracts are used to reduce the Company’s risk associated with exchange rate
movements, as the gains or losses on these contracts are intended to offset the exchange rate losses or gains on
the underlying exposures. The Company does not engage in foreign currency speculation. Hedges of
underlying exposures are designated and documented at the inception of the hedge and are evaluated for
effectiveness monthly. Forward exchange contracts representing cash flow hedges qualify for hedge accounting
when they are designated as a hedge of the foreign currency exposure and they are effective in minimizing
such exposure. Gains and losses on forward exchange contracts that qualify for hedge accounting are
recognized as other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders equity, along with the associated losses and
gains on the hedged item. As the terms of the forward exchange contract and underlying exposure are
matched generally at inception, hedging effectiveness is calculated by comparing the change in fair value of
the contract to the change in fair value of the underlying exposure. To date the Company has not incurred any
significant gains or losses associated with hedge ineffectiveness.

On January 30, 2003, the Company entered into a forward exchange contract to hedge the foreign
currency exposure of its 5.0 million euro note payable to Philips (Note 23). The contract and the note payable
each had a term that expired on December 31, 2003. On August 26, 2003, the Company entered into a
forward exchange contract to hedge the foreign currency exposure of its 1.0 million euro payable to Philips.
The contract and the payable each had a term that expired on December 31, 2003. Prior to December 31,
2003, the Company made payments to Phlhps in satisfaction of these obligations and the related forward
hedges were also terminated.

On November 3, 2003, the Company entered into a forward exchange contract to hedge its foreign
currency exposure related to 3.5 million euros of an intercompany receivable from its Belgian subsidiary. The
contract has a one year term that expires on November 1, 2004. As of December 31, 2003, the Company has
recorded a net exchange rate gain of approximately $46,000 in other comprehensive income on the
intercompany receivable and associated forward exchange contract.

On November 5, 2003, the Company entered into a forward exchange contract to hedge its foreign
currency exposure related to 7.5 million Singapore dollars of an intercompany receivable from its Singapore
subsidiary. The contract expired on January 30, 2004. As of December 31, 2003, the Company has recorded a
net exchange rate loss of approximately $1,000 in other comprehensive income on the intercompany receivable
and associated forward exchange contract.

During 2003, $0.1 million was amortized to other income (expense) related to the premiums paid on the
above hedge instruments.

Revenue Recogmtlon

The Company recogmzcs revenue in accordance with Statement of Pos1t1on 97-2, Software Revenue
Recognition (“SOP 97-2”), as amended by Statement of Position 98-9, and the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements. Revenue
from the sale of licenses to end users, value-added resellers and system integrators to use the Company’s
software - products is recognized upon delivery, provided that the arrangement does not require significant
modification or customization of the software, any services included in the arrangement are not considered
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SCANSOFT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

essential to the functionality of the software, evidence of the arrangement exists, the fees are fixed or
determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Sales of the Company’s software products through certain distributors and value-added resellers provide
rights of return for as long as the distributors or resellers hold the inventory. As a result, the Company
recognizes revenues from sales to these distributors and resellers only when the distributors or resellers have
sold products to retailers and end-users. Title and risk of loss pass to the distributor or reseller upon shipment,
at which time the transaction is invoiced and payment is due. Based on reports from distributors and resellers
of their inventory balances at the end of each period, the Company records an allowance against accounts
receivable for the sales price of all inventories subject to return. If the Company experiences significant returns
from.distributors or resellers, the Company’s liquidity may be adversely impacted. The Company also makes
an estimate of sales returns by retailers or end users directly or through its distributors or resellers based on
historical returns experience. The provision for these estimated returns is recorded as a reduction of revenue at
the time that the related revenue is recorded. If actual returns differ significantly from its estimates,, such
differences could have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations for the period in which the
actual returns become known.

Revenue from royalties on sales of the Company’s products by OEMs to third parties, where no services
are included, is typically recognized upon delivery to the third party when such information is available, or
when the Company is notified by the OEM that such royalties are due as a result of a sale, provided that all
other revenue recognition criteria are met.

When the Company provides professional services such as custom application development or other
services considered essential to the functionality of the software for a fixed fee, it recognizes revenue from the
fees for such services and any related software licenses as it completes the project using the percentage-of-
completion method in accordance with Statement of Position §1-1 (SOP 81-1), Accounting for Performance
of Construction-Type and Certain Performance-Type Contracts. The Company generally determines the
percentage-of-completion by comparing the labor hours it has incurred to date to the estimate of the total
labor hours required to complete the project based on regular discussions with its project managers. This
method is used because the Company considers expended labor hours to be the most reliable, available
measure of progress on these projects. Adjustments to contract estimates are made in the periods in which
facts resulting in a change become known. When the estimate indicates that a loss will be incurred, such loss is
recorded in the period identified. Significant judgments and estimates are involved in determining the percent
complete of each contract. Different assumptions could yield materially different results.

Other professional services not considered essential to the functionality of the software are limited and
primarily include training and feasibility studies. When the Company provides services on a time and
materials basis, it recognizes revenue as it performs the services based on actual time incurred.

When the Company provides software support and maintenance services, it recognizes the revenue
ratably over the term of the related contracts, typically one year.

The Company may sell, under one contract or related contracts, software licenses, custom software
applications and other services considered essential to the functionality of the software and a maintenance and
support arrangement. The total contract value is attributed first to the maintenance and support arrangement
based on its fair value. The remainder of the total contract value is then attributed to the software license and
related professional services, which are typically recognized as revenue using the percentage-of-completion
" method. As a result, discounts inherent in the total contract value are attributed to the software license and
related professional services. The Company may sell, under one contract or related contracts, software
licenses, a maintenance and support arrangement and professional services not considered essential to the
functionality of the software. In those arrangements, the total contract value is attributed first to the
undelivered elements of maintenance and support and professional  services based on their fair values.
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SCANSOFT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The remainder of the contract value is attributed to the software licenses, which are typically recognized as
revenue upon delivery, provided all other revenue recognition criteria are met. As a result, discounts inherent
in the total contract value are attributed to the software licenses.

The Company follows the guidance of Emerging Issues Task Force issue No. 01-09, Accounting for
Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products (“EITF 01-09”), in
determining whether consideration, including equity instruments, given to a customer should be recorded as an
operating expense or a reduction of revenue recognized from that same customer. Consideration given to a
customer is recorded as a reduction of revenue unless both of the following conditions are met: '

» The Company receives an identifiable benefit in exchange for the consideration, and the identified
benefit is sufficiently separable from the customer’s purchase of the Company’s products and services
such that the Company could have purchased the products from a third party, and

» The Company can reasonably estimate the fair value of the benefit received.

If both of the conditions are met, the Company records consideration paid to customers as an expense.
Consideration, including equity instruments, not meeting the above criteria, is recorded as a reduction of
revenue, to the extent the Company has recorded cumulative revenue from the customer or. reseller. The
impact resulted in a $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $1.1 million reduction in total revenue and a corresponding
reduction of selling, general and administrative expense for the years ended 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company records reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses as revenue, with offsetting
costs recorded as cost of revenue. Out-of-pocket expenses generally include, but are not limited to, expenses
related to airfare, hotel stays and out-of-town meals.

Costs of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of material and fulfillment costs, third-party royalties, salaries for
product support personnel, and engineering costs, including third party contractor costs, associated with
contracts which are accounted for under the percentage of completion method of accounting.

Costs of Revenue from Amortization of Intangible Assets

Cost of revenue from amortization of intangible assets includes the amortization of acquired patents and
core and completed technology.
Stock based compensation

Stock based compensation expenses result from non-cash charges for common shares issued with exercise
or purchase prices that are less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid instruments with original maturities of 90 days or less at
the date of acquisition. The Company invests primarily in commercial paper and money market funds.
Accounts Receivable

The Company establishes reserves against its accounts receivable for potential credit losses when it
determines receivables are at risk for collection based upon the length of time the receivables are outstanding
as well as various other criteria. Receivables are written off against these reserves in the period they are
determined to be uncollectible.
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SCANSOFT, INC.,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost (determined on a first-in, first-out basis) or market value.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the related lease
or the useful life, if shorter. The cost and related accumulated depreciation of sold or retired assets are
removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in operations. Repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed as incurred.

Long-lived and Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The Company has significant long-lived tangible and intangible assets, including goodwill, which are
susceptible to valuation adjustments as a result of changes in various factors or conditions. The most
significant long-lived tangible and intangible assets are fixed assets, patents and core technology, completed
technology and trademarks which are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives. The values of intangible assets, with the exception of goodwill, were initially determined by a risk-
adjusted, discounted cash flow approach. The Company assesses the potential impairment of identifiable
intangible assets and fixed assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. Factors it considers important, which could trigger an impairment of such assets,
include the following:

+ Significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;

+ Significant changes in the manner of or use of the acquired assets or the strategy for the Company’s
overall business;

*» Significant negative industry or economic trends;
* Significant decline in the Company’s stock price for a sustained period; and
» A decline in the Company’s market capitalization below net book value.

Future adverse changes in these or other unforeseeable factors could result in an impairment charge that
would impact future results of operations and financial position in the reporting period identified.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets or SFAS 142, SFAS 142 requires, among other things, the discontinu-
ance of goodwill amortization. The standard also includes provisions for the assessment of the useful lives of
existing recognized intangible assets and the identification of reporting units for purposes of assessing potential
future impairments of goodwill. The Company has assessed the useful lives of its existing intangible assets,
other than goodwill, and believes that estimated useful lives remain appropriate. In addition, the Company has
determined that it operates in one reporting unit. As a result, the Company uses the stock price of its common
stock to determine fair value for its initial impairment test. Based on this, the Company performed the annual
assessment during the fourth quarter of 2003 and determined that goodwill was not impaired; therefore no
impairment charge was recorded. The Company completes goodwill impairment analyses at least annually, or
more frequently when events and circumstances occur indicating that the recorded goodwill might be
impaired. ‘ '

The values of intangible assets, which represent assets acquired in a business combination or an
acquisition or the license of technology, are generally valued based on an income approach method of
valuation. The income approach requires a projection of revenues and expenses specifically attributed to the
intangible assets. The discounted cash flow method is then applied to the potential income streams after
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making necessary adjustments with respect to such factors as the wasting nature of the identifiable intangible
assets and the allowance of a fair return on the net tangible assets and other intangible assets employed.

Significant judgments and estimates are involved in determining the useful lives of intangible assets,
determining what reporting units exist and assessing when events or circumstances would require an interim
impairment analysis of goodwill or other long-lived assets to be performed. Changes in events or circum-
stances, including but not limited to technological advances or competition which could result in shorter useful
lives, additional reporting units which may require alternative methods of estimating fair value, or economic or
market conditions which miay affect previous assumptions and estimates, could have a significant impact on
the Company’s results of operations or financial position - through accelerated amortlzatlon expense or
impairment charges (See Notes 5 and 6)

Research and Development Costs

~ Costs incurred in the research -and development of new, software products and enhancements to existing
products, other than certain software development costs that qualify for capitalization, are expensed as -
incurred. Software devclopment costs incurred subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility,’
but prior to the general release of the product, are capitalized and amortized to cost of revenue over the
estimated useful life of the related products. In the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, costs
ehglble for capitalization were not material.

Legal Expenses Incurred to Defend Patents

The Company capitalizes external legal costs incurred in the defense of its patents if the Company
believes that the future economic benefit of the patent will-be increased. The Company monitors the legal
costs incurred and the anticipated outcome of the legal action and, if changes in the anticipated outcome
occur, writes off capitalized costs, if any, in the period- the change is determmed As of December 31, 2003
cap1ta11zed patent defense costs. have been immaterial.

Capitalization. of Internal Use Software Costs

The Company capitalizes development costs of software for internal use required to be capitalized
pursuant to Statement of Position No. 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or
Obtained for Internal Use”. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had capitalized costs related to internal
financial and human resource management systems which have been included in construction in process as the
assets had not been placed into use. ‘

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement
and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which the differences are
expected to reverse. A valuation allowance against deferred tax assets is recorded if, based on the weight of
available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The
Company does not provide for U.S. income taxes on the undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries,
which the Company considers to be permanent investments.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss),
which includes current period foreign currency translation adjustments and gains related to derivatives
reported as cash flow hedges. For the purposes of comprehensive loss disclosures, the Company does not
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record tax provisions or benefits for the net changes in the foreign currency translation adjustment, as the
Company intends to permanently reinvest undistributed earnings in its foreign subsidiaries.

Concentration of Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company. to significant concentrations of credit risk
consist principally of cash, cash equivalents, and trade accounts receivable. The Company places its cash and
cash equivalents with financial institutions with high credit ratings. The Company performs ongoing credit
evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and does not require collateral, since management does not
anticipate nonperformance of payment. The Company also mainfains reserves for potential credit losses and
‘such losses have been within management’s expectations. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, no
customer represented greater than 10% of the Company’s net accounts receivable balance.

Fair Value Disclosures of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments include cash equivalerits, accounts receivable, and long-term notes payable and are
carried in the financial statements at amounts that approximate their fair value as of December 31, 2003 and
2002. .

Adverti&ing Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are classified as selling, general and administrative costs.
The Company incurred advertising costs of $2.3 million, $3.0 million and $2.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss). per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) avallable to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Basic net income
per share for the year ended December 31, 2002 -includes the assumed conversion of the Series B Preferred
Stock, which participates in dividends with common stock when and if declared. Diluted net income (loss) per
share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding for the period plus potential dilutive common equivalent shares, which
include, when dilutive, outstanding stock options, warrants, unvested shares of restricted stock using the
treasury stock method and the convertible debenture using the as. converted method. All potential dilutive
common shares are excluded from the computation of net loss per share for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2001 because they are antidilutive.
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The following is a reconciliation of the shares used in the computation of basic and diluted net income
{loss) per share (in thousands except per share amounts)

Year Ended
2003 2002 2001
Net income (loss) B $(5,518) $ 6,333  $(16,877)
Basic: - '
Weighted average common shares outstanding ............. 78,398 63,448 49,693
Assumed conversion of Series B Preferred Stock ........... - 3,562 —
Weighted average common shares: , ~
basic.......... T e 78,398 67,010 49,693
Net income (loss) per share:
basic ... P $ (007) $ 009 § (0.34)
Effect of dilutive common equivalent shares:
~ Stock options ... ... P P e - 5,223 —
Convertible debenture........... B .. — —_ —
Warrants .......... SR e e e C— 468 o —
Unvested restricted stock ... ...t L — 95 —
Weighted avel.'age‘ common shares: '
diluted .............. [P 78,398 72,796 49,693
Nef income (loss) per share: | C ‘ ‘
diluted ....... e P $ (0.L07) $.009 § (0.34)

For the year ended December 31, 2002, stock options to purchase 1,039,955 shares of common stock were
~ outstanding but were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per share because the options’
exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the Company’s common stock for the year.
Additionally, stock options to purchase 6,070,164 and 5,080,343 shares of common stock-were not included in
the calculation of diluted net loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2001, respectively,
because they were antidilutive.

shares, convertible debt and- warrants at December 31,-2003 and 2001 were 14,463,449 and 11 ,755,150,
respectively. These potential common shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share
as' their inclusion would have been antidilutive for the period presented.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation -

The Company accounts for stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method as
prescribed in Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “dccounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” and related interpretations. The Company follows the disclosure provisions of Statement of
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” . Deferred compen-
sation is recorded for restricted stock granted to employees based on the fair value of the Company’s common
stock at the date of grant and is amortized over the period in which the restrictions lapse. All stock-based
awards' to non-employees are accounted for at their fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 123 and related
interpretations. : :
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- Had compensation expense for the Company’s stock-based compensation plans been determined based
on fair market value at the grant dates, as prescribed by SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net loss and pro forma
net income (loss) and net (income) loss and pro forma net income (loss) per share would have been as
follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended Decembher 31,

2003 2002 " 2001

Net income (loss) —as reported .................... e, $ (5,518). 8.6,333 . $(16,877) . .. -
Add back: Stock-based compensanon included in net mcome

“(loss),asreported. .. ... oot 330 103 S 15
Deduct: Total stock based employee compensation expense

determined under the fair value-based-method ............ (10,299)  (9,320) (5,035)
Netloss—proforma............coiiiiiiiiiiininnnnoin. $(15,487) $(2,884) $(21,897)
Net income (loss) per share — as reported: basic and diluted $ (0.07) $§ 009 $ (034
Net loss per share — pro forma: basic and diluted .. ......... $ .(020) $ (0.04) $ (0.44)

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following assumptions: expected volatility of 80% for 2003 and 2002 and 130% for
2001, risk-free interest rate of 1.59% to 3.68% for options granted in 2003, 2.26% to 4.33% for options granted
in 2002, and 3.66% to 4.97% for options granted in 2001, and a weighted average expected option term of
3.5 years for 2003 and 2002 and 5 years for 2001. The Company has not paid dividends to date and assumed no
dividend yield.

The weighted-average grant date fair value per share of options granted was $2.58, $3 12 and $1.92 for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

For the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, the fair value of each purchase right was estimated at the
beginning of the offering period using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions
used in 2003, 2002 and 2001: expected volatility of 80% for 2003 and 2002, and 133% to 168% for 2001; risk-
free interest rate of 1.05% to 1.65% for 2003, 1.65% to 3.36% for 2002 and 3.41% to 5.04% for 2001,
respectively; and expected lives of six months for all three years. The Company has not paid dividends and
assumed no dividend yield. The weighted-average fair value of all purchase rights granted in 2003, 2002 and
2001 were $1.72, $1.49 and $1.04, respectively.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 150 (“SFAS 150”), “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies
and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS 150 was
originally. effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise
effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 13, 2003, however certain elements of
SFAS No. 150 have been deferred. The adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 150, not deferred, did not
have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations and the Company does not
expect the adoption of the deferred elements of SFAS No. 150 to have a material impact on its financial
position or results of operations. 3

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149 (“SFAS 149™),
“Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS 149 amends and
clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments
embedded in other contracts (collectively referred to as derivatives), and for hedging activities under FASB
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Statement No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS 149 was effective
for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and for hedging relationships designated after
June 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have a material impact on the Company s current
financial position and its results of operations.

On December 31, 2002, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 148 (SFAS 148), Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, amending FASB Statement No. 123 (SFAS 123),
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. This Statement amends'SFAS 123 to provide alternative methods
of transition for an entity that voluntarily changes to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure provisions of that Statement to require prominent
disclosure about the effects on reported net income of an entity’s accounting policy decisions with respect to
stock-based employee. compensation. Finally, SFAS 148 amends APB Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial
Reporting, to require disclosure about those effects in interim financial information. For entities that
voluntarily change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation, the
transition provisions are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. For all other companies, the
disclosure provisions and the amendment to APB No. 28 are effective for interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2002. SFAS 148 did not have any effect on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations -or cash flows as the Company has elected to continue to follow the recognition provisions of
APB No. 25.

On November 25, 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation
No. 34. FIN 45 clarifies the requirements of FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies (SFAS 5),
relating to the guarantor’s accounting for, and disclosure of, the issuance of certain types of guarantees.

FIN 45 requires that upon issuance of a guarantee, the guarantor must recognize a liability for the fair
value of the -obligation it assumes under that guarantee. FIN 45 covers guarantee contracts that have any of
the following four characteristics: (a) contracts that contingently require the guarantor to make payments to
the guaranteed party based on changes in an underlying that is related to an asset, a liability, or an equity
security of the guaranteed party (e.g., financial and market value guarantees), (b) contracts that contingently
require the guarantor to make payments to the guaranteed party based on another entity’s failure to perform
under an obligating agreement (performance guarantees), (¢) indemnification agreements that contingently
require the indemnifying party (guarantor) to make payments to the indemnified party (guaranteed party)
based on changes in an underlying that is related to an asset, a liability, or an equity security of the indemnified
party, such as an adverse judgment in a lawsuit or the imposition of additional taxes due to either a change in

- the tax law or an adverse interpretation of the tax law, and (d) 1nd1rect guarantees of the indebtedness of
others. = =

FIN 45 specifically excludes certain guarantee contracts from 1ts scope. Additionally, certain guarantees
are not subject to FIN 45°s provisions for initial rccogmtlon and measurement but are subjcct to its disclosure
requirements. The initial recognition and measurement provisions are effective for guarantees issued or
modified after December 31, 2002. The Company has evaluated the impact of FIN 45 on its financial
statements and determined that the recognition provxs1on did not have an 1mpact on the financial position or
results of operations for 2003. ‘ :

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities, or SFAS 146. This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with
exit or disposal activities and nullifies EITF Issue 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee
Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructur-
ing}, or EITF 94-3. SFAS 146 requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be
recognized when the liability is incurred. EITF 94-3 allowed for an exit cost liability to be recognized at the
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date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. SFAS 146 also requires that liabilities recorded in connection
with exit plans be initially measured at fair value. The provisions of SFAS 146 are effective for exit or disposal
activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, with early adoption encouraged. The adoption of
SFAS 146 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

3. Accounts Receivable

- Accounts receivable consist of the following:

December 31, -

2003 2002
. . (in thousands)
Accounts receivable . .. .. $ 41,066 $20,653
Unbilled accounts receivable ................coiiiniinninnenninnn. 9,405 900
| 50,471 21,553

Less— allowances . ... i .. (10,200)  (5,903)
’ o ‘ ‘ $ 40,271  $15,650

Unbiiled accounts receivable relate primarily to revenues carned under royalty-based arrangements for
which billing occurs in the month following receipt of the royalty report and to revenues earned under
percentage of completion contracts that have not yet. been billed based on the terms of the specific
arrangement.

4. Inventory

Inventory consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 - 2002
Raw materials .. ;... ... .. ..., PR . e $— § 26
Finished g00dS. . ..o\ \orei e P 427 1215

$427  §1,241

5. Goodwill

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142 (SFAS 142), “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS 142 addresses financial
accounting and reporting for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets, including how goodwill and other
intangible assets should be accounted for after they have been initially recognized. SFAS 142 provides that
goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives not be amortized but rather be tested at least
annually for impairment; intangible assets with finite useful lives will continue to be amortized over their
useful lives. ' ‘ '

The Company adopted SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002 and discontinued the amortization of goodwill
(including acquired workforce) of approximately $65.2 million. Upon adoption, the Company reclassified
$31,000 of previously amortizable acquired workforce to goodwill. The Company had previously been
recording amortization expense on goodwill and acquired workforce of $10.4 million annually or $2.6 million
per quarter. '

Under SFAS 142, the Company is required to complete an annual impairment test on all goodwill on a
reporting unit basis. A reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating
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segment referred to as a component. A component of an operating segment is a reporting unit if the
component constitutes a business and discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by
management. The Company determined that it operates in one reporting unit and, therefore, has completed
the goodwill impairment test on an enterprise-wide basis.

The fair value of the reporting unit was determined using the Company’s market capitalization as of
November 30, 2003. As the fair value of the reporting unit as of November 30, 2003 was in excess of the
carrying amount of the net assets, the Company concluded that its goodwill was not impaired, and no
impairment charge was recorded. No further analysis was required under SFAS 142.

The following summary reflects the consolidated results of operations as if SFAS 142 had been adopted
as of January 1, 2001, ratber than January 1, 2002 (in thousands, except net lncome (loss) per share

amounts):
Year Ended December 31,
o 2003 2002 2001
Net income (loss):
Reported net income (10SS) .. ..o vvrer e, $(5,518) $6,333  $(16,877)
Effect of goodwill amortization, net of tax.................. — — 10,387
Adjusted net income (10SS) .. ... ..ot $(5,518) $6,333 § (6,490)
o " Basic net income (loss) per-share:- § : )
Reported basic net income (loss) per share ................ $ (0.07) $0.09 § (0.34)
Effect of goodwill amortization, net of tax.................. —_ = 21
‘Adjusted basic net income (loss) per share................. $ (0.07) $0.09 § (0.13)
Diluted net income (loss) per share:
-Reported diluted- net income (loss) per share . .. .. A $ (007) $009 § (0.34)
Effect of goodwill amortization, net of tax.................. — — 21

Adjusted diluted net income (loss) per share ............... $ (0.07) $009 § (0.13)
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6. Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands): :
Gross Carrying  Accumulated . Net Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount

December 31, 2003 - '

Patents and core technology. ... .........oooven.n.. $ 55,607  $28,652 $26,955

Completed technology ..ot eeieeeennnn. 30,681 - 18528 12,153,

Tradenames and trademarks ...................... 6,471 2,474 3,997
, Non—competitioh agreement......... SN L 4,058 4,052 6

Acquired favorable lease. . .............. ... ... ... 553 553 —

Customer relationships . ....... ... ... ... . .. 13,538 2,363 11,175

Other .............. T 200 200 —
' $111,108 $56,822  $54,286

December 31, 2002

‘Patents and core technology....................... $ 50,090 $20,331 $29,759
Completed technology . .........cooviiivininnn.. 16,340 - 16,340 —
Tradenames and trademarks ...................... 5,501 1,725 3,776
Non-competition agreement. . . . ... e .. 4,048 4,048 , —
Acquired favorable lease.......................... : 553 553 S =
Customer relationships ... .............ccoooie... ~ 1,100 812 288

L6111 S S S ' 200 200 —
| $ 77,832 $44009  $33,823

On-March 31, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement that 'greints an exclusive license to the
Company to resell, in certain geographies worldwide, certain productivity applications. The period of
exclusivity expires after seven years, unless terminated earlier as permitted under the agreement. Total
consideration to be paid by the Company for the license was $13.0 million. On June 30, 2003, the terms and
conditions of the agreement were amended, resulting in a $1.2 million reduction in the license fee. The initial
payment of $6.4 million due on or before June 30, 2003 was paid in accordance with the terms of the license
agreement. The two remaining payments totaling $5.6 million including interest of $0.4 million will be paid as
follows: $2.8 million on March 31, 2004 and $2.8 million on March 31, 2005.

Based on the net present value of the deferred payments due in 2004 and 2005, using an interest rate of
7.0%, the Company recorded $!1.4 million as completed technology, which will be amortized to cost of
revenue based on the greater of (a) the ratio of current gross revenue to total current and expected future
revenues for the products or (b) the straight-line basis over the period of expected use, five years. The
$0.6 million difference between the stated payment amounts and the net present value of the payments, will be
charged to interest expense over the payment period. As of December 31, 2003, payments due on or before
June 30, 2004, and the remaining balance due, have been classified as deferred payment for technology license
and other liabilities, long-term respectively.

On March 34, 2003, the Company acquired certain intellectual property assets related to multimodal
speech technology, in exchange for $0.1 million in cash and the issuance of a warrant for common stock valued
at $0.1 million (Note 12). The purchase price was recorded as completed technology and will be amortized
over three years.
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Aggregate amortization expense was $12.8 million ($10.5 million included in cost of revenue) for the

year ended December 31, 2003. Estimated amortization expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years as
of December 31, 2003 is as follows (in thousands):

Selling,
Cost of General and
Year Ending : Revenue Admini§trat.ive Total
2004 . $10,847  $ 2,834 $13,681
2008 e 6,446 2,505 8,951
2006 . . 5,366 2,265 7,631
2007 . 5,351 2,133 7,484
2008 .. 3,500 1,885 5,385
Thereafter .. .........oooiiiiii L _T1.599 3,555 11,154
Total ....... e e $39,109 $15,177 $54,286
7. Property and Equipment 4
Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):
‘ - | Useful Life December 31,

‘ {In Years) 2003 2002
Computers, software and equipment ....... e 3 $ 10,346 $ 7,650
Leasehold improvements . ......................... S 2-4 2,693 1,315
Furniture and fixtures ...... ... ... .. . ... _3 2,095 443
Construction in process ........ P P A — 857 9

15,991 9417
Accumulated depreciation . . ... ... (9,014)  (6,571)

$ 6977 $ 2846

Depreciation expense, associated with property and equipment, for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 was $2.4 million, $2.0 million, and $1.8 million, respectively. Construction in process is related
to the capitalization.of internal costs associated with financial and human resource management systems.

In January 2002, the Company entered into a one-year capital lease agreement for certain equipment.
Total payments during the year were $0.3 million. No further obligation existed as of December 31, 2002.
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8. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the folloWing (in thousands): '
December 31,

2003 2002
Accrued sales and marketing incentives .............. ... . ... . . ... $ 2,540 ‘ $1,802
Accrued restructuring and other charges............ ... ... .. oo 1,861 665
Accrued royalties . ......... .. e S - 510 238
Accrued professional fees ... .. ... . PR 1,735 472
Accrued acquisition Habilities ... ................coiiiiiii . e 143 1,437
Accrued transaction Costs ......... ..t e 834 217
Accrued other. . ... ot P 5,858 2,820

$13481  $7,651

9. Restructuring and Other Charges

In January 2002, the Company announced, and in March 2002 completed, a restructuring plan to
consolidate facilities, worldwide sales organjzations, research and development teams and other personnel
following the December 12, 2001 L&H acquisition. As a result, the Company exited facilities in both North
America and Europe, eliminating 21 employee positions, including 12 in reseai¢h and development and 9 in
selling, general and administrative functions. In the first quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a
restructuring charge in the amount of $0.6 miliion for severance payments to these employees, and a
restructuring charge of $0.4 million for certain termination fees to be incurred as a result of exiting the
facilities, including the write-off of previously recorded assembled workforce of $0.1 million.

In connection with the Philips acquisition (Note 23), the Company eliminated 25 ScanSoft personnel
across all functional areas, resulting in a charge of approximately $0.5 million in severance-related restructur-
ing costs in the three month period ended March 31, 2003.

During the three months ended June 30, 2003, the Company committed to a plan to transfer certain
research and development activities currently located at its corporate headquarters to Budapest resulting in the
elimination of 21 employees. The Company recorded a restructuring charge in the amount of $0.4 million for
severance payments to these employees. In addition, the Company recorded a charge in the amount of
$0.4 million for severance payments to a former member of the senjor managcment team

During the three months ended September 30, 2003, the Company ehmlnated 81 ScanSoft employees as
a result of the SpeechWorks acquisition across all functional areas, resulting in charges of $1.9 million for
severance costs, representing the ratable recognition of expenses through the period ended December 31,
2003. Certain of these employees had termination dates after December 31, 2003 and, as required by SFAS
112, the Company recorded severance expense ratably from the date the plan was announced through the
termination date.

During 2003, the Company accrued $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, related to certain facility
restructuring efforts taken at our corporate headquarters and the closing of certain ScanSoft offices as a result
of the SpeechWorks acquisition and related expenses.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2003, the Company paid a total of $2.2 million in severance
payments, of which $0.5 million relates to the March 2002 restructuring and $0.1 million relates to severance
paid to the former Caere President and CEOQ, pursuant to a 2000 restructuring charge.
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At December 31, 2003, the remaining restructuring accrual from the current and prior restructuring
activities amounted to $1.9 million. The balance is comprised of $0.3 million of lease exit costs and
$1.6 million of employee-related severance costs, of which $0.3 million are for severance to the former Caere
President and CEO, $0.1 million are for severance costs related to the 2003 Philips related restructuring
actions and $0.2 million and $1.0 million are for severance costs related to actions taken during the quarters
ended June 30, 2003 and September 30, 2003, respectively. '

The lease exit costs and severance due to the former Caere President and CEO will be paid through
January 2004 and March 2005, respectively. Severance costs related to restructuring actions undertaken
during the three month period ended June 30, 2003 will be paid through March 2009. Severance costs related
to employee termination actions undertaken during the three month period ended September 30, 2003 will be
paid through September 2004.

The following table sets forth the 2003, 2002 and 2001 restructuring and other charges accrual activity (in .
thousands):

. Employee If}?iste Asset
Restructuring and Other Charges Accrual i Related Costs Impairment Total
Balance at December 31,2000.....:.............. $1,428 § 50 $ — $ 1,478
Cash payments........ P L . e ' (794 ~ (50) (844)
Balance at December 31, 2001. .. .. TP o - 634 — — 634
Restructuring and other charges for March 2002 : ‘

TeStructuring .. ... 576 465 — 1,041
Non-cash write-off . ... ... R (113) C— (113)
Cash payments . ..., . (764)  (133) (897)
Balance at December 31, 2002. ................... 446 219 — 665
Restructuring and other charges........ J 3,267 337 89 3,693
Non-cash write-off . . ......... ... .. ... . oL — ~ (89) (89)
Cash payments . ... ...o. it (2,161)  (247) C— (2,408)

Balance at December 31,2003.................... $1,552  § 309 $§ — $ 1,861

10. Debt and Credit Facilities
C‘rfdit Facility

‘On October 31, 2002, the Company entered into a two year Loan and Security Agreement (as amended,
the “Loan Agreement”) with Silicon Valley Bank (the “Bank™) that consisted of a $10.0 million revolving
loan. (the “Credit Facility”). The Company amended this Loan and Security Agreement, as of September 30,
2003, for the period September 30, 2003 through December 31, 2003, removing the fixed charge coverage
ratio covenant and replacing it with an adjusted quick ratio covenant. Borrowings under the Credit Facility
bear interest at the Bank’s prime rate plus 0.375% or 0.75%, (4.375% at December 31, 2003) which is
determined by the Company’s adjusted quick ratio, as defined in the Loan Agreement. The maximum
aggregate amount of borrowings outstanding at any one time is limited to the lesser of $10.0 million or a
borrowing base equal to either 80% or 70% of eligible accounts receivable, as defined in the Loan Agreement,
based on the Company’s adjusted quick ratio. Borrowings under the Loan Agreement cannot exceed the
borrowing base and must be repaid in the event they exceed the caleulated borrowing base or upon expiration
of the two-year loan term. Borrowings under the Loan Agreement are collateralized by substantially all of the
Company’s personal property, predominantly its accounts receivable, but not its intellectual property.
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The Company is currently renegotiating the terms of its Loan and Security Agreement. Until these
negotiations are complete, the Company continues to have access to the existing $10.0 million revolving loan.
During this time the Credit Facility will be subject to the. terms as amended on September 30, 2003.

The Loan Agreement also contains a restrictive covenant regarding the payment or declaration of any
dividends on the Company’s capital stock during the term of the agreement (except for dividends payable
solely in capital stock) without the Bank’s pI‘lOI’ written consent. As of December 31, 2003, the Company was
in comphance with all covenants.

As of December 31, 2003, based upon the calculated borrowing base, available borrowings totaled
approximately $8.3 million, as the Company had approximately $1.7 million:in outstanding Letters of Credit.
The Company can make no guarantees as to its ability to satisfy its future financial covenant calculations. As
of December 31, 2003, there was no outstanding balance under this Credit Facility.

Equipment Line of Credit

In connection with the acquisition of SpeechWorks, the Company assumed $1.5 million of principal
amounts outstanding under a one-year equipment line-of-credit with a bank which expired on June .30, 2003.
As of December 31, 2003, a balance of $1.3 million remains outstanding. Borrowings under this line are
collateralized by the fixed assets purchased and bear interest at the bank’s prime rate (4.0% at December 31,

. 2003), which is payable in equal monthly payments over a period of 36 months. In accordance with: the terms
of the equipment line of credit, as of December 31, 2003, principal payments of $0.9 million are due during the
year ending December 31, 2004, $0.3 million are due during the year ending December 31, 2005 and
$0.1 million are due during the year ended December 31, 2006. Under the financing agreement, the Company
is obligated to comply with certain financial covenants related to total tangible net assets and was in
compliance as of December 31, 2003. :

Notes Payable

In connection with the L&H acquisition, the Company issued a $3.5 million promissory note (the
“Note”) to Lernout & Hauspie Speech Products, N.V. The Note had a stated maturity date of December 15,
2004 and bore interest at 9% per annum. Payments of principal and interest in the amount of $133,000 were
due quarterly commencing on March 15, 2002, for a total of eleven payments. During the year ended
December 31, 2002, four quarterly payments were made in accordance with the terms of the promissory note.

In connection with an agreement entered into by the Company in September 2002 to repurchase 1,461,378
shares of common stock from L&H Holdings USA, Inc. and Lernout & Hauspie Speech Products N.V.
(collectively, “L&H”) and. to register in an underwritten offering the remaining shares held by L&H, the
terms of the Note were amended to provide for the acceleration,of the maturity date of the outstanding
principal and interest to January {, 2003 if consummation of the underwritten public offering did not occur by
- January 1, 2003. The Company did not complete the offering by January 1, 2003 and, accordingly, the debt
became immediately due and payable. To fulfill this obligation, on January 3, 2003, the Company paid. . -——- ——
~ $3.3.million. in full settlement Of all outstandmg principal and accrued interest under the Note. - o

In connectlon w1th the Phlhps acquisition. on January 30 2003 the Company 1ssued a 5.0 million euro
promissory note (the “Philips Note™) to Philips. The unsecured Philips Note matured on December 31, 2003
and bore interest at 5% per annum. Payments of principal and accrued interest were due at maturity. In
connection with the issuance of the Philips Note, the Company entered into a forward foreign currency
exchange contract on January 31, 2003 to hedge the foreign exchange exposure on the Philips Note. As of
December 31, 2003, the Company had paid Philips in full satisfaction of the Philips Note.
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Convertible Debenture

" On’ January 30, 2003, the Company issued a $27.5 million three-year, zero-interest convertible

" subordinated debenture due January 2006 (the “Convertible Note””) to Philips in connection with the Philips

acquisition (Note 23). The Convertible Note is convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock at

$6.00 per share at any time until maturity at Philips’ option. The conversion rate may be subject to

adjustments from time to time as provided in the Convertible Note. The Convertible Note contains a provision
in which all amounts unpaid at maturity will bear interest at a rate of 3% per quarter until paid.

The Convertible Note contains covenants that place restrictions on the declaration or payment of
dividends or distributions (other than distributions of equity securities of the Company) on, or the redemption
or purchase of, any shares of the Company’s capital stock while the Convertible Note is outstanding. This
restriction terminates when one-half or more of the principal amount of the Convertible Note is converted by
Philips into common stock. The Convertible Note contains a provision which provides Philips the right to
require the Company to redeem the Convertible Note or any remaining portion of the principal amount, on the
date a “Change in Control” occurs. The Convertible Note provides that a “Change in Control” is deemed to
have eccurred when any person or entity acquires beneficial ownership of shares of capital stock of the
Company entitling such person or entity to exercise 40% or more of the total voting power of all shares of
capital stock of the Company, or the Company sells all or substantially all of its assets, subject to certain
exceptions. The Company’s acquisition of SpeechWorks (Note 22) did not result in a Change in Control.

11. Other Liabilities

_Other liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2003 2002
Facilities operating lease obligations. .. .......................... $15,820 $ —
Deferred payments for technology license (Note 6) ............... 2,585 —
Caere acquisition related costs .......... ... it ‘ —_ 409
Other . 322 72
$18,727 $481

In connection with the acquisition of SpeechWorks (Note 22), the Company assumed lease obligations
including leases extending through September 2004 related to the former corporate offices of SpeechWorks,
leases related to two office locations vacated during 2003 which extend through 2010 and 2016, respectively,
and a lease associated with office space which will become available beginning in January 2005. As of
December 31, 2003, the Company has $0.9 million, $4.9 million and $10.0 million of remaining lease
obligations in long-term liabilities related to these leases, respectively.

12. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 40,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per
share. The Company has designated 100,000 shares as Series A Preferred Stock and 15,000,000 as Series B
Preferred Stock. In connection with the acquisition of ScanSoft (see Note 1), the Company issued 3,562,238
shares of Series B Preferred Stock to Xerox Corporation (“Xerox”). The. Series ‘B Preferred Stock is
convertible into shares of common stock on a one-for-one basis. The Series B Preferred Stock has a liquidation
preference of $1.30 per share plus all declared-but-unpaid dividends. The Series B Preferred Stock holders are
entitled to non-cumulative dividends at the rate of $0.05 per annum per share, payable when, as and if
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declared by the Board of Directors. To date no dividends have been declared by the Board of Directors.
Holders of Series B Preferred Stock have no voting rights, except those rights provided under Delaware law.
The undesignated shares of preferred stock will have rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including
voting rights, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and-liquidation preferences; as shall'be —
“determined by the Board of Directors upon issuance of the preferred stock. The- Company-has reserved
- 3,562,238 shares of ifs common stock for issuance upon conversion of the SCI‘ICS B Preferred Stock.

Common Stock Warrants

In connection with the ScanSoft acquisition (Note 1), the Company issued Xerox a ten-year warrant that
allows Xerox to acquire a number of shares of common stock equal to the number of stock options (whether
vested or unvested) that remains unexercised at the expiration of any ScanSoft stock option assumed by the
Company in the merger. The exercise price for each warrant share is $0.61. If all of the assumed ScanSoft
options expire without being exercised, Xerox would be entitled to purchase 1,736,630 shares of common
stock. From the date of acquisition through December 31, 2003, 525,732 ScanSoft options have been forfeited
and accordingly, the Xerox warrant at December 31, 2003 was exercisable for the purchase of 525,732 shares
of the Company’s common stock.

In connection with the March 31, 2003 acquisition of the certain intellectual property assets related to
multimodal speech technology (Note 6), the Company issued a warrant, expiring October 31, 2005, for the
purchase of 78,000 shares of ScanSoft common stock at an exercise price of $8.10 per share. The warrant was
immediately exercisable and was valued at $0.1 million based upon the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following assumptions: expected volatility of 80%, a risk-free rate of 1.87%, an expected term of 2.5
years, no dividends and a stock price of $4.57 based on the Company’s stock price at the time of issuance.

In connection with the SpeechWorks acquisition (Note 22), the Company issued a warrant to its
investment banker, expiring on August 11, 2009, for the purchase of 150,000 shares of ScanSoft common
stock at an exercise price of $3.98 per share. The warrant does not become exercisable until August 11, 2005
and was valued at $0.2 million based upon the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions: expected volatility of 60%, a-risk-free interest rate of 4.03%, an expected term of 8 years, no
dividends and a stock price of $3.92 based on the Company’s stock price at the time of issuance.

In connection with the acquisition of SpeechWorks, the Company assumed the remaining outstanding
warrants issued by SpeechWorks to America Online (“AOL”) to purchase up to 219,421 shares, as converted,
of common stock in connection with a long-term marketing arrangement. The warrant is currently exercisable
at a price of $14.49 per share and expires on June 30, 2007. The value of the warrant was insignificant.

On December 17, 2003, pursuant to a letter agreement, dated October 17, 2003, the Company issued a
warrant to a former employee of SpeechWorks, expiring December 17, 2004, for the purchase of 11,180 shares
of its common stock at an exercise price of $7.70 per share, and 2,552 shares of its common stock at an
exercise price of $5.64 per share. The warrant was valued at approximately $18,000 based upon the Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: expected volatility of 80%, a risk-free interest
rate of 1.63%, an expected term of 1 year, no dividends and a stock price of $5.62 based on the Company’s
stock price at the time of issuance.

Stock Repurchase

During 2001, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 2 million shares of common stock
for a period of one year ending on August 22, 2002. Purchases were made in the open market and in privately
negotiated transactions. Repurchased shares are available for issuance under-employee stock plans or in the
ordinary course of business. During the year ended December 31, 2001 the Company repurchased 656,000
shares of common stock at a cost of $1.0 million. No other shares were repurchased under the program.
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‘In September of 2002, the Company repurchased 1,461,378 shares of common stock from L&H Holdings
USA, Inc. and Lernout & Hauspie Speech Products N.V. (collectively, L&H) and certain. other parties at
$4.79 per share for a total consideration of $7.0 million. The price per share was based on the greater of $4.79
or the twenty day trading average beginning August 14, 2002, which was $4.67. These shares represented a
portion of the common shares that were issued to L&H in connection with the December 12, 2001 acquisition
of certain -of L.&H’s-speech and language technology operations and the March 21, 2002 acqulsmon of the
AudioMining assets of L&H Holdings USA, Inc. '

On August 6, 2003, the Company’s board of directors authorized the repurchase of up to $25 million of
the Company’s common stock over the next 12 months, however, the Company may suspend or discontinue
the repurchase program at any time. From August 6, 2003 through December 31, 2003, the Company
repurchased 618,088 common shares at a purchase price of $2.9 million; the Company records treasury stock
at cost. The Company intends to use the repurchased shares for its employee stock plans and for potential
future acqulsmons

Acquzsmon of Speech Works International, Inc.

On August 11, 2003, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of SpeechWorks (Note 22). In
connection with the acquisition of SpeechWorks, the Company exchanged 0.860 of a share of its common
stock for each outstanding share of SpeechWorks stock. This transaction resulted in the issuance of

“approximately 32.5 millioni shares of common stock, representing approx1rnately 33% of the outstanding
common stock of the Company after the completlon of the acquxsmon

Acquisition of LocusDialog, Inc. -

On December 19, 2003, the Company acquired all of the outstandmg shares of Loculealog, Inc
(Note 21). In connection with the acqulsmon of LocusDialog, the Company issued approximately 2.3 million
shares of its common stock.

Underwritten Public Offering

During the three months ended March 31, 2003, the Company completed an underwritten public oﬁ”ermg
of 8,256,906 shares of the Company’s common stock at $3.80 per share. Of the total shares sold, 6,184,406
shares were sold on behalf of Lernout & Hauspie Speech Products N.V. and L&H Holdings USA, Inc. The
Company sold 2,072,500 common shares and received gross proceeds of $7.9 million. After considering
offering costs of $2.4 million, the net proceeds to the Company amounted to approximately $5.5 million.

Other

On April 12, 2002, the Company completed a private placement of 1.0 miillion shares of common stock at
a purchase price of $6.00 per share with SF Capital Partners Ltd. (“SF Capital”), resulting in proceeds, net of
issudnce costs, of $5.6 million. In purchasing these shares, SF Capital was provided with certain registration
rights which required that the shares be registered no later than August 10, 2002, The shares held by SF
Capital were registered on February 14, 2003, however no penalty for late registration was enforced.

In connection with the agreement to repurchase 1,461,378 shares of common stock from L&H Holdings
USA, Inc. and Lernout & Hauspie Speech Products N.V. (collectively, L&H) entered into by the Company
in September 2002; the Company agreed to issue an additional 150,000 shares of its common stock to L&H if
it did not complete an underwritten public offering of the shares held by L&H by December 15, 2002. The
Company further agreed to issue an additional 150,000 shares of its common stock to L&H if it did not
complete an underwritten public offering by February 15, 2003. The Company also would be required to issue
an additional 100,000 shares of its common stock to L&H if, by February 15, 2003, it failed to file a
registration statement to register the shares remaining unsold. The value ascribed to the potential right to
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acquire additional shares of the Company’s common stock was valued at $0.3 million using a probability-
weighted, Black-Scholes valuation model and recorded as a credit to additional paid-in capital, with a
corresponding reduction in additional paid-in capital because the Company has an accumulated deficit.
Accordingly, the right had no net effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. The
Company completed the: public offering on February 14, 2003. Because the offering was not completed by
December 15, 2002, the Company issued L&H 150,000 shares of common stock on December 18, 2002.

13. Restricted Common Stock

On August 11, 2003, the Company issued 300,000 shares of restricted common stock to the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer. Unvested restricted shares may not be sold, transferred or assigned. Of these
restricted common shares, 100,000 vest on each of August 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006. Except as otherwise
specified in the restricted stock agreement, in the event that the executive’s employment with the Company
terminates, any unvested shares of the restricted stock shall be forfeited and revert to the Company. The
purchase price of the shares equaled the par value of the shares, aggregating $300. The difference between the
purchase price and the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of issue based on the listed
exchange price of $1.2 million has been recorded as deferred compensation and additional paid-in-capital. The
deferred compensation is being recognized as compensation expense ratably over the vesting period resulting
in $0.2 million of stock compensation expense during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.

In connection with the SpeechWorks acquisition (Note 22), the Company issued 184,850 shares of

restricted common stock in replacement of previously outstanding SpeechWorks. unvested restricted common ——-———

stock. Unvested restricted common stock may not be sold, transferred or assigned and are subject to forfeiture
in the event an employee ceases to be employed by the Company: The restricted common stock vests no later

than March 25, 2007. Deferred compensation of $0:7 million was recorded associated with the issuance.of . v

these restricted shares which is equat to the closing price of ScanSoft common stock on. the acquisition: date.
The deferred compensation is being recognized as compensation expense ratably over the vesting period
resulting in $0.1 million of stock compensation expense during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.

During 2001, the Company awarded 133,824 shares of restricted common stock to senior executives at a
weighted average fair value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date of $2.72 resulting in deferred
compensation of $291,000. Restrictions lapse over a period of 2 to 4 years depending on the grant. The
restricted stock awards entitle the participant to full dividend and voting rights. Unvested shares are restricted
as to disposition and subject to forfeiture under certain circumstances. Deferred compensation expense is
amortized to compensation expense over the period that the restrictions lapse. The deferred compensation is
being recognized as compensation expense ratably over the vesting period resulting in $0.1 million of stock
compensation expense during fiscal years 2003 and 2002.

14. Stock Compensation Plans
Stock Option and Award Plans

The Company has several stock-based compensation plans under which employees, officers, directors and
consultants may be granted stock awards or options to purchase the Company’s common stock generally at the
fair market value on the date of grant. Plans do not allow for options to be granted at below fair market value
nor can they be re-priced at anytime. Options become exercisable over various periods, typically two to four
years and have a maximum term of 10 years. At December 31, 2003, 22,423,477 shares were authorized for
grant under the Company’s stock-based compensation plans, of which 4,557,845 were available for future
grant. To date, all stock options have been granted with exercise prices equal to or greater than the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
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The following table summarizes activity under all stock option and award plans and for optlons granted

outside the plans:

Balance at December 31, 2000 .................................
“Options granted ... ... .o ei e
Options exercised ... ...t
Options canceled ., . ... e P

Balance at December 31,2001 .................. e
Options granted . ...t e
Options exercised .. .. ..ottt
Options canceled ............. B

Balance at December 31,2002 .. R A

Options granted ..................... ... e
Options exercised . . ........... i [P
Options canceled ... ... ... e

Balance at December 31,‘ 2003 ......... .. e

Stock options to purchase 9,600,859, 8,389,293 and 6,502,668 shares of common stock were exercisable

as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about stock 0pt10ns outstanding under the Company s stock

compensanon plans at December 31, 2003:

Options Outstanding
Weighted

Weighted

Number of Average
Shares Exercise Price

12,365,652 $2.49
3,891,021 $2.39
(527,582) $1.96
(2,511,922) $3.27
13,217,169 $2.33
4,965,913 $5.43
(1,362,299) $1.83
(1,675,076) $4.03
15,145,707 $3.20
6,122,250 $4.57
(2,422,484) $1.61
_(999,841) $4.34

17,845,632 $3.82

Options Exercisable

Average Weighted

Exercise Shares Remaining Average Shares

Price Range Outstanding Life in Years Exercise Price Exercisable
$0.41 - $1.28 1,333,033 6.83 $1.10 1,175,957
'$1.31 - $1.63 2,963,882 6.48 $1.38 2,906,798
$1.66 - $3.26 1,452,132 6.03 $2.69 1,222,882
$3.30 - $4.01 2,863,329 7.82 $3.86 453,091
$4.03 - $4.30 1,882,172 7.23 $4.24 1,225,575
$4.31 - $4.31 1,795,850 9.62 $4.31 ‘ —
$4.38 - $5.36 2,447,564 8.09 $3.17 1,714,396
$5.38 - $5.93 1,790,404 9.12 $5.74 208,185
$5.94 - $7.50 1,314,266 7.79 $6.88 692,788
$8.74 - $8.74 3,000 8.42 $8.74 1,187
$0.41 - $8.74 17,845,632 7.66 $3.82 9,600,859

1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s 1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated on August 11, 2003,
authorizes the issuance of a maximum of 1,500,000 shares of common stock in semi-annual offerings to
employees at a price equal to the lower of 85% of the closing price on the applicable offering commencement
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date or 85% of the closing price on the applicable offering termination date. The Company issued 163,837,
87,185 and 95,952 shares of common stock under this plan during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001 respectively.

15, Comprehensive Income (loss)

Total comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes, was ($6.2) million, $6.8. million and ($17.3) million for
"the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively. Total comprehensive income
(loss) consisted of net income or loss and foreign currency translation adjustments for the respective periods.

16. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

The Company has various operating leases for office space around the world. In connection with the
acquisition of SpeechWorks, ScanSoft assumed all of SpeechWorks’ lease obligations. Among these
obligations are lease payments related to two office locations vacated during 2003 by SpeechWorks and one
associated with office space which will become available beginning in January 2005, Gross lease payments
associated with these office locations amounting to $10.5 million and $13.6 million, respectively, have been
included in the table below. These obligations extend through 2016. The following table outlines the
Company’s future minimum payments under operating leases as of December 31, 2003 (in thousands):

Year Ending

December 31,

2004 e e e e e e e e $ 5,853
200 e e e e e 5,031
2000 L e e e e e e e e 4,067
2007 e e e e e 2,797
2008 e e e e 2,541
0173 (21§ (=) OSSP 17,128
3 71 O $37,417

At December 31, 2003, the Company has sub-leased certain office space to third parties. Total sub-lease
income under contractual terms is $6.4 million, which has not been reflected in the above operating lease
contractual obligations, will be received through February 2016.

Total rent expense under operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 200! was
$4.0 million, $1.8 million and $0.8 million, respectively.

Litigation and Other Claims

Like many companies in the software industry, the Company has from time to time been notified of
claims that it may be infringing certain intellectual property rights of others. These claims have been referred
to counsel, and they are in various stages of evaluation and negotiation. If it appears necessary or desirable, the
Company may seek licenses for these intellectual property rights. There is no assurance that licenses will be
offered by all claimants, that the terms of any offered licenses will be acceptable to the Company or that in all
cases the dispute will be resolved without litigation, which may be time consuming and expensive, and may
result in injunctive relief or the payment of damages by the Company.

From time to time, the Company receives information concerning possible infringement by third parties
of the Company’s intellectual property rights, whether developed, purchased or licensed by the Company. In
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response to any such circumstance, the Company has counsel investigate the matter thoroughly and the
Company takes all appropriate action to defend its rights in these matters.

On July 15, 2003, Elliott Davis (“Davis™) filed an action against SpeechWorks in the United States
District Court for the Western District for New York (Buffalo) claiming patent infringement. Damages are
sought in an unspecified amount. In the lawsuit, Davis alleges that SpeechWorks is infringing United States
Patent No. 4,802,231 entitled “Pattern Recognition Error Reduction System” (the ““231 Patent”). The *231
Patent generally discloses techniques for a pattern recognition system and method wherein errors are reduced
by creating independent error templates that correspond to patterns that tend to be erroneously matched and
linked error templates that are linked to specified reference templates that are stored for comparison. In
addition, on November 26, 2003, Davis filed an action against the Company in the United States District
Court for the Western District for New York (Buffalo) claiming that the Company infringed the '231 Patent.
Damages are sought in an unspecified amount. Although ScanSoft has, both prior to and as a result of the
SpeechWorks acquisition, several products in the speech recognition technology field, ScanSoft believes that
the products do not infringe the "231 Patent because neither the Company nor SpeechWorks use the claimed
techniques. SpeechWorks filed an Answer and Counterclaim to Davis’s Complaint in its case on August 25,
2003 and the Company filed an Answer and Counterclaim to Davis’s Complaint in its case on December 22,
2003. The Company believes Davis’s claims have no merit and intends to defend the actions vigorously.

On November 27, 2002, AllVoice Computing plc filed an action against the Company in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of Texas claiming patent infringement. In the lawsuit, AllVoice
alleges that the Company is infringing United States Patent No. 5,799,273 entitled “Automated Proofreading
Using Interface Linking Recognized Words to Their Audio Data While Text Is Being Changed” (the
273 Patent”). The ’273 Patent generally discloses techniques for manipulating audio data associated with
text generated by a speech recognition engine. Although the Company has several products in the speech
recognition technology field, the Company believes that its products do not infringe the *273 Patent because, in
addition to other defensés, they do not use the claimed techniques. Damages are sought in an unspecified
amount. The Company filed an Answer on December 23, 2002. The Company believes this claim has no merit
and intends to defend the action vigorously. On December 28, 2001, the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology and Electronics For Imaging, Inc. sued the Company in the United States District Court for the
Eastern District of Texas for patent infringement. That action has been resolved for an immaterial amount and
the Company was dismissed from the action on December 12, 2003.

On August 16, 2001, Horst Froessl sued the Company in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California for patent infringement. In his lawsuit, Froess! alleges that the Company is
infringing United States Patent No. 4,553,261 entitled “Document and Data Handling and Retrieval System”
(the “7261 Patent”). Froess! alleges that the '261 Patent discloses a system for receiving and optically
scanning documents, converting selected segments of the digitalized scan data into machine code, and storing
and retrieving the documents and the digitalized and converted segments. Although the Company has several
products in the scanning technology field, the Company has asserted that its products do not infringe the
261 Patent because its products do not contain all elements of the structure required by the claimed invention
and because its products do not perform all of the steps required by the claimed method. Further, the
Company believes there may be prior art that would render the "261 Patent invalid. The °261 Patent expired on
May 31, 2003. Damages are sought in an unspecified amount. The Company filed an Answer and
Counterclaim on September 19, 2001. The Company believes this claim has no merit and intends to defend
the action vigorously. '

The Company believes that the final outcome of the current litigation matters described above will not
have a significant adverse effect on its financial position and results of operations. However, even if the
Company’s defense is successful, the litigation could require significant management time and will be costly.
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Should the Company not prevail in these litigation matters, its operating results, financial position and cash
flows could be adversely impacted.

Guarantees and Other

The Company currently includes indemnification provisions in the contracts.it enters with its-custemers
and business partners. Generally, these provisions require the Company to defend claims arising out of its
products’ infringement of third-party intellectual property rights, breach of contractual obligations and/or
unlawful or otherwise culpable conduct on its part. The indemnity obligations imposed by these provisions
generally cover damages, costs and attorneys’ fees arising out of such claims. In most, but not all, cases, the
Company’s total liability under such provisions is limited to either the value of the contract or a specified,
agreed upon, amount. In some cases its total liability under such provisions is unlimited. In many, but not ali,
cases, the term of the indemnity provision is perpetual. While the maximum potential amount of future
payments the Company could be required to make under all the indemnification provisions in its contracts
with customers and business partaers is unlimited, it believes that the estimated fair value of these provisions
is minimal due to the low frequency with which these provisions have been triggered.

The Company has entered into agreements to indemnify its directors and officers to the fullest extent
authorized or permitted under applicable law. These agreements, among other things, provide for the
indemnification of its directors and officers for expenses, judgments, fines, penalties and settlement amounts
incurred by any such person in his or her capacity as a director or officer of the company, whether or not such
person is acting or serving in any such capacity at the time any liability or expense is incurred for which
indemnification can be provided under the agreements. In accordance with the terms of the SpeechWorks
merger agreement, the Company is required to indemnify the former members of the SpeechWorks board of
directors, on similar terms as described above, for a period of five years from the acquisition date. As a result,
the Company recorded a liability related to the fair value of the obligation of $1.0 million in connection with
the purchase accounting for the acquisition. Additionally in accordance with the terms of the merger
agreement, the Company purchased a director and officer insurance policy related to this obligation for a
period of three years from the date of acquisition. ' ’

In accordance with the provisions of FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others, the following table represents the deferred revenue activity related to the Company’s obligations under
maintenance and support contracts for the yearended December 31, 2003 (in thousands):

Beginning balance as of January 1,2003 .......... . ... ... i e $1,396
. Additions due to acquisitions. . ...... ... ... i i R 2,459
Additions due to new billings during 2003 . .......... ... ... ..., P 5,485
Maintenance revenue recognized during the 2003 ....... .. ... ... ... . .. (5,284)
Ending balance as of December 31, 2003 T .. 54,056

Deferred maintenance as of December 31, 2002 was insignificant.

17. 401(k) Savings Plan

The Company has established a retirement savings plan under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue
Code (the “401(k) Plan”). The 401(k) Plan covers substantially all employees of the Company who meet
minimum age and service requirements, and allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensa-
tion on a pre-tax basis. Through October 15, 2002, the Company matched an employee’s contributions dollar
for dollar up to 4%. During the period from October 16, 2002 through June 30, 2003, this match was
discontinued. Effective July 1, 2003, Company match of employee’s contributions was reinstated, dollar for
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_dollar up to 2%. Employees are 100% vested into the plan as soon as they start to contribute to the plan. The
Company’s contributions to the 401 (k) Plan totaled $0.2 million, $0.6 million and $0.4 million for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

18. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

During the years ended December 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company made cash payments for interest
totaling $0.4 million, $0.3 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

During the years ended December 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company made cash payments for income
taxes totaling $1.0 million, $0.6 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

During December 2003, the Company issued 2,328,638 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at
$12.4 million in connection with the acquisition of LocusDialog.

During August 2003, in connection with the SpeechWorks acquisition (Note 22), the Company issued a
warrant to its investment banker for the purchase of 150,000 shares of ScanSoft common stock valued at
$0.2 miltion.

During March 2003, in connection with the acquisition of certain intellectual property assets related to
multimodal speech technology (Note 6), the Company issued a warrant for the purchase of 78,000 shares of
ScanSoft common stock valued at $0.1 million.

During January 2003, the Company issued a $27.5 million three-year, zero-interest convertible subordi-
nated debenture due January 2006 (the “Convertible Note”) to Philips in connection with the Phlhps
acqulsltlon (Note 23) valued a $27.5 million.

During December 2002 thc Company issued 150,000 shares of common stock valued at $0.3 million in
connection with the agreement to repurchase 1,461,378 shares of common stock from L&H (Note 25).

During March 2002, the Company issued 121,359 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at
$0.6 million in connection with a purchase agreement associated with the Audiomining assets of L&H. In
addition, the Company issued a 9% promissory note in the principal amount of $0.4 million.

During January 2002, the Company issued 65,100 shares of its common stock in partial settlement of a
$1.0 million liability incurred as part of the Caere acquisition. The common stock was valued at $0.3 million
bascd on the fair value of the common stock on December 21, 2001, the date the agreement was reached.

Durmg January 2002, the Company acquired $0.3 million of equipment through a one-year capital lease
arrangement.

During December 2001, the Company issued 262,200 shares of its common stock in partial settlement of
a $2.1 miliion liability assumed in connection with the Caere acquisition. The common stock was valued at
$0.7 million based on the fair value of the common.stock on the date agreement was reached.

During December 2001, the Company issued 7.4 million shares of the Company’s common stock valued
at $27.8 million, a 9% promissory note in the principal amount of $3.5 million in connection with the L&H
acquisition (Note 25)
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19. Segment and Geographic Information

The Company operates in a single segment. The following table presents total revenue information by
geographic area and principal product line (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

B . e , 2003 2002 . 2001
North America .................. e P L. $96908 $ 77,540 - $49,266
Other foreign countries. .............. e 38,491 29,079 13,451
Total ... e $135399  $106,619  $62,717

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Digital Capture .. ..ottt $ 57471 $ 62,454  $60,966
Speech ..o . 77,928 44,165 1,751
Total . . e $135,399  $106,619  $62,717

Revenue classification above is based on the country in which the sale originates or is invoiced. Revenue
in other countries predominately relates to sales to customers in Europe and Asia. Intercompany sales are
insignificant as products sold in other countries are sourced within Europe or the United States.

A number of the Company’s North American OEM customers distribute its products throughout the
world but because these customers do not provide the geographic dispersion of products sales, the Company
recorded the revenue in the North America category.

Two distribution and fulfillment partners, Ingfam Micro and Digital River, accounted for 16% and 13%,
25% and 12% and 28% and 15% of the Company’s consohdated revenue for the years ended 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. -

~ The following table summarizes the Company’s long-lived assets, including intangible assets and
goodwill, by geographic location (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2002
North America........... e $280,840  $1,992
Other foreign COUntries .. ... .ottt et ei e 26,421 1,951

$307,261  $3,943
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20. Income Taxes

The components of the income tax provision (benefit) are as follows (in thousands):
' Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Current
Federal ..... ... ... $(1,534) $(900) $ (16)
Foreign.................. e (49) 907 277
SHALE ettt 50 247 (578)
$(1,533) $ 254 $(317)

Deferred
Federal ... ..o $108 § — §$§ —
FOTIgn . ot e (20) — —
N 75 PP 201 — —
$124 $§ 0 $ ©
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ................ ... ... .... $ (269) $ 254  $(317)

The benefits for federal income taxes in 2003 and 2002 and the benefit for state income taxes in 2001
relate to refunds related to Caere Corporation.

The deferred income tax provision includes a $1.2 million provision to increase the deferred tax valuation
allowance. A portion of the deferred tax liabilities are created by taxable temporary differences related to
certain goodwill for which the period the differences will reverse is indefinite. Following the adoption of SFAS
No. 142, taxable temporary differences creating deferred tax liabilities as a result of different treatment of
goodwill for book and tax purposes can not offset deductible temporary differences that create deferred tax
assets in determining the valuation allowance. As a result, a deferred tax provision is required to increase the
Company’s valuation allowance. The deferred tax provision in 2003 includes $0.4 million related to 2002.

. For financial reporting purposes, income (loss) before income taxes includes the following components
(in thousands): S T o e
Year Ended December 31,

: » 2003 2002 2001
North America «.......o.ovvun.. oo $(6,781) $4,585  $(17,797)
Foreign .. ... 994 2,002 603
TOtAl . oo $(5,787) $6,587 $(17,194)

The cumulative amount of undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which is intended to be
permanently reinvested and for which U.S. income taxes have not been provided, totaled approximately $4.6
million at December 31, 2003.
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Deferred tax assets (liabilities) consist of the folowing in thousands)r  ——- -~ -—-————— "~ =~

: T Decemberdt,

2003 2002
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwards ........... .. ... . oo i $68,157 § 33,212
Federal and state credit carryforwards. .......... . ... ... .. oL 7,740 4,903
Capitalized start-up and development costs ............ ... .....cc.... 5,743 1,062
Accrued expense and other reserves ............viviien ... 7,044 3,600
Deferred revenue . ... ... .. . 3,534 558
Deferred compensation . ........ .. 3,640 —
Depreciation . ... ... it e 2,759 2,210
Ot . 155 8
Gross deferred tax assetS. .. ... vttt 98,772 45,553
Deferred tax liabilities
Acquired intangibles ........ .. (3,050) (4,538)
Valuation allowance . .......... . i (96,986)  (41,015)
Net deferred tax liabilities ........... ... oiiiriiiimueiinnn.. . $(1,264) $ —

The increase in ScanSoft’s net deferred tax assets to $97 million from $41 million as of December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively, primarily related to the acquisition of SpeechWorks. ’

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company provided a full valuation allowance for its net deferred tax
assets in the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions due to the uncertainty of realization of those assets
as a result of the recurring and cumulative losses from operations.

The Company monitors the realization of its deferred tax assets based on changes in circumstances, for
example, recurring periods of income for tax purposes following historical periods of cumulative losses or
changes in tax laws or regulations. Our income tax provisions and our assessment of the realizability of our
deferred tax assets involve significant judgments and estimates. If we continue to generate taxable income
through profitable operations in future years we may be required to recognize these deferred tax assets through
the reduction of the valuation allowance which would result in a material benefit to our results of operations in
the period in which the benefit is determined, excluding the recognition of the portion of the valuation
allowance which relates to net deferred tax assets acquired in a business combination:
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A reconciliation of the Company’s effective tax rate to the statutory federal rate is as follows:
) Year Ended December 31,

) 2003 2002 2001
Federal statutory tax rate . .. .................oounneeeennnonnn.. (35.0)% 340 % .(34.0)%
Nondeductible amortization and in-process research and dévelopment 00% 00% 200 %
FOTEIgN TAXES . . .o\ o ottt et e et 49% 66 % (0.4)%
State tax, net of federal benefit....... ... ... ... ... L 5% 31 % (4%
Other © .ot 03% (2% 23%
Change in valuation allowance ............... .. ... ... . ... L. 776 % (17.4)% - 16.5 %
- Federal research and development credits :....................... (10.5)% (6.5)% (1.8)%
Federal benefit — refundable taXes .. .............oeeeiveinnn... (26.5)% (13.71)% —

(4.6)% 39 % (1.8)%

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $168.3 million and $82.5 million, respectively, of which approximately $18.2 million and $9.1
million, respectively, relate to tax deductions from stock compensation. The tax benefit related to the stock
compensation, when realized, will be accounted for as additional paid-in capital rather than as a reduction of
the provision for income tax. At December 31, 2003 the Company had federal and state research and
development credit carryforwards of approximately $5.5 million and $3.4 million respectively. At Decem-
ber 31, 2002, the Company had federal and state research and development credit carryforwards of
approximately $3.4 million and $2.3 million, respectively. The net operating loss and credit carryforwards will
expire at various dates through 2023, if not utilized.

Utilization of the net operating losses and credits are subject to an annual 11m1tat10n due to the ownership
~ change limitations provided by theé Tntériial Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provisions. The-annual
hm1tat1on will result in the expiration of certain net operating losses and credits: before utilization.

21. Acquisition of LocusDialog, Inc.

On December 19, 2003, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of LocusDialog, a leader in
speech-enabled, auto-attendant applications, based in Montreal, Canada. LocusDialog’s call routing and auto-
attendant solutions are used by nearly 1,000 installations worldwide, handling approximately 500 million calls
annually.

The acqulsltlon of LocusDialog enhances the Company’s competitive position in key markets, specifically
the auto-attendant market. In addition, it enhances the distribution channel adding new reference accounts for
both customer relationships and technology partners. These incremental 1ntang1ble beneﬁts attnbuted to
excess purchase consideration resulting in goodwill.

The results of operations of the acquired business have been 1nc1uded in the financial statements of the
Company since the date of acquisition. ' . -

Consideration for the transaction comprlsed 2,328,638 shares of common stock at a per share value of
$5.31 (the average closing price of ScanSoft common stock for a total of five days immediately prior to and
subsequent to the announcement of the acquisition), having a value of $12.4 million, and transaction costs of
$0.7 million.
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The purchase price allecation is as follows (in thousands):

Total purchase consideration:

Common stock 18sued . . .. ..o e e $12,370
Transaction COSES. ... ovvtttit ittt . o 660
Total purchase consideration .................. R TR $13,030

Allocation of the purchase consideration: 4
CUITENE B85BYS oot ettt et $ 2,417

Property and equipment .. . ... e 420

Identifiable intangible assets ... ... . 2,850

Goodwill . .o e 9,357
Total assets acquired. . ......... .. ... 15,044

Accounts payable ... (157)

Accrued Labilities . . . ..o v it e (1,338)

Deferred revenue . ... ..ot (519)

“Total liabilities assumed: ......... ... . ... ... o... S (2,014)
| | $13,030

Current assets acquired primarily relate to cash and accounts receivable. Current liabilities assumed
primarily relate to accounts payable, accrued expenses and deferred revenue. Current assets include
approximately $0.8 million in research and development tax credits receivable from the Canadian government.
Under the purchase: agreement up to $1.0 million of research and development tax credits expected to be
received by the Company will be repaid to the former shareholders of Locus. Any amounts in excess of
$1.0 million will be retained by the Company, and be treated as a reduction of goodwill. The estimated fair
value of the receivable at the date of acquisition of $0.8 million is included in current assets with a
corresponding liability in accrued liabilities.

The following are the identifiablé intangible assets acquired and the respective periods over which the
assets will be amortized on a straight-line basis:

Amortization
Amount Period

(In Thousands) (In Years)
Patents and core technology ............ FE o $ 220 5
Completed technology ............... P P RN 300 10
Customer relationships .......... ... . i 2,330 5
' $2,850 5.5

The amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets acquired was based on their respective fair values
determined as of the acquisition date. The Company did not attribute any value to “in-process research and
_ development” projects in connection with this ‘acquisition. The Company believes that these identified
intangible assets have no residual value. The excess of the purchase price over the tangible and identifiable
intangible assets was recorded as goodwill and amounted to approximately $9.4 million. In accordance with
current accounting standards, the goodwill is not being amortized and will be tested for impairment as required
by SFAS No. 142. All goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets are not deductible for tax purposes.
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22. Acquisition of SpeechWorks International, Inc.

On August 11, 2003, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of SpeechWorks International,
Inc. (“SpeechWorks”), a leading provider of software products and professional services that enable
enterprises, carriers and government organizations to offer automated, speech-activated services over any
telephone.

The acquisition of SpeechWorks enhances the ability of the Company to promote its products and
comprehensively address the needs of the system integrators in telephony markets. The addition of
SpeechWorks’ professional services organization will enable the Company to support major accounts, channel
partners and telecommunications firms, as well as provide the ability to deliver complete solutions. In addition,
the acquisition enhances the Company’s strengths in key vertical markets, including muitiple deployments in
travel/hospitality, financial services and government, thereby expanding the Company’s market share in these
key markets and expertise in developing applications and solutions for these industries. These incremental
intangible benefits, which are reflected in the purchase consideration, resulted in goodwill.

The results of operations of the acquired business have been included in the financial statements of the
Company since the date of acquisition.

In connection with the acquisition of SpeechWorks, ScanSoft exchanged 0.860 of a share of its common
stock for each outstanding share of SpeechWorks stock. This transaction resulted in the issuance of
approximately 32.5 million shares of ScanSoft common stock, representing approximately 33% of the
outstanding common stock of ScanSoft after the completion of the acquisition. The SpeechWorks purchase
price of $175.5 million includes the value of the ScanSoft common stock issued at a per share value of $5.26
(the average closing price of ScanSoft common stock for a total of five days immediately prior to and
subsequent to the announcement of the acquisition) and transaction costs of $4.5 million. Included in the
transaction costs is a warrant, valued at $0.2 million, for the purchase of 150,000 shares of ScanSoft’s common
stock (Note 12). In addition, the purchase price also includes the value of 184,850 shares of restricted
ScanSoft common stock issued by ScanSoft, in replacement of previously outstanding SpeechWorks unvested
restricted common stock, of $0.7 million based on the closing price of ScanSoft common stock on the
acquisition date. The value of the unvested restricted common stock has been recorded as deferred
compensation (Note 13).
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The preliminary purchase price allocation is as follows (in thousands):

Total purchase consideration: :
Common stock and restricted stock issued . ... ... ... ... . . e $170,950

TTansSaCTION COSES . . oo\ttt e e e e 4,500
Total purchase consideration . ............ .. ittt $175,450

Preliminary allocation of the purchase consideration:
Assets acquired:

Cash . . $ 39,953
Marketable SECUTTHIES .. ... vt e SR 553
Accounts receivable . ... ... e . 9,952
Other current assets ..., S 938
Property and equipment .. ... .. 2,840
Other long term asSets ... .. .. it 808
Identifiable intangible assets ............ ... ... i e 13,310
Goodwill........ T 142,004
Total assets acquired. ................... P 210,358
Deferred compensation for unvested restricted common stock .................. 724
Liabilities assumed: '
Accounts payable ... ... (1,610)
ACCTUCH EXPEIISES -« - o oottt e ettt e e e e e e e (9,817)
Deferred revenUE . . o\ vttt e e e (6,135)
Other long term liabilities ....... ... . .. . (16,530)
Note payable . . ... (1,540)
Total liabilities assumed: ........................ A (34,908)
5175450

In December 2002, SpeechWorks committed to a restructuring plan to vacate two office locations during
2003. In connection with this restructuring plan, SpeechWorks recorded a charge of $5.9 million. As of the
acquisition date, the balance of this accrual was $5.4 million, which has been included in other long-term
liabilities. The Company reduced the recorded accrual by $1.0 million to record such obligation at its net
present value, using a discount rate of 3%. The $1.0 million difference between the lease obligations and the
recorded accrual will be recognized as incremental rent expense over the remaining life of the lease. These
assumed leases extend through 2010 and 2016, respectively, unless the Company is able to negotiate earlier
termination dates. The Company anticipates that the facilities-related accrual will be expended equally over
the remaining life of the leases.

In connection with the acquisition of SpeechWorks, the Company assumed all its lease obligations.
Among these obligations are lease payments extending through September 2004 related to the former
corporate offices of SpeechWorks, as well as, liabilities associated with office space which will become
available beginning in January 2005. During the quarter ended December 31, 2003, the Company completed
its review of all of the assumed leases. Based on the provisions of the lease agreements and management’s
expectations for post-acquisition operations, the Company determined that the total fair value of the assumed
liabilities related to leases for which there will be no future benefit amounted to $12.9 million, which resulted
in an adjustment to accrued liabilities and other long term liabilities assumed in the acquisition of $0.9 million
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and $12.0 million, respectively. A corresponding adjustment to- goodwﬂl of $12.9 million has been reflected in
the table above. o

The fair value of the future lease obligations includes an estimate of expected future sublease income in
accordance with the provisions of EITF 95-3 Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase
Business Combination. In accordance with EITF 95-3, if the actual lease obligation is less than the estimated
lease obligation, due to the amount or timing of actual lease payments or sublease rental receipts, the
difference will be recorded as an adjustment to the purchase price, resulting in an adjustment to goodwill. If
the actual lease obligation exceeds the estimated lease obligation recorded and such amount is determined
beyond one year after the acquisition date, the difference will be recorded as an adjustment to net
income (loss).

" The purchase price allocation is final except for continuing analysis of litigation against SpeechWorks
- that arose prior to the acquisition date (Note 16).

In connectlon with the SpeechWorks acquisition, the Company eliminated 54 former employees of
SpeechWorks In_connection with this action, a liability of $1.3 million, representing severance and related
benefits, has been included in the purchase price allocation. As of December 31, 2003, the remaining
restructuring accrual related to SpeechWorks acquisition amounted to $0.1 m11110n all of which will be paid
during fiscal 2004.

The following are the identifiable intangible assets acquired and the respective periods over which the
assets will be amortized on a straight-line basis:

Amortization
Amount Period
(In Thousands) (In Years)

Patents and core technology . ... ... .o o $ 1,300 10

Completed technology .. ...t e . 2,200 3

Customer relationships . ..... ... ... . i 9,000

Trade names and trademarks ........ .. ... .. ... ... .. ... 800 5

Non-compete agreements .......... e e 10 1
$13,310 6.5

The amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets acquired was based on their respective fair values
determined as of the acquisition date. The Company did not attribute any value to “in-process research and
development” projects in connection with this acquisition. The Company believes that these identified
intangible assets have no residual value. The excess of the purchase price over the tangible and identifiable
intangible assets was recorded as goodwill and amounted to approximately $142.0 million. In accordance with
current accounting standards, the goodwill is not being amortized and will be tested for impairment as required
by SFAS No. 142. All goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets are not deductible for tax purposes.

23. Acquisition of Philips Speech Processing Telephony and Voice Control Business

On January 30, 2003, the Company completed the acquisition of the Philips Speech Processing
Telephony and Voice Control business units of Royal Philips Electronics N.V. (“Philips”), and related
intellectual property. The Telephony business unit offers speech-enabled services including directory assis-
tance, interactive voice response and voice portal applications for enterprise customers, telephony vendors and
carriers. The Voice Control business unit offers a product portfolio including small footprint speech
recognition engines for embedded applications such as voice-controlled climate, navigation and entertainment
features in automotive vehicles, as well as voice dialing for mobile phones.
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The acquisition of the Philips Speech Processing Telephony and Voice Control business enhances the
Company’s market share in key markets and gives the Company additional competitive momentum in its
target markets, specifically the telephony, automotive and embedded markets. In addition, it enhances the
distribution channel adding new reference accounts for both customer relationships and technology partners.
These incremental intangible benefits atiributed to excess purchase consideration resulting 1n‘goodw111

The results of operations of the acquired business have been included in the financial statements of the
Company since the date of acqmsmon

Consideration for the acquisition, before any purchase price adjustment determined by the parties as
described below, totaled $39.5 million, including transaction costs of $2.1 million. The consideration consisted
of 3.1 million euros ($3.4 million) in cash paid at closing, subject to adjustment in accordance with the
provisions of the purchase agreement, as amended; a deferred payment of 1.0 million euros in cash due no
later than December 31, 2003, a 5.0 million euro note due December 31, 2003; bearing 5.0% interest per
annum; and a $27.5 million three-year, zero-interest subordinated: debenture, convertible at any time at
Philips’ option into shares of common stock at $6.00 per share. The fair value of the convertible debenture was
determined to be $27.5 million based on the present value of the expected cash outflows using an incremental
borrowing rate of 12% and the fair value of the conversion feature based on the Black-Scholes option pricing
model using the following assumptions: the fair value of the Company’s common stock of $3.62 per share, the
closing price of the Company’s common stock on the day the parties entered into the acquisition agreement;
volatility of 100%; risk-free interest rate of 2.16%; no dividends and an expected term of 3 years.’

The purchase price was subject to adjustment based on calculations set forth in the purchase agreement,
as amended, which required agreement by the parties. In accordance with the provisions of the agreement, the
Company and Philips agreed during the fourth quarter of 2003 to a final purchase price, adjustment of
approximately $4.1 million, resulting in a corresponding reduction in goodwill. The Company received
$1.1 million of the purchase price adjustment prior to December 31, 2003, The remaining $3.0 million
(2.5 million euros), recorded in other current assets at December 31, 2003, was received on January 35, 2004.

The final purchase price allocation reflecting the above noted adjustments. is as follows (in thousands):

Total purchase consideration:

a8t § (760)
Other current liability (1.0 million euro payable) .....................c...o... : 1,080
Note payable . ................. P e L 5,410
Convertible debenture. ................... e 27,520
Transaction costs................. U e S 2,100 ,
Total purchase consideration .......................... e $35,350

Allocation of the purchase consideration:

CUITENt ASSEES . . ittt ettt e e e e e .. $3930

Property and equipment . ... ... . 310

Identifiable intangible assets ............. .. .. ..o 5,650

GoodwWill . .o P " 28,846

Total assets acquired. .. ......... ... .. ... ........ B e . 38,736
Current liabilities assumed. .. ... ... . . - (3,386)
o ©$35,350
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. .Current assets acquired primarily relate to accounts receivable, and current liabilities assumed primarily
relate to accounts payable and assumed contractual liabilities related to development work with customers
which were agreed to prior to the acquisition date. <

The following are the ideh}\iﬁable intangible assets acquired and the respective periods over which the
assets will be amortized on a straight-line basis:

Amortization
Amount Period
{In Thousands) (In Years)

Patents and éore technology .. .. ... i $3,990 10

~ Completed technology . ... ... o 460 5.5
Customer relationships ........ ... i 1,030 1.8
Trade names and trademarks ........ ... ... .. .. ... . .. 170 5
$5,650 9.3

- The amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets acquired was based on their respective fair values
deterniined as of the acquisition date. The Company did not attribute any value to “in-process research and
development” projects in connection with this acquisition. The Company believes that these identified
intangible assets have no residual value. The excess of the purchase price over the tangible and identifiable
intangible assets was recorded as goodwill and amounted to approximately $28.8 million. In accordance with
current accounting standards, the goodwill is not being amortized and will be tested for impairment as required
by SFAS No. 142. All goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets are deductible for tax purposes.

24. Acquisition of Audiomining

On February 22, 2002, the Company entered into a definitive asset purchase agreement (the “Purchase
Agreement”) to acquire certain assets and intéllectual property from L&H Holdings USA, Inc. The
transaction was completed on March 21, 2002. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company acquired
patents and core technology associated with the Audiomining assets of the speech and language technology
assets of L&H and paid $1.5 million in total consideration to L&H as follows: $0.5 million in cash, 121,359
shares:of the Company’s common stock valued at $0.6 million (based on the average of the closing share price
of the Company’s stock five days before and after the date the transaction was completed) and a 9%
promissory note in the principal amount of $0.4 million (the “Note”), with principal and interest to be repaid

in full on July 31, 2002. The Company incurred $0.2 million of acquisition related costs. The purchase price
including acquisition costs of $1.7 million was allocated to core technology.

On July 31, 2002, the Company repald all amounts due under the Note, which included principal and
interest of $0.4 million.

The following table 1dent1ﬁes the intangible assets vaUIer in connection with Audiomining and their
respective lives:

Amount Life
(In Thousands) (In Years)
Core (8ChNOlOZY .\ v $1,674 35
$1,674

25. Acquisition of L’erpdut & Hauspie (L&H) Speech Products N.V. Assets:

On December 7, 2001, the Company entered into a definitive asset purchase agreement (the “Purchase
Agreement”) to acquire certain assets and intellectual property relating to the former L&H entities that were
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in bankruptcy under the jurisdiction of both the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware and the
Commercial Court of Ieper, Belgium. The Company purchased these assets in a closed auction proceeding

administered by the creditors committee of the former entities -and approved-by both the U.S."and Belgiiin
courts-on- December-11,-2001. The-transaction was completed on December 12, 2001 and the Company’s

results from operations include L&H activities since that date. The acquisition was accounted for as the
acquisition of a business. :

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company acquired patents, trademarks, tradenames, product
and customer contracts associated with certain of the speech and language technology assets of L&H. In
addition, the Company obtained rights to accounts receivable related to the customer contracts acquired and
fixed assets. The Company also hired 223 employees from L&H. The Company paid $41.3 million in total
consideration to the creditors as follows: $10.0 million in cash, 7.4 million shares of the Company’s common
stock valued at $27.8 million (based on the average of the closing share price of our stock 3 days before and
after the proposed acquisition was announced) and a 9% promissory note in the principal amount of
$3.5 million, to be repaid in installments of $0.1 million of principal and interest quarterly commencing on
March 15, 2002, for a total of eleven payments. All remaining principal and interest would become due on
December 15, 2004 (Note 10). The Company incurred approximately $1.0 million of acquisition related costs.

The purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired’ (patents and core
technology and trade names and trademarks) and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair market
values. The total identifiable-tangible assets amounted to $21.0 million. The excess of the purchase price over
the fair value of the identifiable intangible assets and net liabilities assumed amounted to $23.0 million and
was allocated to goodwill. The Company believes that the acquisition resulted in an excess of the purchase
price over the fair value of the net assets acquired because the Company purchased, in an auction as a result of
L&H’s bankruptcy status, a substantial portfolio of patents and core technology in speech and language
technology which were internally developed or acquired by L&H over the course of several years. Further-
more, the acquisition enabled the Company to enter the speech and language market immediately upon
completion of the acquisition. All goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets are deductible for tax
purposes. The purchase price including acquisition costs was allocated as follows (in thousands):

Identified intangible ASSEtS . ... ..ottt e i $20,970

GoodWill. . . 23,031

Net current labilities assumed .. ... ... ... . ... (1,701)
' $42,300

Net current liabilities assumed primarily relate to accounts receivable and assumed liabilities for products
which were sold prior to the acquisition date and which were expected to be upgraded with newer versions in
2002 and liabilities for development contracts with customers. During 2002, the Company entered into
favorable settlement agreements related to these liabilities resulting in a reduction of $2.2 million of the
assumed liabilities recorded at the date of acquisition with a corresponding reduction recorded to the carrying
value of goodwill.

The following table identifies the intangible assets acquired and their respective lives over which the
assets will be amortized on a straight-line basis:

Amount Life
(In Thousands) (In Years)
Patents and core technology .............. . ... ... i $17,870 10
Trade names and trademarks. . ... .. i 3,100 12
| ' $20,970
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OEM contracts and customer relationships, as well as completed technology, were determined to have de
minimus values and, accordingly, no amount of the purchase price was allocated to these intangible assets.

26. Prd Forma Results (Unaudited)

The following table reflects unaudited pro forma results of operations of the Company assuming that the
Philips, SpeechWorks and LocusDialog acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2002 (in thousands, except
per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002
ROVeMUES . oo et e e $162,907 $161,048
Nt 1088 oottt e e e $(38,099) $(59,138)
Net loss per basic and dituted share ...................cooieveo.... $ (0.38) $§ (0.62)

The unaudited pro forma results of operations are not necessarily indicative of the actual results that
would have occurred had the transactions actually taken place at the beginning of these periods.

27. Related Parties

At December 31, 2003, Xerox owned approximately 15% of the Company’s outstanding common stock
and all of the Company’s outstanding Series B Preferred Stock. In addition, Xerox has the opportunity to
acquire additional shares of common stock pursuant to a warrant (Note 12). The Company and Xerox have
entered into multiple non-exclusive agreements in which the Company grants Xerox the royalty-bearing right
to copy and distribute certain versions of the Company’s software programs with Xerox’s multi-function
peripherals. Xerox accounted for 5%, 5% and 11% of total net revenues during each of the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, Xerox owed the
Company $1.9 million and $1.5 million, respectively, pursuant to these agreements, which are included in
receivables from related parties.

In connection with the Caere acquisition in the first quarter of 2000 and pursnant to a concurrent non-
competition and consulting agreement, the Company agreed to pay in cash to the former Caere President and
CEO, a current member of the Board of Directors of the Company, on the second anniversary of the merger,
March 13, 2002, the difference between $13.50 and the closing price per share of ScanSoft common stock at
that time, multiplied by 486,548. On March 5, 2002, the Company negotiated a deferred payment agreement
with the former Caere President and CEO to terminate this agreement. Under the terms of the deferred
payment agreement, the Company paid $1.0 million in cash on March 5, 2002 and agreed to make future cash
payments totaling $3.3 million, with such amounts payable in equal quarterly installments of approximately
$0.4 million over the following two years. During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company paid four
quarterly installments under this agreement totaling $1.6 million.

The total consideration of this agreement was accounted for in the original Caere purchase price and had
no effect on the results of operations. The remaining liability at December 31, 2003 is $0.4 million, which is
included in other current liabilities.

At December 31, 2003, a member of the Company’s Board of Directors, and a former member of the
SpeechWorks Board of Directors, is a sentor executive at Convergys Corporation. The Company and
Convergys have entered into multiple non-exclusive agreements in which Convergys resells the Company’s
software. During the year ended December 31, 2003, Convergys accounted for approximately $0.3 million in
total net revenues. As of December 31, 2003, Convergys owed the Company $0.2 million, pursuant to these
agreements, which are included in receivables from related parties.
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28. Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The following information has been derived from unaudited consolidated financial statements that, in the
opinion of management, include all recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of such
information.

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

2003

Totalrevenue..........ooviiiinvinn.n. $27,836  $27,743  $32,950  $46,870 $135,399
Net income (108S) ..o ... $ (174) $(2,943) $(3,731) $ 1,330 $ (5,518)
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic............. .. ..., e $ (0.00) $ (0.04) $ (0.04) $ 0.01 $ (0.07) .-

Dilated . .............. A e $ (0.00) $ (0.04) $ (0.04) $ 0.01 $ (0.07)
Weighted average common shares outstanding '

Basic........... 67,689 65,821 83,694 103,072 78,398

Diluted ... 67,689 65,821 - 83,694 = 114,648 78,398
2002

Total TEVENUE . . . ottt $23,765  $26,184  $28,235  $28,435 $106,619
Net income (loss) ........ ..., $(2,882) $ 1,950 § 2,825 § 4,440 $ 6,333
Net income (loss) per share: '

BasiC . . $(005) $ 003 $ 004 § 007 $ 009

Diluted . .. .. e e $ (005 $ 003 §$ 004 $ 006 $ 009
Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic.........o.o i 62,304 67,595 67,865 66,709 67,010

Diluted . ......... . 62,304 76,677 74,787 73,850 72,796
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ON
- FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Board of Directors
of ScanSoft, Inc.:

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated February 26, 2004,
appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of ScanSoft, Inc. also included an audit of the financial
statement schedule listed in Item 15(a)(2) of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial statement
schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction
with the related consolidated financial statements. ‘

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 26, 2004
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SCHEDULE

VALUATION AND 'Q'UALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
(In thousands)

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2003 - 2002 2001
Balance at beginning of year.......... .. $5903 0 $6,273 '$ 1375
Additions charged to costs and expenses.............. U 898 200 186
Additions charged to other accounts ...................... 3,309(a) (73)(a)  (1,185)(a)
Net additions (deductions and write-offs) ............... . 90 (497) (103)
Balance atendof yvear.............. ... ..., $10,200 $5,903 $ 6273

(a) Net increase (decrease) in amounts recorded against revenue as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. -

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure -

None.

Item 94. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Qur management, with the participation of our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this
report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that,
except as provided below, our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
report were effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. We believe that a control system, no
matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected.

{b) Changes in internal controls. There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during the period covered by this report that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting,
except as described below. Subsequent to the end of the third quarter of 2003, we adopted additional controls
and procedures related to accounting for income taxes associated with acquisitions including involvement of
our tax personnel in the financial reporting process.

In connection with their audit of ocur 2003 consolidated financial statements, PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP (“PwC”), our independent auditors, advised in a management letter to management and our Audit
Committee of four conditions that could adversely affect our ability to initiate, record, process and report
financial data consistent with management’s assertions. These conditions include, in summary: (i) our
significant accounting transactions, including related judgments and estimates, may not be supported by a
sufficiently formal process or sufficiently comprehensive documentation; and (ii) we had insufficiently
documented our estimate of returns from second-tier resellers. In addition, we have earlier in this document
discussed the other two conditions raised by PwC (see page 37).

In the third quarter of 2003, we commenced the planning and worldwide implementation of the Oracle e-
Business suite, which we anticipate completing by the end of fiscal year 2004. Simultaneously with the Oracle
implementation, we commenced our Section 404 (Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) compliance efforts. In
conjunction with these efforts, we initiated the design, development and implementation of processes and
controls that we believe, will address the conditions raised in PwC’s management letter. We currently expect
these efforts to extend into the second half of fiscal 2004. To the knowledge of our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report.

90




PART I

Certdin information required by Part 111 is omitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K since we
intend to file our definitive Proxy Statement for our next Annual Meeting of Stockholders, pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Proxy Statement”)}, no later than
April 29, 2004, and certain information to be included in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by
reference. T '

Item 10. Dirvectors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this item concerning our directors is incorporated by reference to the
information set forth in the section titled “Election of Directors” in our Proxy Statement. Information
required by this item concerning our executive officers is incorporated by reference to the information set forth
in the section entitled “Executive Compensation, Management and Other Information” in our Proxy
Statement. Information regarding Section 16 reporting compliance is incorporated by reference to the
information set forth in the section entitled “Section 16{a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in
our Proxy Statement. :

Our Board of Directors adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for all of our directors, officers
and employees on February 24, 2004. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics can be found at our website:
www.scansoft.com. We will provide to any person without charge, upon request, a copy of our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics. Such a request should be made in writing and addressed to Investor Relations,
ScanSoft, Inc., 9 Centennial Drive, Peabody, MA 01960. Further, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is
filed as an Exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

To date, there have been no waivers under our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. We will post any
waivers, if and when granted, of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics on our website at
http:/ /www.scansoft.com.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item regarding executive compensation is incorporated by reference to
the information set forth in the sections titled “Executive Compensation, Management and Other Informa-
tion” in our Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholders
Matrers

The information required by this item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and
management is incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the sections titled “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plans” in our Proxy
Statement.

[tem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this item regarding certain relationships and related transactions is
incorporated by reference to the information set forth in the section titled “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” in our Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this section is incorporated by reference from the information in the section
entitled “Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditors” in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this Report:
(1) Financial Statements — See Index to Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Report.
(2). Financial Statement Schedule — The following report and financial stafement schedule for

fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001 is contained in Item 8 of this Report:

Report of Independent Auditors on Financial Statement Schedule

II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

All other schedules have been omitted as the requested information is inapplicable or the
information is presented in the financial statements or related notes included as part of this Report.

(3) Exhibits -See Item 15(c) of this Report below.
(b) Reports on Form §-K.

The following current reports on Form 8-K were filed during the fourth quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2003:

(1) On October 16, 2003, ScanSoft filed an amendment to Form 8-K, filed on August 22, 2003, to
include under Item 7 certain financial statements and pro forma financial information, relating to the
acquisition of SpeechWorks International, Inc.
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(c) Exhibits.

Exhibit -
Number

2.1(1)

2.2(2)

2.3(3)

2.4(20)
2.5(22)
2.6(22)
2.7(23)
3.1(4)
3.2

4.1(6)
4.2(7)

4.3(1)
4.4(1)

4.5(19)
a6
4.7(19)

10.1(3)
10.2(8)**
10.3(9)

10.4(9)

10.5(10)

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated December 2, 1998, between Visioneer, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, and the Registrant.

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated January 15, 2000, by and among the Registrant,
Scorpion Acquisitions Corporation, a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Registrant, and Caere Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2001, by and among the Registrant and

Lernout & Hauspie Speech Products N.V., a corporation organized and existing under the laws
of the Kingdom of Belgium, L&H Holdings USA, a Delaware corporatlon that is a wholly-

owned subsidiary of L&H, and certain other parties.

Purchase Agreement, dated October 7, 2002, between Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V.
and the Registrant.

Amendment No. ! to Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2002, between
Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V. and the Registrant.

Amendment No. 2 to Purchase Agreement, dated as of Jénuai‘y 29, 2003, between Koninklijke
Philips Electronics N.V. and the Registrant.

Agreement and Plan or Reorganization, dated April 23, 2003, by and among the Registrant,
Spiderman Acquisition Corporation and SpeechWorks International, Inc.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.
Specimen Common Stock Certificate.

Preferred Shares Rights Agreement, dated as of October 23, 1996, between the Registrant and
U.S. Stock Transfer Corporation, including the Certificate of Designation of Rights, Prefer-
ences and Privileges of Series A Participating Preferred Stock, the form of Rights Certificate
and Summary of Rights attached thereto as Exhibits A, B and C, respectively.

Common Stock Purchase Warrant.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 2, 1999, between the Registrant and Xerox
Corporation.

Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2001, between the Registrant and the
State of Wisconsi_n_ Investment Board, as amended. ,

Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 28, 2001, between the Registrant and Merrill
Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (Included in Exhibit 10.23 below).

Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2002, between the Registrant and SF Capi‘tal
Partners Ltd.

Form of Indemnification Agreement.
1995 Directors’ Stock Option Plan, as amended.

LZW Paper Input System Patent License Agreement, dated October 20, 1995, between the
Registrant and Unisys Corporation.

Patent Licénse agreement, dated November 13, 1995, between the Reglstrant and Wang
Laboratories, Inc.

Software Distribution Agreement, dated April 26, 1995, between Xerox Imaging Systems, Inc.
and Tech Data Corporation.
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Exhibit
Number

10.6(10)

10.7(21)
10.8(17)
10.9(17)

10.10(L1)**
10.11(12)**

10.12(13)
10.13(18)
10.14(14)

10.15(19)**
10.16(19)**
10.17(19)**
10.18(15) **
10.19(8)**
10.20(19)

10.21(19)
10.22(16)

10.23(21)**
10.24(21)**

10.25(21)
10.26(22)

10.27(22)
10.28(22)
10.29(22)

10.30(24) **
10.31(25)**

Description

Assignment, Assumption, Renewal and Modification Agreement, dated June 18, 1997,
between Xerox Imaging Systems, Inc., the Registrant and Tech Data Product Management,
Inc.

Distribution Agreement, dated September 22, 1993, between Ingram Micro, Inc. and Xerox

_ Imaging Systems, Inc., as amended.

Gold Disk Bundling Agreement: Pagis SE & Pagis Pro, dated June 29, 1998, between Xerox
Corporation, through its Channels Group, and the Registrant, as amended.

Gold Disk Bundling Agreement, dated March 25, 1998, between Xerox Corporation, Office
Document Products Group and the Registrant.

Caere Corporation 1992 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan.

Stand Alone Stock Option Agreement Number 1, dated as of Auguét 21, 2000, 'by and between
the Registrant and Paul A. Ricci.

Lease Agreement, dated December 18, 2000, by and between James M. Salar, as trustee of the
JMS Realty Trust, and the Registrant.

Gold Disk Bundling Agreement, dated as of September 30, 1999, as amended by Amendment
Number 1, dated as of January 1, 2000, between the Registrant and Xerox Corporation.

‘Termination Agreement, dated March 5, 2002, by and between the Registrant and Robert

Teresi.

1993 Incentive Stock Option Plan, as amended.

1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as- amended and restated on April 27, 2000.
1997 Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended.

1998 Stock Option Plan.

2000 Stock Option Plan.

Settlement and Release Agreement, dated as of November 12, 2001 between the Registrant
and Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.

Settlement and Termination Agreement, dated as of December 28, 2001, between the
Registrant and Mernll Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated. '

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2002, between the Registrant and
Silicon Valley Bank. .

Vesting Agreement, dated June 24, 1999, between the Registrant and Wayne Crandall.

Letter, dated July 7, 2000, from the Reglstrant to Ben Wittner regarding certain employment
matters.

Letter of Intent, dated March 20, 2002, between the Reg1strant and Digital River, Inc.

Technology Transfer and License Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2003, between Konin-
klijke Philips Electronics N.V. and the Registrant.

Promissory Note, dated January 30, 2003, between Komnkluke Ph111ps Electronics N.V. and
the Registrant.

Zero Coupon Convertible Subordinated Note, dated January 30, 2003, between Koninklijke
Philips Electronics N.V. and the Registrant.

Plan of Distribution Agreement,; dated January 30, 2003, between Komnkhjke Philips Elec-
tronics N.V. and the Registrant.

2000- NonStatutory Stock Option Plan, as amended.

Letter, dated February 17, 2003, from the Registrant to Jeanne McCann regarding certain
employment matters.
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Exhibit
Number ’ Description

10.32(25)** Letter, dated September 26, 2002, from the Registrant to Robert J. Weideman regarding
: certain employment matters.

10.33(25)** Amendment No. 1, dated April 28, 2003, to Employment Agreement, dated August 21, 2000,
by and between the Registrant and Michael K. Tivnan.
10.34(25) Reseller Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2003, by and between the Registrant and
) International Business Machines.
10.35(23)** Employment Agreement, dated April 23, 2003, by and beétween the Registrant and Stuart R.
Patterson.
10.36(25) Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2002, as amended on May 7, 2003,
between the Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank.
10.37(26) Loan Modification Agreement, effective as of June 30, 2003, between the Registrant and
. Silicon Valley Bank. ‘
10.38(27)** Employment Agreement, dated August 11, 2003, by and between the Registrant and Paul A.
Ricei. :
10.39(27)** Letter, dated May 23, 2003, from the Registrant to David A. Gerth regarding certain
employment matters.

14.1 ScanSoft Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.

211 Subsidiaries of the Registrant. v

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

24.1 Power of Attorney. (See Signature Page)

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a).
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a).
321 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. ‘

** Denotes Management compensatory plan or arrangement.

(1) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-70603)
filed with the Commission on January 14, 1999.

(2) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-96487)
filed with the Commission on February 9, 2000.

(3) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission
on December 27, 2001.

(4) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended March 31, 2001, filed with the Commission on May 11, 2001.

(5) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-98356)
filed with the Commission on October 19, 1995.

(6) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Amendment No. I to Registration Statement of
Form 8-A (No. 0-27038) filed with the Commission on December 6, 1995.

(7) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s current Report on Form 8-K dated October 31, 1996.

(8) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement, filed with the Commission
on April 30, 2002.

(%) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Amendment No. | to Registration Statement of
Form S-1 (No. 33-98356) filed with the Commission on November 15, 1995,

(10) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-X for the fiscal year ended
January 3, 1999, filed with the Commission on April 5, 1999.

95

:'—




(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(13)

(16)

(17)

(18)

(19)

(20)

(21)

(22)

(23)

(24)

(25)

(26)

(27)

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-33464)
filed with the Commission on March 29, 2000.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-49656)
filed with the Commission on November 9, 2000.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2000, filed with the Commission on April 2, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission
on March 7, 2002.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-74343)
filed with the Commission on March 12, 1999.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2002, filed with the Commission on November 14, 2002.

Incorporated by refefence from the Registrant’s Amendment No. 2 to Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended January 3, 1999, filed with the Commission on February 8, 2000.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Amendment No. | to Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2000, filed with the Commission on August 8, 2001.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement of Form S-1 (No. 33-100647)
filed with the Commission on October 21, 2002.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement of
Form S-1 (No. 33-100647) filed with the Commission on December 6, 2002.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement of
Form S-1 (No. 33-100647) filed with the Commission on January 6, 2003.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Amendment No. 4 to Registration Statement of
Form S-1 (No. 33-100647) filed with the Commission on February 7, 2003.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Registration Statement of Form S-4 (No. 33-106184)
filed with the Commission on June 17, 2003.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002, filed with the Commission on March 28, 2003,

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended March 31, 2003, filed with the Commission on May 13, 2003.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended June 30, 2003, filed with the Commission on August 14, 2003.

Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended September 30, 2003, filed with the Commission on November 14, 2003.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

SCANSOFT, INC.

By: /s/ Paul A. Ricci

Paul A. Ricci
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

KNOW ALL THESE PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears
below constitutes and appoints Paul A. Ricci and David A. Gerth jointly and severally, his or her attorneys-in-
fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that
each said attorneys-in-fact, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K
has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: March 15, 2004 /s/ Paul A. Ricci

Paul A. Ricci, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
of the Board (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 15, 2004 /s/ Stuart R. Patterson
Stuart R. Patterson, President and Director

Date: March 15, 2004 /s/ David A. Gerth

David A. Gerth, Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Date: March 15, 2004 /s/ Gerald C. Kent, Jr.

Gerald C. Kent, Jr. Vice President, Chief
Accounting Officer and Controller (Principal
Accounting Officer)

Date: March 15, 2004 /s/ _Mark Myers
Mark Myers, Director

Date: March 15, 2004 /s/ Katharine A. Martin
Katharine A. Martin, Director

Date: March 15, 2004 /s/ Robert G. Teresi
Robert G. Teresi, Director

Date: March 15, 2004 /s/_ Robert J. Frankenberg
Robert J. Frankenberg, Director

Date: March 15, 2004 /s/ Robert Finch
Robert Finch, Director

Date: March 15, 2004 /s/ John C. Freker, Jr.
John C. Freker, Jr., Director
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